A Self-Accommodation Strategy for Students with Visual Impairments:

Author: Allison C. Nannemann

Persistent link: http://hdl.handle.net/2345/bc-ir:108379

This work is posted on eScholarship@BC, Boston College University Libraries.

Boston College Electronic Thesis or Dissertation, 2019

Copyright is held by the author, with all rights reserved, unless otherwise noted.

Boston College Lynch School of Education

Department of Teacher Education, Special Education, and Curriculum and Instruction

A SELF-ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY FOR STUDENTS WITH VISUAL IMPAIRMENTS

Dissertation by

ALLISON C. NANNEMANN

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2019

© Copyright by Allison C. Nannemann

Abstract

A Self-Accommodation Strategy for Students with Visual Impairments

Allison C. Nannemann

Dissertation Chair: Dr. David Scanlon

Classroom accommodations are a primary means of providing an appropriate education for students with disabilities. While there is value in student involvement in the accommodations process, the process continues to be teacher-driven, so we need to teach students to be strategic in selecting and utilizing their own accommodations. This problem holds true across disabilities, and students with visual impairments are no exception. The Student Self-Accommodation Strategy (SSA) was developed to support students with high-incidence disabilities in strategically selecting and utilizing their own accommodations. This study investigated SSA learning and performance for students with visual impairments and how learning the SSA impacted their classroom accommodation practices.

The learning experiences of four students with visual impairments were compared using comparative case studies (Cresswell, Plano Clark, Gutmann, & Hanson, 2003) within a sequential explanatory design (Hanson, Creswell, Plano Clark, Petska, & Creswell, 2008). Mixed methods data were collected before, during, and after strategy instruction pertaining to accommodations knowledge and practices, strategy learning and performance, metacognition and self-regulated learning, and student perceptions of the SSA.

Cross-case analysis revealed key findings regarding strategy instruction, strategy learning and performance, and metacognition and self-regulated learning. These key findings have implications for educating students with visual impairments and future research on the SSA. Ultimately, this study indicates that the SSA is a valuable tool for strategically selecting and utilizing accommodations; however, characteristics of individual students and their learning environments have a considerable impact on the development of strategic thinking.

Acknowledgements

As I prepared to write the Acknowledgements for my dissertation, the names of those who should be recognized came effortlessly to mind, while the words were far more elusive—they simply cannot capture the profound affect that each of you has had on my development as a scholar and a teacher. Please know that acknowledgement here only scratches the surface of my gratitude for the influence you have had on my life.

Dr. David Scanlon, thank you for opening up your work to me and for quickly making it feel like *our* work. I appreciate that you were willing to let me try my hand at anything and everything, always available for guidance, support, and encouragement. From day one, you treated me like the scholar you knew I would become, and I am delighted to pay that forward, very soon, to my own students.

Dr. Susan Bruce, thank you for your abundant faith in me. You gave me data and a course, that I know you worked hard for and took great pride in, because you were confident that I could be successful with them. I appreciate that you were always focused on the end-goal and helped me accomplish milestones along the way. Thank you, also, to Dr. Richard Jackson, Dr. Kristen Bottema-Beutel, Dr. Dennis Shirley, and Dr. Nathaniel Brown for offering advice, providing opportunities, encouraging my endeavors, and celebrating my accomplishments.

Thank you to the school, teachers, and students who participated in this dissertation. I appreciate that you found value in this work and were willing to invest your time and energy in it. It was my pleasure to work with you.

To my cohort, I have been grateful for you since before we were officially doctoral students, and that gratitude has grown exponentially over the last five years. Thank you for sharing your interests and expertise. Thank you for pushing me to consider new ideas and to strive for excellence. Thank you for always eating the treats that I stress-baked. And, thank you, most importantly, for your friendship. Juan Cristobal Garcia-Huidobro, thank you involving me in your endeavors. We balance one another nicely, and I learned much about collaboration from working with you. As much as I enjoyed working together, I am immensely grateful that I could share my faith and my

i

life with you. Chris Bacon, you are an exceptional cubby mate, collaborator, academician, and friend. Thank you for helping me embrace the fun parts of work and life. Caitlin Malloy, thank you for always matching my practical nature and for sharing in the chaos that stems from being both a doctoral student and a mom.

Finally, to my family, I am eternally blessed by you. Thank you to my parents for instilling a strong work ethic in me, for encouraging my independent and goal-oriented nature, and for expecting me to use my talents to serve others. Kate and Abby, thank you for appreciating the magnitude of this work even though you didn't understand the work itself. Also, thank you for your patience and your grace. David, you are my favorite blessing. You are selfless, kind, and intelligent. You keep me grounded, and you inspire me. Thank you for sharing in my dreams. I couldn't have accomplished any of this without you by my side.

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Visual Impairment	1
Educational Settings	4
Inclusion	6
Specialized Schools	7
Accommodations	
Self-Determination	
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	
Accommodations	
Student Involvement in the Accommodations Process	
The Student Self-Accommodation Strategy	
Metacognition	
Self-Regulated Learning	
Connecting to Special Education	
Purpose	
Chapter 3: Methods	
Participants	
Emily	
Evan	
Graham	
James	
Teachers	
Setting	
Data Sources and Analysis	
Cumulative Folder Review	
Observations	
Accommodation Knowledge and Skills Interviews	
Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory	
Activities List	
Preferred Accommodations List	
Accommodation Checklists	

Table of Contents

SSA Use Write-Ups	
Social Validity Survey	
Teacher Demographic Questionnaire	
Teacher Surveys	
Methodology	
Procedures	
Baseline	
Strategy Instruction	
Classroom Application and Ongoing Support	
Chapter 4: Findings	
Emily	
Accommodations Knowledge	
Strategy Learning and Performance	
Accommodation Practices	
Influencing Factors	
Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning	
Strategy Effectiveness	
Summary	
Evan	
Accommodations Knowledge	
Strategy Learning and Performance	
Accommodation Practices	
Influencing Factors	
Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning	
Strategy Effectiveness	
Summary	
Graham	
Accommodations Knowledge	
Strategy Learning and Performance	
Accommodation Practices	
Influencing Factors	
Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning	

	Strategy Effectiveness	
	Summary	
	James	114
	Accommodations Knowledge	114
	Strategy Learning and Performance	
	Accommodation Practices	120
	Influencing Factors	123
	Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning	127
	Strategy Effectiveness	
	Summary	
	Cross-Case Analysis	
	Participant Overview	
	Accommodations Knowledge	
	Strategy Learning and Performance	
	Accommodation Practices	
	Influencing Factors	
	Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning	
	Strategy Effectiveness	
Cl	hapter 5: Discussion	
	Accommodations	
	Self-Determination	
	Regulation	144
	Implications	
	Relevance	
	Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning	
	Accommodations	
	Limitations	
	Conclusion	
Re	ferences	
Ap	opendices	
	Student Consent Form	
	Parent Consent Form	

Teacher Consent Form	175
Cumulative Folder Review Form	177
Observation Protocol	178
Baseline Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview	179
Pretest and Week 4 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview	181
Week 1 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview	189
Week 2 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview	197
Week 3 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview	205
Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory	213
Accommodations Checklist Example	214
Accommodations Checklist with SSA Use Write-Up Example	215
Social Validity Survey	216
Teacher Demographic Information Form	218
Teacher Survey on Student Accommodation Practices	219

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of Participant Characteristics	44
Table 2. Teacher Characteristics	45
Table 3. Summary of Data Sources	47
Table 4. Summary of Study Procedures	57
Table 5. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, Emily	78
Table 6. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, Evan	95
Table 7. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, Graham	. 111
Table 8. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, James	. 128

List of Figures

Figure 1. The Student Accommodation Protocol	
Figure 2. Trace evidence of classroom application, Emily	
Figure 3. Tasks and accommodation needs, Emily	
Figure 4. Trace evidence of classroom application, Evan	
Figure 5. Tasks and accommodation needs, Evan	
Figure 6. No signals and accommodation needs, Evan	
Figure 7. Teacher provision and accommodation needs, Evan	
Figure 8. Trace evidence of classroom application, Graham	
Figure 9. Tasks and accommodation needs, Graham	
Figure 10. Teacher provision and accommodation needs, Graham	
Figure 11. Trace evidence of classroom application, James	
Figure 12. Tasks and accommodation needs, James	
Figure 13. No signals and accommodation needs, James	
Figure 14. Teacher provision and accommodation needs, James	

A Self-Accommodation Strategy for Students with Visual Impairments

Chapter 1: Introduction

Classroom accommodations are a primary means of providing an appropriate education. While there is value in student involvement in the accommodations process, the process continues to be teacher-driven, so we need to teach students to be strategic in selecting and utilizing their own accommodations. This problem holds true across disabilities, and students with visual impairments are no exception.

The current chapter will address the different aspects of this issue. It begins by presenting foundational information on visual impairments including types of impairments, definition of terms, prevalence, and the impact of visual impairments on learning. This is followed by discussions of educational settings and accommodations, broadly and as they pertain to students with visual impairments. Finally, a case is built for placing greater onus on students with visual impairments in the accommodations process as it relates to self-determination.

Visual Impairment

The term "visual impairment" refers to a collection of optical conditions of varying severity resulting in some degree of functional limitations (Spungin, 2002). An impairment can be attributed to reduced acuity and/or a restriction of the visual field (Corn & Lusk, 2010). Acuity describes the clarity of what is seen. It is typically documented as two numbers such as 20/100, which means that an individual with such acuity sees the same amount of detail when 20 feet away from an object as a person with typical vision would from a distance of 100 feet. Visual field refers to the area that can be seen while the eyes are focused on a particular point (Ward, 2010). A typical visual field

is 160° to 180° horizontally and 120° vertically. Restrictions in a visual field can occur peripherally and/or centrally (Schwartz, 2010). An individual with a peripheral field loss has an uninterrupted field of vision that does not extend the full 160°-180° or 120°. A central loss is characterized by interruptions or "blind spots" in the visual field. There is one exception to the assertion that visual impairments involve reduced acuity and/or field restrictions: cortical visual impairment. Cortical visual impairment is characterized by a neurological dysfunction that results in misinterpretation of visual images while the eyes and optic nerves function normally.

The gamut of visual impairments ranges in severity from low vision to functional blindness (Corn & Lusk, 2010). Individuals with low vision do not accomplish visual tasks with the same ease as a typically-sighted person even with the assistance of glasses or contact lenses; however, their visual functioning can be augmented by utilizing optical devices, environmental accommodations, and/or visual efficiency strategies. There is no consistently-agreed-upon definition for low vision; some take a more functional approach while others conceptualize it with clinical measures. Most states utilize a clinical definition to determine eligibility for educational services, but there exists variation in the minimum qualifying acuity and visual field across states. Regardless of the details of the definition, in order to qualify for services, the reduced acuity or visual field must hinder the student's education functioning in order to receive support services.

Functional blindness—a term not limited to the educational context—is often used in education to refer to a student who would benefit from braille instruction and other tactile or auditory learning media such as raised-line diagrams or talking calculators (Corn & Lusk, 2010). An individual with functional blindness may or may not have

usable vision. The determination of functional blindness is predicated on a student's ability to accomplish tasks rather than clinical measures such as acuity and visual field. For the purpose of this paper, the term "blindness" shall be synonymous with "functional blindness."

Another significant landmark on the visual impairment severity spectrum is legal blindness (Corn & Lusk, 2010). The definition for legal blindness was established by the American Medical Association in 1934, and it continues to be used for several purposes including eligibility determinations for social security disability benefits and enrollment in state schools for the blind. An individual is legally blind if his or her acuity is 20/200 or worse in the better eye with best possible correction or if his or her visual field is not greater than 20°. Legal blindness does not always indicate functional blindness; however, all individuals with functional blindness also qualify as legally blind.

Visual impairments are low-incidence disabilities, affecting approximately two out of every one thousand children (Nelson & Dimitrova, 1993; Wall & Corn, 2004). The American Printing House for the Blind (APH; 2016) maintains a census of children and students (birth—22 years old) who are legally blind. As of January 2015, APH reports 62,528 children and students in the United States who meet the definition of legal blindness. Of this number, approximately 31.5% are print readers, 8% read braille, 10.5% are auditory readers, 16% are pre-readers, and 33% are non-readers. A substantial majority are educated by their local school districts, while far fewer are educated at schools for the blind, through rehabilitation programs, or by programs specifically for students with multiple disabilities. Ascertaining a count of individuals with low vision is more difficult (Corn & Lusk, 2010). Wall and Corn (2004) found that in Texas, students

receiving educational services for low vision were about half the number of students who were legally blind. If this proportion holds true nationwide, an estimated 31,300 children and young adults have low vision.

Most children with visual impairments need specialized services to ensure that they mature into adults who can function at their greatest potential. Visual stimulation is the impetus for development and learning for most children (Huebner, Merk-Adam, Stryker, & Wolffe, 2004). It encourages children to explore their environments, which fosters motor and conceptual development (Hill, Rosen, Correa, & Langley, 1984). It provides information about a child's surroundings by which he or she builds language and cause-effect relationships. It is also a means to engage in social observation and interaction through which a child learns socially appropriate and inappropriate behaviors. Without visual information, children may not acquire such skills and knowledge incidentally. Qualified professionals such as teachers of students with visual impairments (TVIs) and certified orientation and mobility specialists provide experiences and training for children with visual impairments to accommodate for difficulties with learning and development.

Educational Settings

According to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA; 2004), students with disabilities must be educated in the least restrictive environment. Least restrictive environment means the physical place as close to the general education classroom as possible—including the general education classroom itself—where students can receive an appropriate education (Rozalski, Miller, & Stewart, 2011). While IDEA (2004) specifies that students with disabilities should be educated with their typically-

developing peers to the greatest extent possible with a preference for attending the same school they would attend without a disability, it also requires schools to offer a range of placement options to meet student needs. The continuum of placement options includes general education classes/inclusion, special classes (i.e., resource, self-contained), separate/specialized schools, and homebound or hospital-based instruction (Lewis & Allman, 2017).

In 2014, 88.9% of students receiving special education services for visual impairments spent some portion of the school day in a general education classroom with 66.3% spending at least 80% of the day there, 12.3% spending between 40% and 79% of the day in an inclusive classroom, and 10.3% there for less than 40% of the school day (U.S. Department of Education, 2016). Time not spent in the general education classroom was attributed to special education and related services. For the same year, 11.1% of students with visual impairments were educated in other educational settings, which could include specialized or residential schools, private schools, home or hospital, or correctional facilities.

Decisions regarding educational placement are made on an individual basis. While the majority of students with visual impairments are educated primarily in inclusive settings, TVIs and other professionals working with these students recognize the value in alternative placements for some students (Lewis & Allman, 2017).

When determining the appropriate education placement and least restrictive environment, the IEP team must consider in what environment or environments the goals and objectives that have been identified for the student can best be met.

This environment becomes, by definition, the least restrictive environment. (p.

296)

Factors that may contribute to this decision include severity of the disability, presence of additional disabilities, and availability of special education and related services professionals. Additionally, teams should consider the value of receiving an education with typically-developing peers as well as the importance of meaningful engagement with peers who have similar disabilities. According to IDEA (2004), educational placement must be considered annually for each student. For students with visual impairments, it is reasonable that their least restrictive environment might change over time as their needs and abilities change (Lewis & Allman, 2017). For example, a young student who is blind might not have sufficient access to a TVI in order to develop skills in braille and orientation and mobility. This student might attend a school for the blind for a few years, but once proficient in these skills, might enroll in her local school where the skills can be maintained by a TVI.

Inclusion

Teachers report that most students with visual impairments (blind and low vision) perform at or above grade level in inclusive general education classes; however, the same teachers indicate lower levels of effort, motivation, initiative, and engagement for these students compared to their peers (Bardin & Lewis, 2008). General education teachers often express hesitancy about including students with visual impairments in their classes (Ajuwon, Sarraj, Griffin-Shirley, Lechtenberger, & Zhou, 2015; Rule, Steffanich, Boody, and Peiffer, 2011). Because visual impairment is a low incidence disability, this may be attributed to teachers' lack of experience with individuals who are blind or have low

vision (Ajuwon et al., 2015). It might also be due to the misconception that students with visual impairments are not able to achieve academically at the same level as their typically-developing peers and the low expectations that result from this erroneous belief (Ajuwon et al., 2015; Bardin & Lewis, 2008).

Specialized Schools

The purpose of schools for the blind is to educate students with visual impairments in a setting in which the faculty are knowledgeable about the unique learning needs of these students. Instruction is designed, materials adapted, and curricula modified according to their individual needs, which allows students to engage in more meaningful learning than is often experienced in inclusive settings (Lewis & Allman, 2017). Schools for the blind not only offer courses in core content areas (e.g., math, English, history), they offer instruction in other important areas as well (e.g., functional skills, independent living, vocational preparation), which may occur during the regular school day or after school hours for residential students (Dahm, 2002; Lewis & Allman, 2017). While many perceive specialized schools as segregated settings, most schools involve students with visual impairments with typically-developing individuals by way of enrollment in classes at local schools (k-12 and post-secondary), participation in athletics, vocational training, and community-based learning.

The majority of specialized schools for students with visual impairments identify as "state schools," meaning that they are institutions operated by their respective state governments (McMahon, 2014). The others are private. The American Printing House for the Blind (2015) reports that 8.4% of students with visual impairments attend a school for the blind, or an estimated 4,264 students according to McMahon (2014). Approximately

36% of this number have a visual impairment with no additional disabilities, 42% have an additional disability of intellectual disability, and 22% have an additional disability that is not intellectual disability (McMahon, 2014). Nationwide, about half of the students enrolled in specialized schools for students with visual impairments participate in academic programs while the other half participate in life skills programs. Although the number of students enrolled in schools for the blind has remaining relatively consistent over time, the student body has shifted to include more students with additional disabilities.

Accommodations

Regardless of educational setting, IDEA expects schools to provide students with supplementary aids and services, which are defined as "aids, services and other supports that are provided in regular education classes, other education-related settings, and in extracurricular and nonacademic settings, to enable children with disabilities to be educated with nondisabled children to the maximum extent appropriate" (2004, Sec. 300.42). Supplementary aids and services are more commonly known as accommodations, modifications, and related services; they are selected for students on an individual basis according to the student's educational needs and level of functioning. The underlying etiologies of visual impairments result in a wide range of visual functioning necessitating accommodations in literacy media, technologies, print sizes, and lighting conditions, to name a few (Schwartz, 2010). For example, students with reduced acuity often benefit from enlarged print, whereas students with reduced peripheral fields tend to prefer smaller print so that more characters fit within their field

of vision. Accommodations respond to impairment etiologies and also to the context(s) in which they will be used.

The reason that accommodations are an integral component of a student's education program is that they are a primary means of providing an *appropriate* education (Lee, Wehmeyer, Soukup, & Palmer, 2010). Accommodations allow students with disabilities to access and advance in the general education curriculum whether they receive instruction in an inclusive setting or in a specialized setting. In addition to academic outcomes, accommodations increase student engagement, time on-task, and productivity. They can reduce problematic behaviors in students thereby lessening the amount of time that teachers focus on classroom management.

For students with visual impairments, in particular, accommodations have been linked to increased learning and comprehension across settings (Abramo & Pierce, 2013; Jones, Minogue, Oppewal, Cook, & Broadwell, 2006; Wild, Hilson, & Farrand, 2013). They allow students in inclusive classrooms to participate in activities and assignments at the same time as their typically-developing peers (Cooper & Nichols, 2007; Farnsworth & Luckner, 2008; Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014c). And, they facilitate interactions with general education teachers (Cooper & Nichols, 2007; Farnsworth & Luckner, 2008; Rule et al., 2011).

Research indicates that accommodation practices are predominantly teacherdriven (Fletcher, Bos, & Johnson, 1999; Scanlon & Baker, 2012). Teachers indicate that they prefer whole-class accommodations, noting that they are easier to fit into their established teaching routines (Scanlon & Baker, 2012). In a study conducted by Schumm and Vaughn (1991), teachers viewed accommodations associated with the social and

emotional aspects of inclusion as most favorable while finding those that require adaptations of materials and instruction to be least desirable. Although these teachers rated most accommodations as desirable, very few were considered feasible to implement. That said, however, general educators report that teaching students with visual impairments is easier than anticipated when they use instructional accommodations (Rule et al., 2011).

For students with visual impairments, the role of teachers (general educators, special educators, and teachers of students with visual impairments) in the accommodations process is reasoned to be even larger. Many common accommodations are teacher-provided out of necessity, such as increased verbal information during instruction, tactile graphics, and extended time on exams. Additionally, accommodations for students with visual impairments often require direct instruction from a TVI to be utilized effectively. Instruction in braille and assistive technology devices are two key examples.

Self-Determination

While teachers may play a primary role in instruction, provision, and orchestration of accommodations, students are charged with establishing preferences in, advocating for, and utilizing accommodations. Students with visual impairments demonstrate task-specific accommodation preferences (D'Andrea, 2012; Lusk, 2012). This perspective from students is important, and their involvement in the accommodations process will likely provide a sense of agency (Scanlon & Baker, 2012). Bolt, Decker, Lloyd, and Morlock (2011) further encourage the active role of students in accommodations practices by demonstrating that many utilize the same accommodations

in high school and college; therefore, explicit instruction in self-advocacy and accommodations during high school promotes confidence and skill in requesting and implementing accommodations at the post-secondary level.

For students with visual impairments, this explicit instruction in self-advocacy is not simply a good idea, it is an expected part of their educational program. TVIs recognize that children with visual impairments need explicit instruction in many areas beyond academic subjects that sighted children learn incidentally. This concept was formalized by Hatlen in 1996 as the Expanded Core Curriculum, or ECC (Sapp & Hatlen, 2010). The ECC includes nine areas of instruction that are necessary for success in school, community, and employment. One of the nine areas is self-determination. Broadly, self-determination indicates an individual making his or her own decisions and/or acting on his or her own behalf (Agran, Hong, & Blankenship, 2007). Students with visual impairments engage in self-determination infrequently, with those who are blind engaging even less often than those with low vision (Robinson & Liebermann, 2004). Unlike their typically-developing peers, children with visual impairments do not experience increasing opportunities for self-determination as they mature into adolescence. This may be attributed to parents and teachers providing too much support or to limited skills in self-determination.

The value of self-determination within the field of visual impairments is widely accepted (Agran et al., 2007). Self-determination is associated with achievement in school (Agran et al., 2007), greater likelihood of employment (McDonnall & Crudden, 2009), and acceptance in the community (Sacks & Silberman, 1998). Sapp and Hatlen (2010) assert that development of self-determination for students with visual impairments

necessitates explicit instruction. Children must understand their abilities and disabilities, know the choices available to them in a given context, be able to advocate for or take advantage of such choices, and have the freedom to make their own choices.

Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

Chapter 1 addressed challenges with current accommodations practices and acknowledged the need for students to take more responsibility for their accommodations. Chapter 2 looks further at the existing research pertaining to accommodations and student involvement in the accommodations process, including previous research on the Student Self-Accommodations Strategy, which is the focus of the proposed study. Because metacognition and self-regulated learning have been implicated as essential components of effective strategy instruction, literature from these areas will also be addressed. This chapter culminates by presenting the purpose of the proposed study, describing how it extends previous research on the Student Self-Accommodations Strategy, and stating the research questions to be investigated.

Accommodations

Accommodations, as related to education, are changes in the way that teachers provide instruction and/or the way students participate in the learning process (Laprairie, Johnson, Rice, Adams, & Higgins, 2010; Polloway, Epstein, & Bursuck, 2003). Accommodations, however, do not alter the curriculum itself or the expectations on students. As Shaywitz and Shaywitz (1997 as cited in Polloway et al., 2003) articulated, "Accommodations don't produce success for students. Rather they act as a catalyst to allow effort and ability to show themselves" (p. 192). Students can receive instructional accommodations for day-to-day use in the classroom and accommodations specific to assessments (Scanlon & Baker, 2012). The purpose of accommodations is to allow students with disabilities to access and advance in the general education curriculum (Lee et al., 2010) and to participate meaningfully in assessments (Thurlow & Bolt, 2001).

Because accommodations are selected individually for students based on their needs, the options are innumerable. However, accommodations are often categorized by the aspect of an educational program that they address (e.g., Bolt et al., 2011; Silberman, Bruce, & Nelson, 2004). The American Foundation for the Blind (AFB; 2017) describes seven accommodation domains specific to students with visual impairments to account for their sensory differences. Because they take in limited or no visual information, students with visual impairments benefit from *instructional accommodations*, including hands-on or experiential learning, use of 3-dimensional models, and increasing verbal information. *Material accommodations* are directly related to students' learning media, whether visual, tactile, auditory, or a combination. In addition to braille, material accommodations could include the provision of large print, audio, or electronic formats in lieu of or in conjunction with regular print materials. Existing documents may be adapted to facilitate visual efficiency through highlighting, reducing clutter, or improving contrast, and manipulatives may be available for use in art or math. Commonly-used assignment accommodations are extended time or shortened assignments, use of verbal descriptions or 3-dimensional models instead of 2-dimensional depictions, and limiting the amount of copying a student is expected to complete. These accommodations allow students to effectively and efficiently meet the purposes of classroom assignments: to learn new information or to convey what they already know. Testing accommodations, like assignment accommodations, support students in demonstrating their knowledge. While a number of other accommodations may be used during testing, some are specific to testing itself such as extended time, alternative means of responding (e.g., dictation, manipulatives, answer in test booklet), and accommodations to facilitate accessibility of

computer-based exams. IDEA (2004) requires that IEP teams consider the need for *assistive technology accommodations* (AT) for all students receiving special education services, and there is certainly no shortage of options for students with visual impairments. They include low-tech (e.g., magnifiers. telescopes, braillewriters, independent living aids) and high-tech options (e.g., screen reading/magnifying software, electronic notetakers, embossers, talking calculators). Because of the priority placed on visual learning in most classrooms, students with visual impairments often need *environmental accommodations*. Preferential seating, lighting adjustments, and permission to move freely in the room for the purposes of visual efficiency can mitigate the challenge presented by this emphasis on visual input. Finally, the AFB acknowledges that students may need *other accommodations* in order to function more generally in the school. Examples include modified emergency procedures, orientation and mobility tools, and adaptive physical education equipment.

Research on accommodations for students with visual impairments speaks to how well accommodations for students with visual impairments achieve their intended purpose of providing access to and advancement in the curriculum (Lee et al., 2010) and meaningful participation in assessment (Thurlow & Bolt, 2001). While studies tend to relate to either curriculum or assessment, as a whole, the literature nonetheless offers broader perspectives related to purpose including the issues of implementation, the need to comprehensively meet students' needs, and student and teacher roles regarding accommodations.

First, research indicates that accommodations achieve their purpose when implemented appropriately, but implementation is a concern. Articles addressing

instructional accommodations demonstrate this tension. These accommodations increase learning, support performance, and encourage participation, but they are not often utilized in inclusive contexts (Abramo & Pierce, 2013; Jones et al., 2006; Rule et al., 2011; Wild et al., 2013). Material accommodations are essential for educational access, and with them, students develop literacy, acquire knowledge, and engage actively. However, materials are regularly not available when needed (Smith & Smothers, 2012; Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014c) and tend to contain errors (Herzberg, 2010; Herzberg & Rosenblum, 2014; Herzberg & Stough, 2009; Smith & Smothers, 2012; Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014b). Assistive technologies demonstrate inverse challenges with implementation in that they are drastically under-utilized (Kelly, 2009, 2011) but may be imposed on students during high-stakes testing without adequate support (Kamei-Hannan, 2008).

Second, assuming appropriate implementation, accommodations can only meet their purpose if they collectively address all of a student's educational needs. AFB's (2017) organization of accommodation domains is helpful because they represent common educational needs for students with visual impairments. A comprehensive consideration of all of the domains is key for appropriately supporting students in classrooms. Furthermore, not only are the domains interrelated—material accommodations can be provided through AT (e.g., an electronic braille notetaker), AT supports testing accommodations (e.g., screen magnification for a computer-based assessment)—they also fill one another's gaps. For example, sharing diagrams electronically to a student with a braille notetaker or one who is using screen reading software is not effective (AT accommodations), but having a 3-dimensional model and/or

explicit teacher description to convey the information from the diagram is (instructional accommodations).

Finally, teachers (TVIs, general educators, and special educators) and students both have a part to play for accommodations to accomplish their purpose. Teachers are primarily responsible for provision, orchestration, and instruction in accommodations. Examples of these functions include ordering audio books, arranging for a proctor to allow extra time for a test, and teaching a student to use screen reading software. Many factors can impede these responsibilities including lack of awareness and skill (Zhou et al., 2012) and insufficient time and resources (Herzbrg & Stough, 2009; Zebehazy & Wilton; 2014a). While teachers are typically prepared to perform these functions, through training or collaboration (Spungin & Ferrell, 2007), students are less likely to be explicitly informed of their roles: determining preferences, advocacy, and utilization of accommodations. Students are capable of these functions. They can express their preferences (D'Andrea, 2012; Lusk, 2012; Rosenblum & Herzberg, 2015), request accommodations when not initially provided (Rosenblum & Herzberg, 2015), and use their accommodations to access learning and assignments (Farnsworth & Luckner; 2008; Zebehazy & Wilton 2014c), even if they have to be resourceful with inadequate or inaccurate materials (Rosenblum & Herzberg, 2015). However, student preferences are not always shared or considered (Rosenblum & Herzberg, 2015; Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014c), students may prefer to skate by without advocating for accommodation needs (Rosenblum & Herzberg, 2015), and when accommodations are provided by teachers, students may still decline to use them (Rule et al., 2011). Because students tend toward

this passivity, it is important to explicitly discuss their responsibilities, teach selfadvocacy, and ensure that they value their accommodations.

Student Involvement in the Accommodations Process

Accommodation practices currently tend to be teacher-driven (Fletcher et al., 1999; Scanlon & Baker, 2012). However, teachers often report feeling overwhelmed and unprepared in providing accommodations (Fletcher et al., 1999; Kozik, Cooney, Vinciguerra, Gradel, & Black, 2009). For example, TVIs tend to do most of the braille transcribing for their students (Herzberg, 2010; Herzberg & Stough, 2007), but while they received some pre-service training in the production of braille materials, most nonetheless report taking on these responsibilities insufficiently prepared (Herzberg & Stough. 2007). TVIs often share similar sentiments regarding AT. Considering the proliferation of available technologies for individuals with visual impairments, most believe that it is neither feasible nor practical to be competent in everything (Zhou et al., 2012). TVIs' competence with AT is heavily influenced by their current caseload needs in that they tend to be more knowledgeable about devices that their students use and less knowledgeable about devices that their students do not use (Ajuwon, Meeks, Griffin-Shirley, & Okungu, 2016; Kamei-Hannan, Howe, Herrera, & Erin, 2012; Zhou, Smith, Parker, & Griffin-Shirley, 2011). Conversely, however, TVI caseload sizes can negatively correlate with AT use by students (Johnstone, Thurlow, Altman, Timmons, & Kato, 2009).

Accommodation implementation is notably more difficult at the secondary level than the primary level. Teachers face large, academically-diverse classes and heavy teaching loads. They have insufficient time to plan for each class, especially considering

the staunch pacing demands and rigorous expectations for student proficiency (Kozik et al., 2009; Scanlon & Baker, 2012). Balancing individual needs with group needs is a challenge (Pui, 2017), which leads most teachers to favor whole-class accommodations that align with their established teaching practices (Scanlon & Baker, 2012).

Recognizing the challenges to teachers in providing accommodations further strengthens the case for student involvement in the process. It was discussed in the Introduction that students have preferences about accommodations, that they offer a unique and important perspective, and that learning to self-advocate for accommodations during high school is beneficial for the transition to college. Self-advocacy is key for students with disabilities because outcomes for these students are often less than desirable. The National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 indicated that only 31% participate in classes at the postsecondary level and approximately 75% live at home two years after graduating from high school (Levine & Wagner, 2005). However, Wehmeyer and Palmer (2003) asserted that self-advocacy skills improve outcomes for students in special education, noting that those with better skills are more likely to have a bank account, employment, and independent living arrangements. From an educational perspective, students who demonstrate self-advocacy skills are more participatory and successful in general education classes (Prater, Redman, Anderson, & Gibb, 2014). In addition, Test, Fowler, Wood, Brewer, and Eddy (2005) acknowledged that selfadvocacy broadly empowers students with disabilities.

There are challenges, however, to participation in the accommodations process for students with visual impairments. Oftentimes, when accommodations are provided for students, they refuse to use them because they do not recognize the need for them or

because they draw unwanted attention to the student's visual impairment (Rule et al., 2011). If students are willing to utilize accommodations, they may not be aware of the most appropriate accommodations for themselves or for a given task. Erin, Hong, Schoch, and Kuo (2006) demonstrated that most braille-reading students prefer braille tests over oral tests, but testing in braille takes significantly more time to complete without yielding a difference in score as compared to oral administrations. Similarly, Lusk (2012) asserted the need to teach students to use a variety of magnification devices and to assess their proficiency with each device so that they can make an informed decision about their preferred device. Many students have preferred accommodations, but these preferences may not come to fruition. Students express a preference for previewing adapted graphics with a teacher, but only 38% and 56% of enlarged and tactile graphics users, respectively, report that previewing happens (Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014b). One reason for this is that students and teachers may have different understandings of how accommodations are actually being used. For example, companion studies indicated that most TVIs thought that students received adapted graphics at the same time their peers received non-adapted ones (Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014a), but only 44% of students using tactile graphics agreed (Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014b). Collectively, these challenges warrant the need to achieve buy-in from students about the value of accommodations, to explicitly teach them about their accommodations, to practice selecting the most appropriate accommodation for a given task, and to give them tools to advocate for those accommodations

The Student Self-Accommodation Strategy

Classroom accommodations are a primary means of providing an appropriate education for students with visual impairments. While there is value in student involvement in accommodation practices, the process continues to be teacher-driven. The student self-accommodation strategy (SSA) was developed to support students with certain high-incidence disabilities (i.e., learning disabilities, communication impairments, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, emotional behavioral disorders) in strategically selecting and utilizing their own accommodations. The SSA was originally known as IN CHARGE. IN CHARGE, as the name of the strategy implies, encouraged students to take charge and be responsible for their own learning by appropriately initiating and utilizing the accommodations that they are afforded in their IEPs. IN CHARGE also served as an acronym for the steps a student should take in order to effectively use their accommodations:

I. Inventory my accommodations. Students know the accommodations delineated in their IEPs, how they work, why they should be used, and in which situations they can be used. If an accommodation is tangible (e.g., calculator or laptop), the student is responsible for having the item in class.

N. Note the surroundings. This step focuses on being ready for class. Students should arrive on time, look for clues that indicate a need for an accommodation, and have necessary tools prepared for use.

C. Check for needed skills. For each class activity, a student should consider the skills that will be used (e.g., listening, writing, computing) and the expected outcome such as an essay.

H. Hunt for best accommodation. Students should consider their accommodation options for the needed skill, taking into account whether or not each accommodation is allowed in that class and if they have the necessary materials. An accommodation is then selected for use.

A. Activate my accommodation. The accommodation is put into effect at the appropriate time.

R. Readjust, if needed. If a student determines that an accommodation is not helpful or not being used correctly, he or she can modify or switch accommodations.

GE. Gauge effectiveness. When an activity is complete, students reflect on whether or not the accommodation worked well and had the desired effect. This reflection is intended to inform whether the accommodation should be used again under similar circumstances or another accommodation should be tried.

The SSA has been the focus of a few studies, most recently, a mixed methods comparative case study that illuminated how three students with high-incidence disabilities learned and applied IN CHARGE (Scanlon, Nannemann, Paisner-Roffman, in review). Findings demonstrated that the students learned the strategy on individual trajectories, largely influenced by their disability profiles. While they advanced at their own rates, the strategy was ultimately effective—albeit to varying degrees—in improving accommodation practices for each participant. Several implications were derived from the case studies. The first was a need for pre-teaching students the definition and purpose of accommodations in general and specifically about the participants' individual accommodations. Second, the SSA needed to be more accessible to students by simplifying the language involved in each step and by organizing them into a more

strategic process. Finally, strategy instruction needed to both be more sensitive to the learning needs of the students and in moving beyond a behavioral approach, needed to place more emphasis on individually-responsive supports including elements of metacognition (Flavell, 1979) and self-regulated learning (Zimmerman, 1986).

The need to not simply know a strategy but to be a strategic thinker (Paris, Lipson, & Wixson, 1983) is supported in the literature. Strategies serve to enable or enhance cognition, but those strategies need the oversight of metacognition to be activated, monitored, and refined (Flavell, 1979). Lienemann and Reid (2006) take a stronger stance, asserting that strategies cannot be effective unless their instruction is accompanied by the corresponding metacognitive knowledge necessary for implementation. Through the self-regulated learning approach to strategy instruction, students enhance strategy effectiveness by developing a better understanding of their strengths and weaknesses, by adapting existing strategies or conceiving new ones, and by diligently and continuously evaluating their performance (Pui, 2017). Paris and Winograd (1990) compare metacognitive learners to skilled craftsmen in that they do not just accumulate a variety of tools, they discerningly select the right tool for the job at hand. They use this metaphor to make the point that students have to know the purposes of the strategies or "tools" at their disposal and the contexts in which each should be employed, which are elements of metacognition and self-regulated learning.

Metacognition

Credit for the original definition of metacognition is attributed to Flavell (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013; Tanner, 2012). Metacognition is the regulation and monitoring of cognitive processes (i.e., memory, comprehension, learning) based on beliefs or
knowledge about one's own or another's cognitive abilities, about how to cognitively approach a given task and the probability of a successful outcome for that task, and about strategies that could facilitate accomplishing a particular goal (Flavell. 1979). While Tanner argues that a consistent, concise definition of metacognition is unavailable in literature, many scholars agree that, at its core, metacognition is the management of cognition (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013; Scott & Berman, 2013), or more simply, thinking about thinking (Paris et al., 1983; Scott & Berman, 2013).

Metacognition, which begins in early childhood and continues developing through adolescence (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013), focuses on the individual (Paris & Winograd, 1990). *How do I learn best? How can* she *most effectively accomplish this assignment? Why is* he *struggling to understand this concept?* Metacognition can occur implicitly that is, unintentionally or subconsciously—or it can be deliberate and conscious (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013; Flavell, 1979). Implicit metacognition is often engaged by emotions and feelings, both positive (pride, accomplishment, confidence) and negative (frustration, boredom, anxiety), without consciously recognizing the reason for the emotion. Deliberate metacognition is more common in circumstances that prompt sustained, careful thinking; for a task that requires a particular kind of thinking; with new responsibilities or assignments; if each step in a process necessitates planning and reflection; in high-risk situations; and when emotions are high or the ability to reflect is low (Flavell, 1979).

Whether implicit or deliberate, metacognition can occur prior to, in the midst of, or after a cognitive endeavor (Flavell, 1979). Ahead of a task or learning experience, metacognition can help an individual anticipate how much and what kind of information

is necessary for success, a strategy that might be effective, and when and how to use the information or strategy (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013). During an activity, metacognition can lead one to initiate, change, or abandon a particular way of thinking or resource. As Flavell states, "[T]he feeling that you are far from your goal...what you make of that feeling and what you do about it would undoubtedly be informed and guided by your metacognitive knowledge" (1979, p. 908). After a thoughtful endeavor, metacognition allows a person to judge their performance (Callender, Franco-Watkins, & Roberts, 2016; Scott & Berman, 2013). Whether successful or unsuccessful, this reflection contributes to his or her metacognitive knowledge available for future learning or activities (Flavell, 1979).

Metacognition is a large, multi-faceted concept. Many researchers have expanded upon or nuanced Flavell's conceptualization according to their specific areas of study (Tanner, 2012). For example, Scott and Berman (2013) describe three components of metacognition useful in considering domain specificity or generality: *Knowledge* of our own cognitive strengths and weaknesses and those of others. *Regulation*, which is the real-time monitoring of an individual's learning and thought processes. And *accuracy* in correctly predicting one's performance (e.g., Did I get that answer correct? How well am I doing on this project?). Paris et al. (1983) focus on metacognitive knowledge, particularly the kinds of knowledge that develop when a learner—of any topic—matures from a novice to an expert. They assert that there are three crucial types of knowledge: declarative, procedural, and conditional. Declarative knowledge (or knowing *that*) involves information about the expectations and objectives for a given task and one's ability to meet those expectations and objectives. This category of knowledge supports a

person in establishing his or her own goals as well as to modify a course of action when the circumstances around a task change. Procedural knowledge (knowing *how*) describes information related to executing a physical or cognitive process. This goes beyond simply knowing a procedure, rather it is higher order consideration of how to implement or carry out the procedure ascertained from explicit instruction or personal experience. Conditional knowledge (knowing *when* and *why*) relates to understanding the circumstances in which a procedure should be employed. It justifies the use of a particular physical or cognitive process and, like declarative knowledge, allows for course correction when the circumstances change. Conditional knowledge facilitates the use of declarative and procedural knowledge by matching them to a specific task or context.

Metacognitive abilities greatly influence learning and achievement. As Garner asserted, "To make an individual metacognitively aware is to ensure that the individual has learned how to learn" (as cited in Tanner, 2012, p. 114). Metacognition allows a student to understand his or her own thinking, which fosters active, independent learning as opposed to passively receiving instruction (Paris & Winograd, 1990). Not only do students better understand their own cognitive strengths and weaknesses, they develop a sense of their peers', which allows them to work cooperatively to support and accommodate for one another (Garb, 2000). These benefits are particularly valuable in light of the volume of material to be learned in school (Callender et al., 2016). Strong metacognition improves cognitive skills, facilitates shifts in conceptual understanding, and leads to greater academic achievement compared to students with weaker metacognitive skills (Tanner, 2012). Furthermore, metacognition promotes intellectual

curiosity, perseverance, creative approaches to learning, and strategic problem-solving (Paris & Winograd, 1990), while preventing an individual from continuing to employ unproductive approaches to learning and completing tasks (Tanner, 2012). However, when mistakes are made, students are able to recognize the learning opportunities they provide (Garb, 2000).

While metacognition is beneficial for learners, students may not engage in metacognitive thinking or their metacognition may be inaccurate or insufficient (Flavell, 1979; Pintrich, 2002). Paris and Winograd (1990) extend their metaphor between metacognitive learners and skilled craftsmen by noting that craftsmen do not attain expertise on their own; rather, they work under the tutelage of a master craftsman to learn their trade, becoming self-sufficient over time. According to Vygotsky's Social Development Theory, socially-learned skills (those initiated and guided by others) will become internalized or self-directed over time (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013), meaning that learners will not always have to rely on the expert to successfully engage in metacognition. Scholars agree that individuals can learn and improve metacognitive abilities (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013; Callender et al., 2016; Paris & Winograd, 1990; Tanner, 2012). Teachers can foster metacognition in their students though explicit instruction (Tanner, 2012) and targeted feedback (Callender et al., 2016). They can discuss the role of metacognition and cognition on learning, teach problem-solving skills, and encourage self-monitoring (Paris & Winograd, 1990). Tanner (2012) recommends the following classroom-based practices for promoting metacognition: prompt students to consider their current understanding of and ways of thinking about a concept or task; offer opportunities for students to articulate confusion because without an invitation,

students risk embarrassment or ridicule from peers; encourage students to be cognizant of shifts in understanding and practice as learning and metacognition come from considering this before-and-after change; finally, expect students to document their own thinking for the purposes of monitoring and reflecting.

Self-Regulated Learning

Closely related to metacognition is the concept of self-regulated learning (SRL). SRL was originally defined by Zimmerman (Dent & Koenka, 2016). According to Zimmerman, SRL refers to "how students personally activate, alter, and sustain their learning practices in specific contexts" (1986, p. 307). Like metacognition, SRL is now conceptualized and defined in various ways (Dent & Koenka, 2016). Most scholars agree that it is an active process, that learning objectives are task-specific, and that learners engage in an iterative cycle of regulation. Zimmerman (1986) initially described fourteen components of SRL, which have boiled down to three core components: planning, selfmonitoring, and self-control (Dent & Koenka, 2016; Paris & Winograd, 1990; Tanner, 2012). Planning is self-evident: learners make an action plan for a goal or task. Through self-monitoring, a student assesses if he or she is on track to accomplish the goal or task. If not on track, self-control allows him or her to readjust performance.

These components are noticeably similar to the application of metacognition. Metacognition and SRL can be difficult to distinguish. In fact, there is overlap in research and the terms are regularly used interchangeably (Tanner, 2012). One key distinction is that SRL—as its moniker indicates—relates to learning; whereas, metacognition applies to any task, which could include learning. There exists a discrepancy in the literature as to whether metacognition includes SRL or whether the converse is true. Proponents of the

former (e.g., Paris & Winograd 1990; Tanner, 2012) claim that SRL is metacognition enacted; it is how one orchestrates planning, self-monitoring, and self-control. Those advocating the latter (e.g., Pui, 2017; Dent & Koenka, 2016; Zimmerman, 1986) assert that metacognition is one of three elements that allows students to engage in SRL; the others are motivation and behavior. As Zimmerman (1986) articulates

Metacognitively, self-regulated learners are persons who plan, organize, selfinstruct, self-monitor, and self-evaluate at various stages during the learning process. Motivationally, self-regulated learners perceive themselves as competent, self-efficacious, and autonomous. Behaviorally, self-regulated learners select, structure, and create environments that optimize learning. (p. 308)

When discussing the overlap and distinction between the concepts of metacognition and SRL, a third concept, self-regulation, must be addressed as well. Self-regulation was first put forth by Bandura in 1977 (Dinsmore, Alexander, and Loughlin, 2008). It is the process of managing one's thoughts, behaviors, and emotions in light of their circumstances to achieve a goal (Legault & Inzlicht, 2013). Because of the strong similarities in definitions among self-regulation, metacognition, and SRL, more beneficial is to acknowledge that these three ideas prioritize different aspects of a closely-related process. Metacognition highlights cognition, self-regulation focuses on action, and SRL emphasizes the environment (Dinsmore et al., 2008). Specifically, Dinsmore and colleagues assert that the key environment for SRL is academic contexts, while Kaplan (2008) argues that this is a narrow characterization as SRL applies to any learning context, not simply academic. Because the SSA addresses thinking and learning in the

academic context, it certainly aligns more closely with metacognition and SRL than selfregulation.

SRL is strongly correlated with achievement (Dent & Koenka, 2016). Many studies demonstrate pre-post achievement growth and/or higher rates of achievement when compared to a control group for student who are taught SRL skills (see Bishara, 2016; Dent & Koenka, 2016; Hudesman et al., 2013). Zimmerman and Bandura (1994) found that SRL abilities are more strongly correlated with post-secondary GPA than are scores on college entrance exams. In addition to the academic advantages, when students become responsible for monitoring their own learning, they are more motivated, perceive themselves more positively, and demonstrate greater affect (Paris & Winograd, 1990).

Like metacognition, SRL abilities are teachable (Pui, 2017). Instructional approaches for SRL often capitalize on context-specific strategies as a foundation for promoting SRL (Graham & Harris, 1993). There are several models for fostering SRL (Hudesman et al., 2013); however, one of the most thoroughly-validated and implementable is Graham and Harris's Self-Regulated Strategy Development (SRSD) model (Lienemann & Reid, 2006). The SRSD model consists of six stages of instruction:

- Develop Prerequisite Skills and Knowledge: The teacher supports the student in mastering skills and acquiring knowledge that the student needs to successfully utilize the target strategy.
- Discuss the Strategy: The teacher describes the target strategy, including its intended purpose, anticipated benefits, and in what contexts it should be applied.
- 3. Model the Strategy: The teacher models using the strategy, intentionally "thinking aloud" the cognitive aspects of the strategy. The teacher also vocalizes his or her

"self-instructions" (or the regulatory thoughts surrounding strategy implementation), which could include recognizing the problem, making a plan, initiating the strategy, evaluating effectiveness, preventing mistakes, redirecting, and self-assuring. This stages makes explicit the *why* and *how* of the strategy as a whole and its individual steps.

- 4. Memorize the Strategy: The student memorizes the steps of the strategy, including a mnemonic, if applicable. Steps can be paraphrased as long as the rewording maintains the original meaning. Memorization allows the student to apply the strategy automatically and fluently, while maintaining their focus on the learning or task goal.
- 5. Support the Strategy: The student practices using the strategy, including selfinstructions. The student and teacher continue to discuss strategy performance; how, when, and why to apply the strategy; and self-regulation practices. Stage 5 is characterized by fading teacher support and increasing student effectiveness and independence.
- Independent Performance: The student utilizes the strategy and self-regulation skills independently in the appropriate learning environment(s). The teacher encourages and monitors these practices (Graham & Harris, 1993; Lienemann & Reid, 2006).

One of the keys of the SRSD model is that it allows—or rather, expects—that the stages respond to students' individual needs (Graham & Harris, 1993).

[T]he strategies, self-regulation procedures, preskills, and other skills stressed during instruction are tailored to individual students' capabilities and based on a

thorough understanding of the learner and the task...[T]he components, characteristics, and processes of instruction can be individualized, reordered, combined, or modified as necessary. (p. 172)

Furthermore, SRSD is intended to be a collaborative process in which students have a voice in instructional practices, goal-setting, and the strategy itself.

Connecting to Special Education

The individualized nature of metacognition and SRL—among other factors makes these concepts particularly pertinent to special education, which emphasizes *individualized* instruction tailored to capitalize on *individual* strengths and address *unique* needs for students with disabilities. Developing metacognitive and SRL skills places a greater onus on students for their own learning (Paris & Winograd, 1990), which is valuable considering that teachers struggle with limited resources, insufficient training and professional development, and the challenge of balancing individual needs with group needs (Pui, 2017). Additionally, metacognition and SRL foster positive selfconcepts, improve affect, and increase motivation—all of which can be struggles for students with disabilities (Paris & Winograd, 1990).

The bulk of literature relating metacognition or SRL to special education focuses on students with learning disabilities (e.g., Bishara, 2016; Graham & Harris, 1993; Lienemann & Reid, 2006; Pui, 2017; Richie, 2005; Walet, 2011), while only one article was found for students with visual impairments (i.e., Garb, 2000). Paris and Winograd (1990) assert that these practices are valuable for all students with disabilities because many of the instructional practices commonly found in general education classes are not suitable for them, which can be frustrating regardless of the particular disability.

Furthermore, they contend that instruction in metacognition connects students with disabilities to their typically-developing peers by "help[ing] students understand that all learning involves over-coming obstacles, confusion, and self-doubt" (p. 10).

Purpose

The present study capitalizes on SSA instruction as a vehicle to foster metacognition and self-regulated learning for the strategy. The SSA will be taught to students with visual impairments, and their application of the strategy will be supported in their classes. It extends the previous SSA research in the following ways.

- Modifications of the strategy: In line with implications from previous SSA research (Scanlon et al., in review), this iteration utilizes a version of the SSA that is simpler in language and procedure than IN CHARGE. The current version is presented in the Procedures section of Chapter 3. In order to maintain more accessible language, a mnemonic is not used. The early steps of IN CHARGE (i.e., inventory my accommodations, note the surroundings, check for needed skills) were removed from the strategy to reduce cognitive load but have been incorporated in pre-teaching. Additionally, the revised SSA makes explicit that the strategy can be initiated at the beginning of a task or at any other point.
- Emphasis on pre-teaching: The current study is more intentional to address foundational knowledge that is essential to successful SSA use. Topics that will be emphasized in pre-teaching include the definition of accommodations, who is eligible to receive accommodations, participating students' allowable accommodations, how context impacts learning and accommodation needs, correlating classroom tasks to effective accommodations, and the importance of

preparedness. Because exposure to information does not ensure that it is learned, students will be required to demonstrate knowledge in key areas of pre-teaching before advancing to the next stage of instruction.

- Change in instruction model: Previously, the SSA was taught using the Strategies Intervention Model (SIM; Deshler & Schumaker, 1998) with elements of the SRSD model (Graham & Harris, 1993) incorporated later in instruction. SIM utilizes an explicit, behavioral approach to instruction while SRSD—which grew out of SIM—is more sensitive to individual learning needs and intentionally fosters self-regulated learning. In the present study, only SRSD will be employed, and it will be used throughout instruction. SRSD meets the implications of previous SSA research indicating that strategy instruction needs to be sensitive to the unique learning styles of each participant while also emphasizing individuallyresponsive supports such as metacognition and SRL (Scanlon et al., in review).
- Novel population: While the SSA has traditionally been utilized with students with high-incidence disabilities, in this study it will be taught to students with visual impairments. This population is appropriate for SSA research because literature indicates that they may refuse accommodations (Rule et al., 2011), they may not know the most effective accommodations for themselves (Erin et al., 2006), and they may need objective information to support their preference decisions (Lusk, 2012). It is not reasonable to presume that effectiveness for students with other disabilities, such as learning disabilities, generalizes to students with visual impairments. Sensory differences will be accounted for by

individualizing the intervention but will not warrant further adaptation to the strategy itself.

Different setting: The SSA was designed for and has previously been implemented with students enrolled in inclusive general education classes in public high schools. The reasoning behind this setting is that secondary-level general education teachers are insufficiently prepared and have inadequate time and resources to effectively support the accommodation needs of students with disabilities (Fletcher et al., 1999; Kozik et al., 2009) and that students with high incidence disabilities may better generalize strategies if they are taught in the settings in which they are to be used (Hallahan & Kauffman, 1977; Sabornie, Evans, & Cullinan, 2006).

The current iteration of SSA research will be conducted at a specialized school for students with visual impairments. Key differences between inclusive classrooms and schools for the blind impact accommodations use. The first is academic content will likely be modified, meaning that the concepts addressed in each core subject will be reduced in breadth (fewer concepts) and/or in depth (simplified concepts) and that pacing will be slower. Another difference is that the learning environment is designed to be suitable to students with visual impairments. This includes practices such as teachers avoiding writing on a board and resources such as readily-available braille embossers. Finally, classes are more likely to be taught by TVIs (Lewis & Allman, 2017). TVIs are more knowledgeable than general education teachers in appropriate accommodations for students with visual impairments, How these

differences are anticipated to impact the present study is discussed with the research questions.

Additional data sources: A number of data sources are being introduced in the present study, both to support instruction and to answer research questions. These data sources include the Activities List and Preferred Accommodations Chart, which are all intended to facilitate strategy instruction. The Checklist of Used Accommodations and SSA Use Write-Up have been added to answer research questions. A detailed description of each data source is provided in the Data Sources and Analysis section of Chapter 3.

The following research questions will be addressed in the current study; each is presented with hypothesized outcomes. The association between data sources and research questions is displayed in Table 1 at the end of the Data Sources and Analysis section in Chapter 3.

RQ1: Do students become more knowledgeable about accommodations, both in general and regarding their individual accommodations following strategy instruction and practice? Participating students are anticipated to develop recall and understanding of the definition of accommodations, who is eligible to receive accommodations and why, the accommodations that they are afforded by their respective IEPs and why, and how accommodation effectiveness or appropriateness can change based on context. Previous SSA research indicated that students' progress in this domain influenced strategic practice over time and that those with weak mastery at pretest took longer to acquire strategy proficiency (Scanlon et al., in review). The present study's intentional focus on these concepts during pre-teaching is expected to improve learning.

RQ2: Following instruction and practice, how well do students recall,

comprehend, and perform the SSA? Existing SSA case studies demonstrate that all participants learned the SSA in these three ways but to varying degrees (Scanlon et al., in review). Variation in SSA learning is primarily attributable to the disability profiles of each participant. Similar trends are anticipated for the current study. If a participant has only a visual impairment, he or she expected to completely learn the strategy, as demonstrated by accurately recalling strategy procedures, comprehending why and how the strategy should help them, and performing the strategy both in simulation and in classroom practice. Additional disabilities are hypothesized to negatively impact strategy learning to an unknown degree because language impairments can hinder comprehension while emotional-behavioral disorders might reduce motivation to learn or apply the SSA.

RQ3: How do students' accommodation practices change by learning the SSA? Several aspects of accommodation practices will be measured over time: number of accommodation needs, who indicates that the student needs an accommodation (e.g., student, teacher), the ways the student indicates an accommodation need, who provides the accommodation, how well the student uses the accommodation, personal accommodation preferences, and frequency of use of each accommodation the student is afforded. For participating students at a school for the blind, some of these elements are anticipated to be strong before learning the SSA. Students at specialized schools are more likely than their counterparts in inclusive settings to use many accommodations (Johnstone et al., 2009; Kelly, 2009, 2011), and they are reasoned to use them effectively because their classroom teachers have the knowledge to support accommodations use (Lewis & Allman, 2017). Because of the high starting point, it is unlikely that

participants will increase or improve much, if at all, in these areas after learning the SSA. Similarly, preferred accommodations are expected to remain stable over the course of the study. Schools for the blind are thorough and intentional about assessing the individual needs of students, matching accommodations to those needs, and monitoring effectiveness (Dahm, 2002; McMahon, 2014). Conversely, because of the involvement and support of teachers, students are predicted to demonstrate low rates of indicating an accommodation need and even lower rates of active or explicit indications prior to learning the SSA. After learning the strategy, however, both of these domains are expected to increase. Student provision of accommodations is also expected to increase based on an intentional focus on the value of accommodations and the importance of preparedness, both of which can be challenges with adolescents (Rule et al., 2011; Scanlon et al., in review).

RQ4: What within-student factors and environmental factors influence students' recall, comprehension, and performance of the SSA and their accommodations practices? Changes in accommodation knowledge and practices are expected to vary within and across participants (Scanlon et al., in review). The same factors that influenced the variations in previous SSA research are hypothesized to explain changes in the present study. These factors include the students' strengths and weaknesses, learning environment, opinions of accommodations, SSA learning, and perceived SSA benefit.

RQ5: How do students' metacognition and self-regulated learning change following strategy instruction and practice? Metacognition and SRL can improve with instruction (Brinck & Liljenfors, 2013; Callender et al., 2016; Garb, 2000; Paris & Winograd, 1990; Pui, 2017; Tanner, 2012). Based on this trend demonstrated in

literature, elements of pre-teaching and the strategy itself are designed to foster metacognition and SRL. Consequently, both are expected to improve as students learn and practice the SSA. The Procedures section in the following chapter details how metacognition and SRL are embedded in the SSA and strategy instruction.

RQ6: How do students perceive the effectiveness of the SSA? Student value of a strategy influences their quality of learning and willingness to continue implementing the strategy. Existing literature on accommodation practices of students with visual impairments indicates that the student role in this process is not particularly effective. The SSA has been designed and refined with the intention of being a beneficial strategy that students can use to engage in accommodations practices more effectively. Furthermore, students in high school are preparing to transition into employment or higher education, both of which place the onus on students to advocate for accommodations and justify their necessity. For all of these reasons, participating students are anticipated to value the SSA and consider it an effective tool for selecting, utilizing, and advocating for accommodations.

Chapter 3: Methods

This study investigated how learning a modified version of the student selfaccommodation strategy (SSA) impacts students with visual impairments' accommodation practices. The learning experiences of four students with visual impairments were compared using comparative case studies (Cresswell, Plano Clark, Gutmann, & Hanson, 2003) within a sequential explanatory design (Hanson, Creswell, Plano Clark, Petska, & Creswell, 2008). Participating students were taught the experimental SSA, and data were collected before, during, and after strategy instruction to document their learning and application of the strategy. Instruction occurred in three phases. Phase 1 focused on foundational knowledge such as understanding what accommodations are and who can receive them, and participants knowing the individual accommodations afforded to them according to his/her Individual Education Program (IEP). Phase 2 considered the contexts in which accommodations are used by facilitating the participants' preparedness for each class and teaching them to anticipate what will be expected of them in each class. Finally, Phase 3 taught the SSA using the self-regulated strategy development model (SRSD; Graham & Harris, 1993) described in Chapter 2.

Participants

The participants included 4 high school students with visual impairments. This number of student participants allowed for a deep, thorough investigation of each student's learning through triangulation of multiple data sources (Yin, 2014). The participants were recruited via criterion sampling (Patton, 2001) to ensure that they met the necessary inclusion criteria:

1. Participants must have a visual impairment—low vision or blindness—for which they receive special education services. The focus of this research is on students

with visual impairments because literature indicates that they tend to be passive recipients of accommodations or refuse to use accommodations. Furthermore, accommodations provided to them by teachers are often not well-implemented in that they are regularly not available when needed and/or they contain errors that impact student learning. Students were not excluded for having additional disabilities.

- 2. Participants must be enrolled in grades 9—12. There are two reasons for the focus on students in high school. The first is that accommodations are harder for teachers to implement at the secondary level due to large and diverse classes, limited planning/preparation time, and the rigorous expectations on pacing and achievement (Kozik et al., 2009; Scanlon & Baker, 2012). The second reason is to prepare students for the transition to post-secondary education. Many students utilize the same accommodations in high school and college; therefore, explicit instruction in self-advocacy and accommodations during high school promotes confidence and skill in requesting and implementing accommodations at the post-secondary level (Bolt et al., 2011).
- 3. Participants must participate in STEM and humanities classes. Participants should be enrolled in these core content classes because they provided different contexts for accommodation needs thereby allowing participants to practice and demonstrate self-regulated learning (SRL) across the core academic contexts.
- Participants must have sufficient technology skills and access in order to complete data sources for this study.

5. Participants must have sufficient English language skills for learning and understanding the SSA, as judged by the referring program director.

Eligible students were identified by the director of the secondary program at specialized school for students with visual impairments, where the students were enrolled. All nominated students consented to participate (see Appendix A). While each participant was of legal age to provide consent her/himself, consent was sought and received from three parents out of consideration; consent from the fourth parent was not deemed necessary by the school but they did not provide a reason for this exception (see Appendix B).

Emily¹

Emily is a white female, who was eighteen and in the 12th grade at the beginning of the study. She has Bardet-Biedl syndrome, which is an inherited disorder associated with retinal deterioration, obesity, intellectual or learning disabilities, and kidney abnormalities (National Institute of Health, 2018b). Emily's eye conditions, as a result of Bardet-Biedl syndrome, include retinal degeneration, reduced night vision, and hyperopic astigmatism (irregular curvature of the cornea or lens associated with farsightedness). She does not wear glasses, and her uncorrected acuities are 20/200 in the right eye, 20/150 in the left eye, and 20/100 when using the eyes together. Emily also demonstrates significant peripheral field restrictions. Emily's verbal comprehension is in the borderline range, perceptual reasoning is extremely low, and working memory is average.

¹ All names are pseudonyms

Evan

Evan, a white male, was twenty years old when the study began and in the 12th grade². He is diagnosed with Norrie syndrome, an inherited condition that leads to visual impairment in males due to anomalous retinal development and can be associated with cataracts (National Institute of Health [NIH], 2018a). For Evan, Norrie syndrome has resulted in partial retinal detachment and aphakia (removal of the lens) in the right eye and total retinal detachment with the use of a prosthesis in the left eye; he has no light perception. Evan demonstrates average to above average abilities in verbal skills, working memory, and reasoning, with a weakness in quantitative reasoning.

Graham

Graham is a white male, who was nineteen years old in the 12th grade at the onset of the study. He has a visual impairment, autism spectrum disorder, attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, and major depressive disorder. Graham's eye conditions include persistent hyperplastic primary vitreous (enlargement of the jelly-like substance that fills the eye, which leads to scarring, prevents translucence, and can cause additional eye conditions), associated septo-optic dysplasia (underdevelopment of the optic nerve and pituitary gland with abnormal development of the midline of the brain), associated retinal detachment, and microphthalmia (small eyes). Graham has no light perception, with inconsistent use of prosthetics. His verbal skills are in the low average-average range, working memory is

² Because students with disabilities are eligible for services under IDEA until the age of 22 years but grade progression does not extend past the 12th grade, participants are identified as 12th grade students for multiple school years.

average, short-term memory is excellent, and abstract and practical reasoning is low average.

James

James was eighteen years old and in the 12th grade at the beginning of the study. He identifies as a white male. James has diagnoses of retinopathy of prematurity, sensory processing issues, and low muscle tone. His retinopathy of prematurity (irregular growth of blood vessels in the retina due to premature birth) causes bilateral retinal detachment, fibrosis (scarring of connective tissue), and nystagmus (involuntary shaking of the eyes), which have resulted in total blindness. James exhibits high-average verbal abilities, extremely high auditory working memory, and weak quantitative reasoning. Table 1 summarizes the characteristics of each participating student.

Student	Gender	Age	Race	Diagnoses	Vision Status	Eye Conditions
Emily	Female	18	White	Bardet-Biedl syndrome	Low vision	Retinal degeneration Reduced night vision Hyperopic astigmatism
Evan	Male	20	White	Norrie syndrome	Blind	Retinal detachment Aphakia
Graham	Male	19	White	ASD ADHD Anxiety OCD Depression	Blind	PHPV Septo-optic dysplasia Retinal detachment Microphthalmia
James	Male	18	White	Sensory processing issues Hypotonia	Blind	ROP Retinal detachment Fibrosis Nystagmus

Table	1. Summary	of Participant	Characteristics
-------	------------	----------------	-----------------

The participants received a \$15 giftcard for participating in the study. They had the opportunity to increase that amount by completing the daily checklist of used accommodations and weekly description of strategy usage (electronic surveys). They received an additional dollar (\$1) for each of these surveys completed, with an additional \$10 possible if all surveys were completed.

Teachers

Select teachers for each participating student also served as participants (Appendix C). Two STEM and two humanities teachers participated, representing one STEM and one humanities teachers for each participating student. Both of the STEM teachers taught math while one of the humanities teachers instructed English and the other taught history. Involving one STEM teacher and one humanities teacher per participating student was important because accommodations needs and use vary by curricular context. All four teachers are licensed TVIs, and three of the four hold additional degrees in areas other than special education. They ranged in teaching experience from 1.5 to 44 years, with a mean of approximately 17 years (see Table 2). Each teacher completed the Teacher Surveys and allowed the researcher to observe the participating students in their classes. Teacher participants received a \$50 Visa giftcard (NB: hereafter, "participant" will refer to student participants).

Content Area	Race	Gender	Years of Experience	Additional Degrees
Math	White	F	1.5	MBA
Math	White	М	7	Psychology
History	White	F	15	Museum Studies
English	White	F	44	

ristics

Setting

Intervention and data collection occurred at a specialized school for students with visual impairments in the northeastern United States. Observations occurred in one STEM and one humanities class for each participant. This is the only aspect of the study that occurred during academic instruction, but it did not interfere with class routines or content taught. The participants completed two data sources at home after school hours. The strategy instruction and all other student data collection occurred in an otherwise unoccupied sensory room. These aspects of the study occurred during non-academic classes (e.g., study hall or an elective) as determined by the secondary program director in collaboration with each participant. Data forms were completed by teachers at their convenience.

Data Sources and Analysis

Data sources included both quantitative and qualitative measures. With the exception of teacher-provided data, which are presented at the end of this list, each measure is described in the order in which it was initially collected. An overview of data sources is presented in Table 3, including each source's purpose (i.e., provide demographic information, support instruction, answer a research question), its type (i.e., primary, secondary and isolated, progressive, pre/post), and the method(s) of analysis to be used (secondary data, visual analysis of frequencies, thematic analysis, trends in scores, comparison of pre-/post- responses).

Cumulative folder reviewDemographic informationSecondary3 RQ4IsolatedRQ4IsolatedObservationsRQ2PrimaryVisual analysis of frequenciesObservationsRQ3frequenciesRQ4ProgressiveThematic analysisAccommodation knowledge and skills interviewsRQ4 PrimaryTrends in scores Thematic analysisRQ5 RQ6Primary ProgressiveThematic analysis
Informationlists and meansreviewRQ4IsolatedRQ4IsolatedObservationsRQ2PrimaryVisual analysis of RQ3RQ4ProgressiveThematic analysisRQ1RQ2Primary Trends in scoresAccommodation knowledge and skills interviewsRQ4 FrogressiveRQ5 RQ6Progressive ProgressiveThematic analysis
RQ4IsolatedRQ2PrimaryVisual analysis ofObservationsRQ3RQ4ProgressiveThematic analysisRQ1RQ2PrimaryAccommodationRQ2Primaryknowledge and skillsRQ4interviewsRQ5ProgressiveRQ6PrimaryComparison of pro /post
RQ2PrimaryVisual analysis of frequenciesObservationsRQ3RQ4ProgressiveThematic analysisRQ1RQ1RQ2AccommodationRQ2Primary knowledge and skillsRQ4 Trends in scoresinterviewsRQ5Progressive RQ6Primary Comparison of pro/post
ObservationsRQ3frequenciesRQ4ProgressiveThematic analysisAccommodationRQ2Primaryknowledge and skillsRQ4interviewsRQ5ProgressiveRQ6PrimaryComparison of pro /post
RQ4ProgressiveThematic analysisRQ1RQ1AccommodationRQ2Primaryknowledge and skillsRQ4interviewsRQ5ProgressiveRQ6PrimaryComparison of proston
RQ1 Accommodation RQ2 Primary knowledge and skills RQ4 Trends in scores interviews RQ5 Progressive Thematic analysis RQ6 Primary Comparison of pro/post
Accommodation RQ2 Primary Trends in scores knowledge and skills RQ4 Thematic analysis interviews RQ5 Progressive Thematic analysis RQ6 Primary Comparison of proston
knowledge and skills RQ4 Trends in scores interviews RQ5 Progressive Thematic analysis RQ6 Primary Comparison of pro/post
interviews RQ5 Progressive RQ6 Primary Comparison of prost
RQ6 Primary Comparison of pro /post
Primary Comparison of pro /post
· I Amnariaan at ara maat
Teacher surveys RQ3
Pre/post responses
Primary C i C / /
RQ5 Comparison of pre-/post-
Awareness Inventory responses Pre/post
Secondary
Activities list Support Content analysis
Isolated
Secondary
Preterred Support Content analysis
accommodations list instruction Isolated
Primary Vi 1 1 i c
Accommodation RQ3 Visual analysis of
Progressive
RQ2 n
RQ3 Primary
RQ4 RQ4 Internationality is
RQ5 Progressive
RQ2 Primary
RQ4 Thematic analysis
RQ6 Isolated
Trachan damagnatic Demonstric Secondary
lists and means
questionnaire information Isolated
Primary
Teacher surveys RQ3 Comparison of pre-/post-
Pre/post responses

Table 3. Summary of Data Sources

³ As secondary data (Plano et al., 2008), demographic information, intervention materials, and surveys will provide data triangulation and complementarity (Onwuegbuzle & Teddlie, 2003), improving findings' credibility and ensuring reporting accuracy (Creswell, 2002; Yin, 2006).

Cumulative Folder Review

In the first week of the study, each participant's cumulative folder was reviewed for pre-determined demographic information: gender, age, race/ethnicity, grade, corecontent grades from the semester prior to the study, diagnosed disabilities, IEP reporting categories, date of eye report, eye condition, acuity, field restrictions, and IEP-listed accommodations. A data collection form was created for this purpose (see Appendix D).

This information is used to describe each participant and to explain trends in learning and applying the strategy in line with previous SSA research. IEP accommodations were utilized during instruction in Phases 1-3 and to pre-populate options for individual accommodation checklists.

Observations

Each participant was observed three times each in one STEM and one humanities class during Baseline and four times each during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. Emily and James were enrolled in the same Algebra I class and were observed simultaneously when both were present. The same was true for James and Graham in US History. Observations allowed for trace evidence of cognitive processes that are themselves unobservable, such as choosing between accommodation options (Lichtinger & Kaplan, 2015; Winnie, 2010). Furthermore, the observations provided an understanding of the core academic contexts in which the participants utilized the SSA.

Observations were recorded on a previously-employed observation protocol focused on the participants' accommodation practices (see Appendix E; Scanlon et al., in review). Information recorded for each participant included each class activity (e.g., practice problems, whole-class discussion); their expected roles (e.g., take notes, attend to

the board, answer questions); and for each apparent accommodation need, the reason (e.g., confusion), how the need was signaled (e.g., raised hand, appeared frustrated), the type of signal (i.e., "active" if there was an intentional cue from the participant or "passive" if it did not appear intentional), whether an accommodation(s) was provided and by whom, and consequences of the accommodation (e.g., resumed working, tried another accommodation). The protocol also included space for field notes. Observations focused on the four participants; the actions and activities of their classmates were only documented as field notes when the observer considered them to potentially impact a participant's accommodations needs and usage.

The frequency of accommodation needs, signal types, accommodation provisions, and accommodation providers over time were graphed and analyzed visually per participant (Horner et al., 2005). Types of tasks, consequences, and field notes were analyzed via open and axial coding (Strauss & Corbin, 1990) simultaneously with the accommodation knowledge and skills interviews and SSA use write-ups data.

Accommodation Knowledge and Skills Interviews

The accommodation knowledge and skills interview was designed to ascertain the participants' knowledge of accommodations and the SSA. It included four components. The first part addressed general understanding of accommodations and asked participants to define accommodations, explain why students receive accommodations, and state which students are eligible for them. The second section focused on each participant's individual accommodations. They were asked to list the accommodations they receive, indicate how often they receive accommodations in STEM and humanities, acknowledge the reason(s) they receive accommodations, and discuss how they feel about receiving

them. In the third component, questions about the SSA asked the four participants to name and explain the steps of the strategy, when and why it should be used, their ability to use and actual usage of the strategy, and aspects of the strategy that they found easy or difficult. Finally, a hypothetical scenario was shared with them to ascertain their ability to perform the SSA. These scenarios described a particular accommodation and a task for which that accommodation could be implemented (e.g., an accommodation of a place marker could be used when copying information out of a textbook). With that information, the participants were asked probing questions about how they would apply individual steps of the strategy.

The interview was conducted with each participant during Baseline, Phase 3 (referred to as Pretest), and Classroom Application and Ongoing Support (four times; referred to as Weeks 1-4). At Baseline, the interview was abbreviated to only address understanding of the concept of accommodations and familiarity with their individual accommodations (Appendix F). The Pretest and Week 4 interviews were identical to provide an opportunity for pre-post comparisons (Appendix G), but Weeks 1—3 varied in the hypothetical scenarios (Appendices H-J). Scenarios reflected relatable situations for students with visual impairments but did not utilize an actual accommodation afforded any participant on his or her IEP. The scenarios were reviewed by a panel of professors of special education, who determined them to be equivalent in complexity to each other. The participants were interviewed individually by the researcher in a quiet setting. The interviews were conducted verbally and audio-recorded, brief notes of the participants' responses and behaviors were also documented.

Two interview items were scored by tally: the number of IEP accommodations named and the number of strategy steps listed. Most of the remaining questions were rated as accurate, adequate, or inaccurate/no response; what constitutes an accurate, adequate, or inaccurate response was pre-determined and varied by question. More personal items (e.g., How do you feel about receiving accommodations? What is easy/hard about the SSA?) were not scored. All of the interview responses, scored and unscored, for each participant were analyzed for themes using open and axial coding in conjunction with observation notes and SSA use write-ups.

Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory

During Baseline and Week 4, the participants completed the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory*, a validated self-assessment of metacognitive and self-regulated learning skills (Appendix K; Sperling, Howard, Miller, & Murphy, 2002). The inventory utilizes a Likert-like scale with 18 self-report items describing declarative knowledge, procedural knowledge, conditional knowledge, and self-regulation. The *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* was completed verbally by each participant, their answers documented on a questionnaire form by the researcher. Changes in responses from Baseline to Week 4 were analyzed to describe changes in metacognition and SRL from before to after strategy instruction.

Activities List

During Phase 2, each participant compiled a list of the activities in which they typically engage in each core-content class (e.g., complete practice problems, take notes during lecture) to begin the process of aligning accommodations with task-specific expectations. For each activity, they discussed the following questions with the

researcher, "What should I do? How should I think? And, what is the product?" Additionally, the participants were guided to identify the tasks from the activities list that were *most* common for each class. For each of these major activities, they considered and noted their role, strengths, and skills to improve. Evan, Graham, and James wrote their lists on their braille notetakers while Emily typed hers on her laptop. All four e-mailed their lists to the researcher. Information from this list was used during strategy instruction in Phase 3 to describe and practice application of the SSA with the actual classroom tasks each participant encountered regularly. To the extent it relates to findings from the observations, interviews, or write-ups, it is also presented in conjunction with those findings.

Preferred Accommodations List

In the first week of Phase 3, the participants identified their preferred accommodations for each core-content class and how to obtain each accommodation. This information was collected to determine if changes in preferred accommodations occurred after learning and using the strategy. These accommodations and means of obtaining them were documented by the researcher. The lists were not formally analyzed, but they are reported with the findings from observations, interviews, and write-ups when relevant.

Accommodation Checklists

Each weekday throughout the Classroom Application and Ongoing Support stage, the participants electronically shared a list of the accommodations that they used that day with the researcher. An individualized list of accommodation options was pre-populated in an electronic form based on each one's IEP (Appendix L) so that they could check-off

the ones they used; an "Other" option was also available with a small text field to write in any accommodation used not already on the list. Additionally, the participants could check a box indicating that they did not attend school that day. A data collection platform that is accessible with speech output, screen magnification, and color contrast options was utilized to design the form and collect responses. Each participant's form was previewed with them at the end of Phase 3. They received an e-mail with the link to their form at designated times. Evan and Graham requested an e-mail at the beginning of each week, while Emily and James requested an e-mail each school day. Frequency data was collected from the accommodation checklists, both how many accommodations were used each day and how often each accommodation was used.

Submission of the accommodation checklists was not mandatory. Out of 39 school days included in Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, Emily submitted 28% of her checklists, Evan submitted 67%, Graham submitted 5%, and James submitted 100%.

SSA Use Write-Ups

The participants were asked to write briefly about one instance of classroom SSA use each week. This prompt and a text field were included in the electronic accommodation checklist form (see Appendix M) each Thursday. They were expected to include the class, the activity, what prompted them to apply the strategy, a description of their thoughts and actions as they applied each step, and the outcome of using the SSA. This structure was modeled for the participants during Phase 3. They were also asked to comment on the benefit or challenge of using the strategy in that instance. This exercise was intended to remind the participants to use the SSA in their classes, document strategy

performance, and identify benefits and/or challenges to using the strategy. These writeups were analyzed for themes along with observation notes and interview responses for each participant.

Like the accommodation checklists, the write-ups were not mandatory. The participants had the opportunity to complete eight write-ups. Emily submitted two of the write-ups possible, Evan and Graham did not submit any, and James submitted all eight. Social Validity Survey

All of the participants completed a social validity survey (Appendix N) verbally after finishing their Week 4 interviews. The survey used seven Likert scale-type items to ascertain the extent to which the SSA might benefit other students in special education, how beneficial they found it for themselves, and a self-assessment of how well they learned and used the strategy. Survey responses were reviewed for themes in addition to points that support or contradict observation, interview, and write-up findings and shared in conjunction to related findings.

Teacher Demographic Questionnaire

Each participating STEM and humanities teacher completed a demographic questionnaire (see Appendix O). Requested information included gender, age, race/ethnicity, degrees held, teacher licensure, years of teaching experience, prior experience working with individuals with visual impairments, and current course load. This information is used to describe the teachers involved in the study and the contexts in which the participants were observed.

Teacher Surveys

The one STEM and one humanities teacher per participant were asked to complete a pen-and-paper survey (see Appendix P), at Baseline and again during Week 4. The surveys addressed the participant's accommodation practices in the responding teacher's classes. Survey items were Likert scale-type, to address the extent to which each participant learns, achieves, and participates as well as how they handle challenges encountered in the class. Teacher participation allowed for triangulation of participantreported data and observed trace evidence of SSA use (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2007). The teacher survey responses were not formally analyzed but are reported to illustrate and comment on the findings from observations, interviews, and write-ups to which they relate.

Methodology

This study utilized a comparative case study approach (Creswell et al., 2003) situated within a sequential explanatory design (Hanson et al., 2008). A sequential explanatory design allows for quantitative and qualitative data to be collected in concert throughout the study, but analysis of the data occurs sequentially. Quantitative data was analyzed first to determine changes in accommodations knowledge and practices, in strategy learning and performance, and in metacognition and SRL. Then qualitative data was considered as an individual case because strategy instruction, learning, and application were expected to occur on unique trajectories, influenced by their individual disability and learning characteristics (Scanlon et al., in review). The individual cases were constructed by integrating findings from the analyses of quantitative and qualitative data

(Hanson et al., 2008). In line with comparative case study procedures (Creswell et al., 2003), the individual cases were then looked across for trends in accommodations practices, strategy learning and application, and implications.

Procedures

The study took place over 13 weeks. Following baseline, strategy instruction itself occurred in three phases, which was followed by eight weeks of classroom application with on-going support. Data collection began with the Baseline and concluded with "posttest" and social satisfaction measures at the end of Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. An overview of the procedures is presented in Table 4.

Stage	Weeks	Phase	Data
			Cum folder review
	1-3		Observations (x3)
Baseline			Interview
			Teacher surveys
			JrMAI
		Phase 1	
Stratogy Instruction	4-5	Phase 2	Activities list
Suategy instruction		Phase 3	Preferred accommodation list
			Interview
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
		Week 1	Observations
			Interview
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
		Week 2	Observations
			Interview
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
Classroom Application	6-13		Accommodation checklists (daily)
and Ongoing Support			SAP use write-up
und ongoing support		Week 3	Observations
			Interview
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
			Observations
			Interviews
		Week 4	l eacher surveys
			Social validity survey
			Accommodation checklists (daily)
			SAP use write-up
			JrMAI

Table 4. Summary of Study Procedures

Baseline

Prior to beginning strategy instruction, the researcher reviewed each participant's cumulative file for predetermined information, observed each participant three times in one STEM and one humanities class, and administered the abbreviated version of the

accommodations knowledge and skills interview and the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory*. Although the observations were intended to be completed in one week, inclement weather forced them to be conducted over three weeks. Teachers from those STEM and humanities classes were asked to complete surveys on each participant's accommodation practices.

Strategy Instruction

Phase 1: Foundational Knowledge. Phase 1 began within 7 days of Baseline. Strategy instruction began with Phase 1; it took each participant two class periods to complete. In meetings with the researcher, the participants learned about accommodations: what they are, who is eligible to receive them, and why students receive them. In addition to this general knowledge of accommodations, they learned about the respective accommodations they are permitted according to their IEPs. They were guided to consider the purpose of each of her/his accommodations and how/if it could be implemented in each core-content class. Active learning and student agency were also discussed.

In order to advance to Phase 2, each participant had to define accommodations and describe the purpose of at least two of their accommodations, including how they should be implemented in each core-content class. Responses were expected to be accurate based on predetermined definitions they were taught during Phase 1 instruction. All of the participants accurately provided this information without the need for prompting or review.

Phase 1 served two purposes: it laid the groundwork to ensure that the participants were willing and able to use the SSA, which aligned with the first stage in the SRSD

model (Graham & Harris, 1993). Discussing the purpose of accommodations, generally and specific to each participant, encouraged them to recognize the benefits of educational accommodations and the value of using them appropriately. These elements were essential for the participants to "buy-in" to learning and applying a strategy focused on accommodations (Ellis, Deshler, Lenz, Schumaker, & Clark, 1991). Additionally, the SSA could only be effective if the participants knew their accommodations and how to use them in different educational contexts. Because accommodations are a teacher-driven practice, students often lack this knowledge; it had to be made explicit.

Phase 2: Considering Context. Phase 2 occurred over three class periods for Evan and Graham, four for Emily, and five for James. The number of periods corresponded to how long it took for each participant to complete their activities lists. The first topic was preparation for class. The participants discussed reasons to get to class before the bell rings (e.g., I will be ready to start on time, I can "read the room," I can check that I have everything I need, I can touch base with the teacher, I can visit with my friends). They also listed the materials that they need to take to each class and explained their systems for remembering to bring the necessary materials. Next, the participants learned to "read the room" to anticipate accommodation needs. They were encouraged to ask themselves, when they arrive to a class, "How can I know what we are doing today, and how will I access that information?" Then, the participants engaged in an exercise related to class activities. First, for each core-content class, they listed the activities typically encountered (e.g., lecture, lab, group project, independent work) and discussed the following for each activity: What should I do (e.g., take-notes, discuss, write, read, calculate)? How should I think (e.g., problem-solve, draw on prior learning, critically
consider)? What is the product (e.g., notes, essay, completed worksheet)? Second, they identified the most common activities for each core-content class and documented their role(s) (responses to the "what should I do?" question), their strengths, and skills to improve for each.

In order to advance to Phase 3, the participants had to independently describe and give an example of how to read the room, explain deviations to classroom routines that impact arrival/preparation, and note one activity for each class, including their role, the expected thought process, the product, their strengths, and areas of improvement. All four participants were able to provide the requested information without the need for prompting or further instruction.

As with Phase 1, Phase 2 corresponded to Developing Prerequisite Skills and Knowledge in Graham and Harris's (1993) SRSD model. It was based on the fact that accommodations use does not happen in a vacuum. The participants were taught to be prepared to use their accommodations by bringing the tangible accommodations to class and by previewing class activities to anticipate accommodation needs. Phase 2 explicitly discussed that preparation for and activities in each class will differ. Additionally, Phase 2 fostered metacognition and self-regulated learning. When the participants asked themselves, "How can I know what we are doing today, and how will I access that information?" and "How should I think during this activity?," they were engaging in metacognition. Similarly, having them consider their roles, strengths, and areas of improvement during the intervention, including how to act on those, encouraged them to be mindful of these points in the classroom, which is part of self-regulated learning.

Phase 3: The Strategy. Phase 3 took place over three class periods for James and Emily, four for Graham, and five for Evan. Instruction in Phase 3 continued the SRSD model (Graham & Harris, 1993). During the early Phase 3 sessions, the participants discussed their preferred accommodations for each core-content class and how to obtain those accommodations, which was documented by the researcher. Then, they were introduced to and began to learn the strategy. The participants did not like the name Student Self-Accommodation Strategy nor SSA, so when Evan suggested that they call it the Student Accommodation Protocol-or SAP-the other participants agreed. Changes such as this are not only allowed, but encouraged by SRSD (Graham & Harris, 1993). Because this decision was made upon introduction of the strategy, all strategy learning took place under the new name. Consequently, the strategy will be referred to as the SAP for the duration of this dissertation. The SAP, presented graphically in Figure 1, has five steps: 1) Ask myself, "Do I need an accommodation?" (the participants were taught that the answer might be "no"). 2) Tell myself what I need and why (they were instructed in this step to think of two accommodation options to meet the need, select one, and think intentionally about why it is the better choice, or if only one accommodation is appropriate, students should explain to themselves why it is the appropriate choice). 3) State how I will get the help I need. 4) Get what I need. 5) Ask myself, "Am I doing this right? Is this working?" (the participants were instructed to consider their role and/or product for the activity in determining the answer; if they answered "no," they should try to course correct on their own or ask for help). The strategy was introduced to the participants with a split first step: 1a initiated the strategy at the beginning of an activity and 1b initiated it in the middle of an activity. Similarly to the title change, in line with

the SRSD model, the participants agreed that a split first step was too cumbersome for recall and that they already knew that an accommodation could be implemented at any point in an activity. They opted to condense the split first step into one step and learned the strategy this way. In addition to describing the SAP itself, the researcher and participants discussed the purpose and benefits of the strategy as well as when or where to use it (SRSD stage 2). Furthermore, the researcher modeled using the SAP by thinking aloud (SRSD stage 3).

During later sessions, the participants memorized the SAP steps, in line with stage 4 of SRSD, through repeated rehearsal with the researcher and independent practice from an electronic version of the SAP that was e-mailed to them. The participants also practiced strategy application (stage 5); the researcher presented each participant with scenarios based on their activities lists and preferred accommodations. As recommended by Graham and Harris, strategy application was initially heavily guided by the researcher, but this support faded over time. The knowledge and skills from Phases 1 and 2 were revisited over the course of Phase 3 by way of occasional review questions (e.g., What is the definition of accommodations?, What does it mean to read the room?). Phase 3 concluded with administering the accommodations knowledge and skills interview and previewing each participant's form for the accommodation checklist and SAP write-up.

Phase 3 not only directly taught the SAP, it also reinforced and encouraged reflection on previous learning. The exercise focusing on preferred accommodations and how to acquire them continued to shift accommodations from a teacher-driven to a student-driven practice. Accommodations are selected in IEP meetings often without input from the student, and students are often not well-informed about them. Lists of

individual accommodations on an IEP may contain many more accommodations than the student will actually use. This was the case for all of the participants, so narrowing the list to preferred accommodations helps them build effectiveness with key ones. Additionally, the participants assumed a more active role in acquiring accommodations rather than being passive recipients. Phase 3 continued to incorporate elements of metacognition (e.g., step 3—state how to get the help I need) and self-regulation (e.g., in step 5—consider my role and/or the intended product).

Classroom Application and Ongoing Support

Classroom application was the final stage of the intervention, which corresponded to the final step in SRSD of Independent Performance. After Phase 3, the participants set a goal of using the SAP twice in each core-content class every day. They were asked to submit a checklist of the accommodations used each school day throughout this stage of the study. Once a week, along with submitting their accommodations checklist, they were asked to briefly write about one experience of using the SAP during that week. The participants were instructed to state the class and context, their thought process in completing the SAP (which mirrored the way that the strategy was practiced in Phase 3), and benefits and/or challenges of using the SAP in that situation. Every two weeks over eight weeks (i.e., Weeks 1-4), the researcher observed the participants in one STEM and one humanities class each. Also, the participants and researcher met individually to complete a variation of the accommodations knowledge and skills interview and then to review and practice the SAP. After finishing the interview at Week 4, they completed the Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory again and the social validity survey. Also, the teachers repeated the survey on each participant's accommodation practices.

Figure 1. The Student Accommodation Protocol

Ask myself, "Do I need an accommodation?"

Before I start an activity, do I know I will need help?

Am I facing a challenge that an accommodation could help overcome?

Pick the best accommodation.

Think of two options and why they would work. Tell myself why one is better.



State how to get the help I need.

Can I get it myself? Do I need to ask someone else? Remember the Preferred Accommodations List.

Get what I need.

Use accommodation or ask for help.



Ask myself, "Am I doing this right? Is this working?"

Consider my role or product for the activity.

If "no," try to course correct or ask for help.

Chapter 4: Findings

Findings are presented in cases for each participant. Each case documents a participant's accommodation and strategy practices as they relate to the purpose of the SAP. The organization within each case corresponds to the topics of the six research questions presented in Chapter 2: accommodations knowledge, strategy learning and performance, accommodation practices, influencing factors, metacognition and self-regulated learning, and strategy effectiveness. A cross-case analysis follows the individual cases.

Emily

Accommodations Knowledge

Emily's responses to interview items addressing accommodations knowledge indicate that she improved in some areas but not in all areas. Specifically, Emily never improved her understanding of the definition of accommodations. She always received a score of *inaccurate*, her definitions were all similar to her response on the Week 2 interview: "something someone with a disability gets." In contrast, Emily did develop a better understanding of the purpose of accommodations. At Baseline and Pretest, she acknowledged that accommodations support learning (*adequate*), and beginning in Week 1, she made connections between accommodations and disability-based needs (*accurate*). Emily knew, even during the Baseline interview, that individuals with disabilities were eligible to receive accommodations. Additionally, Emily increased her recall of her IEP accommodations. She could only name two accommodations at Baseline out of the thirty-four on her IEP, but she was able to list eleven on the Week 4 interview.

Strategy Learning and Performance

Strategy recall. Emily's ability to recall the SAP steps was highly discrepant. On the Pretest interview, shortly after memorizing the strategy, she was able to name all of the steps. However, during Weeks 1-3, she could not name any of the steps, nor would she attempt to do so. Her responses were something to the effect of "I honestly have no idea" (Week 3). At the end of the Week 3 interview, Emily admitted to having closed the e-mail account to which the strategy had been e-mailed for her to practice, and she asked that the steps be sent to her new e-mail so that she could review them. This was beneficial because Emily named 4 of the 5 steps on the Week 4 interview. This indicates that Emily needs review of the strategy to maintain recall. On the social satisfaction survey, Emily expressed that the SAP was *not easy but not hard* to learn and that she learned it *fairly well*.

Comprehension. On a general level, Emily understood that the SAP would help her advance educationally. More specifically, she focused on the strategy to support troubleshooting rather than initial selection and use of accommodations. When asked, "What does it mean to be strategic in using your accommodations?," Emily's answer at Week 4 echoed her previous responses: "Going outside the lines, if one [accommodation] does not work, try another." She never made reference to being strategic in selecting or using accommodations.

Performance. Emily's ability to perform the SAP varied across the steps of the strategy and across interviews. When given an open prompt to apply the SAP to a hypothetical scenario, "what would you do in this situation?", she did not attempt a response at Pretest, Week 3, or Week 4, stating each time "I have no idea". On the Week

1 and 2 interviews, her answers were *adequate* but not *accurate* because she focused on troubleshooting if the hypothetical accommodation did not work rather than on the process of selecting an accommodation for the hypothetical task. For example, at Week 2, Emily was told that one of her accommodations is to use a camera to take pictures of board work that can be magnified or transcribed later. Her response to applying the SAP was

we will try to take the pictures on your camera if you can, but if I cannot then ask someone else to take one like on their phone and then have them send it to you. Then you can blow it up on your device.

In this example, Emily did not consider if an accommodation was needed for the task (step 1) nor did she think of accommodation options to select the most appropriate one (step 2) before implementing an accommodation.

Emily's performance in determining if an accommodation was needed (step 1) for a given activity also varied. She gave two *accurate* answers that explicitly linked the need for the accommodation to its stated purpose (Pretest, Week 4). Most of her responses, however, were *adequate* due to making non-specific references to context dependence and/or inquiring of others when information had been provided so that she could make the decision herself (Pretest, Week 1(x2), Weeks 2-3). Emily also provided three *inaccurate* answers that did not take into account the purpose of the accommodation (Weeks 2-4). When asked to think of multiple accommodation options (step 2), Emily struggled to come up with more than one idea. Emily did excell in troubleshooting (step 5). On each interview, one of the items asked the participant what he or she would do if they forgot the accommodation that they needed. Emily's responses were consistently

accurate. For example, at Pretest, if Emily forgot the headphones she needed to listen to descriptive audio for a film, her suggested solution was to "maybe watch the video another time and not do it in class, and if [I] have other homework for different classes, [I] could do it then." In contrast, Emily demonstrated poor performance with evaluating the effectiveness of a chosen accommodation (step 5). Her responses to these items were always rated *inaccurate* for insisting on asking her teacher rather than making the determination herself. Field notes during strategy instruction also indicated that this was a challenge for Emily. She tended to be unsure of how to tell if an accommodation was working and would often say something to the effect of "I usually do well with this, so it works." Emily self-reported that she could perform the strategy *fairly well* on all interviews except Week 2, when she asserted that she could perform it *extremely well*.

Trace evidence from observations and the SAP write-ups indicate that Emily attempted to apply the strategy, to some extent, in her classes. Figure 2 presents observation data that indicate trace evidence of strategy application in Emily's STEM and humanities classes: the number of accommodation needs, the number of times that Emily signaled an accommodation need, the number of active student signals, the number of accommodations that Emily provided, and the number of accommodations that she used appropriately.

Figure 2. Trace evidence of classroom application, Emily



Emily demonstrated an increase in student signals from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support in STEM but a decrease in humanities. In STEM, active signaling relative to student signals took an initial drop after strategy instruction but climbed steadily through Weeks 3 and 4, which both had higher rates of active signaling than Emily demonstrated in Baseline. When she signaled in humanities, however, the proportion of active signals decreased after strategy instruction, with no active signals evident in Weeks 1 through 3. These trends indicate that when Emily signaled, she was becoming more proactive in seeking accommodations in STEM but less proactive in humanities. Emily never provided many of her own accommodations in STEM, but her rates of provision during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support were higher than the rates observed during Baseline. Not only did Emily become more proactive in requesting accommodations. Although her provision was variable in humanities, her rate relative to the number of accommodation needs was within the range of Baseline for Weeks 1 and 3 and notably higher in Weeks 2 and 4. In Week 4, Emily provided more than half of her accommodations, Emily did take more responsibility for providing her own accommodations after learning the SAP.

With the exception of Week 1, Emily used at least 80% of her STEM accommodations appropriately; however, her rate of appropriate use relative to her number of accommodation needs was lower at all points after strategy instruction than before. Conversely, she experienced an increase in appropriate use in humanities during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, with Weeks 2 and 3 showing 100% appropriate use. Overall, Emily used her accommodations well, but instances of inappropriate use were associated with emotional and behavioral dysregulation.

Emily's self-reports of strategy application corroborate observed trace evidence that she was using the SAP to some extent in her classes. She reported on the social

satisfaction survey that she used the SAP in her classes *most of the time*. On two of the interviews (Weeks 2 and 4), Emily described using the strategy in her physics class. When she was prompted to or realized that she needed to take notes, she used her laptop to do so, and she was able to justify why taking notes on her laptop was a valuable practice. Similarly, Emily submitted three SAP use write-ups, and while none of them documented full explanations of the strategy steps, they did demonstrate advocacy, preparedness, and independent use of accommodations. The write-ups also recounted a greater variety of accommodations used than the interviews, including her iPhone, the calculator on her iPhone, breaks, and the laptop.

Accommodation Practices

Data on accommodation practices reveal that Emily experienced some changes in the rate and type of accommodations that she needed in addition to increasing her advocacy for those accommodations. Furthermore, her teachers reported slight improvements in accommodation use, engagement, and learning after strategy instruction.

Rate of need. Emily demonstrated variable changes in the average number of accommodation needs per task after strategy instruction based on observations. Across the three Baseline observations, she used an average of 1.17 accommodations per task in STEM. There was a large increase in the number of accommodations she needed per task immediately after strategy instruction, with a steady decline in Weeks 2 through 4. On average, Emily needed 5.92 accommodations per task during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support STEM observations. In contrast, Emily's rate of accommodations per task decreased in humanities. Before strategy instruction, she used approximately 3.64

accommodations per task, but after she needed an average of 1.30 accommodations for each task. Figure 3 shows the number of tasks and number of accommodation needs that Emily experienced during each observation in STEM and humanities.

Figure 3. Tasks and accommodation needs, Emily





Type of accommodations. During observations, Emily demonstrated some noticeable changes in the types of accommodations she used before and after strategy

instruction. Accommodations for content support and anxiety were used more offen in Classroom Application and Ongoing Support than in Baseline, while language support and sensory accommodations were used less offen. Other categories of accommodations were observed with consistency. The accommodations that Emily used most offen differed before and after strategy instruction as well. Access accommodations (e.g., large print, electronic materials) were most prevalent during Baseline observations, but content support was the most offen used accommodation category in Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. In addition to shifts in the types of accommodations that she used, Emily was observed to replace more passive accommodations with more active ones after strategy instruction. For example, during Baseline, Emily would typically listen as her humanities teacher read aloud from a novel, but during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, Emily would read along with a digital version of the novel while her teacher read aloud. According to the humanities teacher, Emily took the initiative to download and read from the digital book.

Emily's accommodation checklists and her preferred accommodations lists echo the observed accommodations with one noticeable exception: clarifying directions. This was the most common accommodation that Emily reported using on her accommodation checklists, and she expressed it as a preferred accommodation for Algebra I and physics. However, it was only observed once. One possible explanation for this discrepancy is that Emily may have operationalized clarifying directions to include support on individual problems in STEM classes. For example, if her Algebra I teacher supported her in the steps of solving a particular problem, Emily might have considered that to be clarifying

directions; whereas, that exchange would have been documented as content support by the observer.

Advocacy. As mentioned previously, Emily did not use the SAP in full in her classes, but one outcome of learning the strategy was that Emily more often advocated for her accommodation needs. Not only was this documented through self-reports, it was also observed. One notable instance of advocacy occurred during a humanities observation when the teacher asked Emily about her preferred font size for printing a document. Emily asked instead that the teacher e-mail the document to her so that she could adjust the size herself and word process within the document. While advocacy improved for Emily after strategy instruction, this illustration also demonstrated that she was not applying the strategy comprehensively. Once the teacher e-mailed the document, Emily remembered that she had been having trouble opening e-mail attachments on her laptop. Thus, she did not select an appropriate accommodation for that situation.

Engagement. Teacher surveys provided additional information about Emily's accommodation practices in STEM and humanities in addition to engagement and learning. Emily's humanities teacher reported that she improved slightly in seeking assistance when faced with a challenge and attempting to meet the challenge herself, but this was never a strength for her. On both items, the teacher expressed that she *seldom* did these at Baseline and improved slightly to doing them *a little bit less than peers* by Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. Emily's STEM teacher reported no change in these domains, asserting that she sought assistance from others *a little bit more than peers*, but she attempted to meet challenges herself *a little bit less than peers*. Both teachers reported that Emily's learning was *a little below average* on the pre- and post-

surveys. They also agreed that Emily made small improvements in achievement (*a little below average* to *about average*) and participation (*a little bit less than peers* to *about the same as peers*) after strategy instruction. In general, classroom engagement and learning did not come easily to Emily, but her teachers recognized slight improvements after learning and attempting to apply the SAP in their classes.

Influencing Factors

Several factors, including within-student and environmental factors, impacted Emily's ability to learn and use the SAP. Some factors seemed to facilitate strategy use while others seemed to hinder it.

Within-student factors. According to a review of Emily's cumulative folder, her verbal comprehension abilities are in the borderline range, reasoning is extremely low, and working memory is average. Lower verbal and reasoning skills may explain why some components of the SAP challenged Emily, such as conceiving multiple options and evaluating the effectiveness of a selected accommodation. Additionally, average working memory skills align with Emily's ability to memorize the strategy during instruction but to quickly forget it without consistent review. For the semester prior to the study, Emily earned a C+ in English and a B in Algebra I, which were the classes in which she was observed. These grades indicate that she was advancing and achieving in these content areas, but engagement and learning had room to improve with strategy use.

In addition to cognitive skills and class performance, Emily's strategy learning and performance and her accommodations practices were affected by emotionalbehavioral dysregulation and unrealistic perceptions of her experiences, both of which relate to her Bardet-Beidl syndrome according to her humanities teacher. The humanities

and STEM teachers agreed that Emily demonstrates anxiety and emotional variability within and across days that made her classroom performance fluctuate. This assertion was supported by observation data. On "good days," Emily was punctual, focused, engaged, and compliant, and these days corresponded to advocacy, independent provision of accommodations, and appropriate use of accommodations during observations. However, on "bad days," Emily arrived late to class and/or excused herself from class to speak with a counselor. Additionally, her accommodation needs were more likely to be signaled in a passive way (e.g., putting her head down on her desk instead of asking for help on a math problem), they were less likely to be self-provided, and she was less likely to use accommodations appropriately. In general, "good days" corresponded to strategy use while "bad days" did not. Furthermore, Emily's humanities teacher and a member of the dormitory staff reported that Emily tends to exhibit unrealistic expectations, perceptions, and self-assessments. This tendency may have hindered Emily's ability to monitor strategy performance, resulting in incomplete use of the strategy. It also may have directly affected her ability to perform SAP step 5, which involved evaluating the effectiveness of a selected accommodation.

Finally, on the interviews and SAP use write-ups, Emily exhibited an overreliance on others to provide information and supplies. For example, on the Week 4 interview, one item asked Emily how she would decide if she should use the given accommodation in the future, and she responded, "I would pull the teacher aside and ask [him/her] if I will need [the accommodation] for future assignments or not." This dependence on others likely contributes to Emily attending to some aspects of the SAP more than others.

Environmental factors. In STEM, Emily experienced several accommodation needs for which accommodations were not provided. Based on teacher comments during the observation, he intentionally did not provide some accommodations in an attempt to force Emily to take more responsibility for providing her own accommodations. Others were temporarily not provided in instances when Emily signaled for an accommodation while the teacher was working with another student. Typically, under this circumstance, Emily would wait to re-signal when the teacher finished with the other student rather than provide her own accommodation. While neither of these situations prompted Emily to utilize the SAP in full, they did foster some advocacy and responsibility regarding accommodations use.

Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning

In general, Emily did not exhibit changes to metacognition or self-regulated learning (SRL) after strategy instruction; however, data did reveal metacognitive knowledge and reinforce Emily's challenge with evaluation. Emily's pre-/post- responses to the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* (Sperling et al., 2002) varied such that there was no obvious pattern of change; her scores are presented in Table 5. Procedural knowledge, planning, and monitoring showed variable changes, meaning that one item in those domains increased while the other decreased or one item received a consistent score while the other increased or decreased. Emily reported slight to moderate decreases in declarative knowledge and information management. Scores for conditional knowledge improved somewhat, and scores for evaluation remained consistent. Ratings on the teacher surveys support that Emily's metacognition did not change after strategy instruction. Her teachers reported on items related to declarative knowledge (i.e.,

awareness of expectations) and procedural knowledge (i.e., proficiency in a range of skills). The humanities teacher rated her skill in both domains as *a little bit less than peers* on both the pre- and post- surveys. Emily's STEM teacher gave the same rating on both surveys for proficiency in a range of skills, but he noted a slight decrease in knowing expectations (*a little bit more than peers* to *about average*).

Item	Pre- Response	Post- Response
1	Always	Sometimes
4	Always	Always
12	Often	Seldom
3	Never	Sometimes
16	Often	Sometimes
2	Sometimes	Often
5	Always	Always
13	Often	Often
14	Often	Always
9	Sometimes	Often
18	Always	Sometimes
6	Never	Never
11	Always	Often
8	Always	Often
10	Sometimes	Always
15	Sometimes	Often
7	Sometimes	Sometimes
17	Always	Always
	Item 1 4 12 3 16 2 5 13 14 9 18 6 11 8 10 15 7 17	ItemPre- Response1Always4Always12Often3Never16Often2Sometimes5Always13Often14Often9Sometimes18Always6Never11Always8Always10Sometimes15Sometimes7Sometimes17Always

 Table 5. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, Emily

Emily did not demonstrate a strength in any of the metacognitive or SRL domains on the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory*. This may be related to teacher reports that her ability to self-assess is unreliable because she demonstrated metacognitive knowledge on other data sources. Emily exhibited declarative knowledge on interviews by explaining that she does not perform well on tests and quizzes in physics, which impacts how she takes notes and studies. She also demonstrated conditional knowledge generally by knowing that each accommodation is not appropriate for all circumstances and specifically by equating notetaking tasks with needing her laptop. Emily also exhibited conditional knowledge on the SAP use write-ups by describing how she asked for breaks at appropriate times in addition to demonstrating procedural knowledge by explaining how she used one of her accommodations to accomplish a task.

In contrast, the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* indicated that evaluation is a challenge for Emily. This supports field notes from strategy instruction and interview data that demonstrate her struggles to determine if a selected accommodation was effective in helping to accomplish a task. Most often on the interviews, Emily would defer to her teacher to make that evaluation. For example, on the Week 1 interview, Emily said, "You can ask your teacher at the end and say, 'Is this a good idea for me for using my [accommodation] in the future?'."

Strategy Effectiveness

Emily's perception of the effectiveness of the SAP improved over time according to the interviews. In response to a question inquiring about how helpful the SAP was for her taking responsibility for her accommodations, she claimed that it was *a little helpful* at Pretest, *usually helpful* during Weeks 1 through 3, and *very helpful* on the Week 4 interview. Her opinion improved as she gained familiarity with and used the strategy. Another item on the interviews asked Emily why students should use the SAP. She expressed that the SAP promoted independence (Pretest) and improved education and learning (Pretest-Week 4). Her responses were consistent and general but nonetheless evidenced valuing the strategy. On the social satisfaction survey, Emily asserted that the SAP would be *often helpful* for students receiving special education services and that the strategy would *radically* change how well she used accommodations in her classes.

Overall, Emily found the SAP beneficial, and this encouraged her to continue using the strategy in her classes.

Summary

Emily's trajectories for accommodation and strategy learning and use were characterized by inconsistency. She improved in some areas of accommodations knowledge but not all, she excelled in some aspects of the strategy such as troubleshooting but struggled with others, and she demonstrated some metacognitive knowledge but did not develop SRL skills. Overall, she was willing to capitalize on the skills and knowledge that she did have to apply the SAP—at least in part—in her classes with the intention of becoming more responsible and independent. Ultimately, Emily was in the process of becoming more strategic in selecting and utilizing her accommodations, but she needed more time and focused support to do so comprehensively.

Evan

Accommodations Knowledge

Evan's interview responses demonstrate that he improved his knowledge of accommodations following initial instruction. This trend began with his understanding of the definition of accommodations. On the Baseline and Pretest interviews, he *adequately* defined an accommodation as something that is helpful, while in Weeks 1 through 4, his definitions were scored as *accurate* for explaining that an accommodation is a small change in how education is provided or how a student participates in their education "without drastically modifying it" (Week 2). Evan's knowledge of the purpose of accommodations also improved from an *inaccurate* understanding at Baseline. His responses on the Classroom Application and Ongoing Support interviews varied between

adequate and *accurate*. He consistently acknowledged that accommodations allow for equity in education (*adequate*), but he only connected needs for equity with disabilities (*accurate*) on some of the interviews. From the beginning of the study, Evan knew that accommodations are afforded to students with disabilities. Additionally, he demonstrated increased recall of his own accommodations. During the Baseline interview he could name four of his fifteen, he listed seven on the Pretest interview, and Weeks 1 through 4 ranged from nine (Week 4) to thirteen (Week 2).

Strategy Learning and Performance

Strategy recall. Evan excelled in recalling the strategy steps. In line with the SRSD model provision that allows for student modification of strategies (Graham & Harris, 1993), he opted to omit the step that prompted him to consider how to obtain his accommodation, considering it unnecessary, because his accommodations were usually on his person. Evan was able to recall the steps early during strategy instruction (excluding that step), and he maintained this ability throughout the interviews. Evan explained all of the steps using paraphrasing at Pretest and Weeks 2 through 4. His only mistake with recall occurred during the Week 1 interview when he described steps 1 and 2 both with the actual step 2 (i.e., he said step 2 twice). Evan confirmed his strength with recall on the social satisfaction survey by reporting that the strategy was *very easy* to learn and that he *learned it fully*.

Comprehension. Evan understood the procedures and purpose of the SAP to think explicitly through his accommodation needs. However, his ability to implement this understanding was inconsistent in that he sometimes applied the strategy to a task rather than an accommodation. This happened a few times during strategy instruction, at which

point Evan was prompted to use the SAP to think about his accommodation needs. Application of the SAP to a task was also evident on the Week 3 interview. The hypothetical scenario for this interview was that Evan could use a place marker to make copying from a book more efficient. Rather than start with the task (i.e., copying) and conceiving multiple accommodation options, Evan started with the accommodation (i.e., a place marker) and thought through multiple tasks on which that accommodation could be used.

Performance. There was a discrepancy for Evan between performance of the strategy on interviews and in-class. During the interviews, he demonstrated variable performance when given a broad prompt to apply the SAP to a hypothetical scenario ("how would you use the SAP in that situation?"). Evan's responses were accurate in Weeks 1 and 2 when he talked through all of the steps to select and implement an accommodation for that scenario. At Week 4, he received a score of adequate for using an incomplete strategy to think through the situation, but on the Pretest and Week 3 interviews, he *inaccurately* responded to the prompt by straying from the given accommodation or focusing on the task rather than the accommodation. Evan's performance in determining if an accommodation was needed (step 1) was also variable because, in some instances, he did not heed the given purpose of his hypothetical accommodation. Considering accommodation options (step 2) and troubleshooting (step 5) were areas of strength on all of his interviews. Evaluating the effectiveness of his selected accommodation (step 5) improved over time. At Pretest, Evan asserted that his teacher would be the one to determine if the hypothetical accommodation was effective, and in Weeks 1 and 2, he took responsibility for evaluating effectiveness but used vague criteria. Both of these responses were considered *adequate*. On the interviews for Weeks 3 and 4, Evan not only acknowledged that he would be the one to determine if the accommodation he selected was effective, he also provided specific criteria for making that judgement that was linked to the hypothetical task that the accommodation would help him accomplish. At the end of each interview, Evan consistently self-assessed that he could perform the strategy *extremely well*.

Although Evan's responses to interview questions indicated that he could recall, comprehend, and perform the SAP, observations did not provide trace evidence that he was performing the strategy in his classes. Evan supported this finding with consistent reports that he was not implementing the strategy in class or that he was unaware if he was using it. Figure 4 displays observation data that indicate trace evidence of strategy application in Evan's STEM and humanities classes: the number of accommodation need, the number of active student signals, the number of accommodations that Evan provided, and the number of accommodations that he used appropriately.



Figure 4. Trace evidence of classroom application, Evan

There is no obvious pattern of change to the frequency of student signals relative to the number of accommodation needs across observations. The same is true for frequency of active signals relative to the number of student signals. In STEM, less than or precisely half of Evan's signals for an accommodation need were active signals with the exception of Week 3. Four of the seven observations in humanities did not yield any

signaling by Evan, while during the Baseline 2 and Week 2 observations, all of Evan's signals were active. Considered together, the lack of consistent changes to student signaling, and specifically active signaling, indicate that Evan did not become more proactive in seeking accommodations. Evan's rate of accommodation provision relative to need increased slightly in STEM from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support; however, with the exception of Week 3, his provision rate was below 50%. In contrast, Evan did not demonstrate any improvement in accommodation provision in humanities, but he provided at least half of his own accommodations during each observation, except for Week 2 when only one accommodation was needed. Evan's accommodation provision seems contingent upon context, but neither context experienced a change in provision sufficient to demonstrate strategy use. Additionally, Evan appropriately used most of his accommodations throughout the study. Discrepancies between accommodation needs and appropriate use can be attributed to either an accommodation need going unfulfilled or an inability of the observer to determine whether an accommodation was effectively utilized.

Evan directly addressed the disconnect between strategy performance on interviews and in classes. He consistently reported during interviews that he had not implemented SAP in his classes—or at least he was unaware of employing the strategy because he was so familiar with accommodation needs and practices that the process of selecting and utilizing an accommodation was more intuitive than explicit to him. On the Week 3 interview, Evan said,

I may not even realize I am using it...therefore, it does not stay in my mind that it is actually a strategy. Also...sometimes I will come to a decision so fast, like it is not even a consideration it is more or less what comes naturally.

The social satisfaction survey asked Evan if he had any suggestions for improving the SAP, and his response further emphasized this point. He recommended in-class coaching to draw students' attention to times when they are using the strategy without realizing it.

Accommodation Practices

Data sources addressing Evan's accommodation practices show that his accommodation use did not change considerably throughout the study, but he was more likely to advocate for accommodations after strategy instruction. Additionally, Evan demonstrated improvement in or consistently high classroom engagement based on accommodation practices.

Rate of need. Evan experienced variable changes in the average number of accommodation needs per task from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support according to observation data. In STEM, Evan needed an average of two accommodations per task prior to learning the SAP and an average of 3.625 accommodations after strategy instruction. Conversely, the average decreased in humanities from 3.94 accommodations per task to 2.5. Figure 5 shows the number of tasks and number of accommodation needs that Evan experienced during each observation in STEM and humanities.

Figure 5. Tasks and accommodation needs, Evan

Β1

Β2



Type of accommodations. Despite variation in his rate of accommodation needs, the accommodations that Evan used remained consistent throughout the study. Evan's observations, preferred accommodations list, and accommodations checklists were in agreement regarding his most commonly-used accommodations. Based on observations, Evan utilized individual categories of accommodations (e.g., access accommodations,

W1

Observation

Accommodation Needs

W2

W3

W4

Β3

Tasks

problem solving support) at similar rates before and after strategy instruction, indicating that strategy instruction did not change how he engaged in his classes. Categories without similar rates were evidenced only once each, exclusively in Baseline (i.e., experiential learning, cuing back to task, repetition and practice) or Classroom Application and Ongoing Support (i.e., processing time, breaks, emotional support, behavioral support). He used access accommodations (e.g., notetaker, braille, electronic materials) the most, accounting for 56.9% of all accommodations observed. The second most common type of accommodations for Evan was content support, which represented 15.4% of observed accommodations.

According to Evan's accommodations checklists, he reported using his cane, electronic notetaker, and braille materials most often during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. The electronic notetaker and braille materials were included on Evan's preferred accommodations list and were frequently observed as part of the access accommodations category. Evan's cane was not documented on observations nor his preferred accommodations list because these two data sources were limited to class time, unlike the accommodations checklist which was open to use at any point during the school day. He did not use his cane during class time because he was moving only short distances, if at all, in a highly familiar environment; however, he always used his cane between classes to navigate from place-to-place. Evan also listed the calculator on his notetaker as a preferred accommodation, but it was not often observed nor was it ever reported on his accommodations checklists. This discrepancy is likely based on two factors. First, most of the observed time in Evan's math class focused on concepts more than computation. Second, the pre-populated option on Evan's accommodations checklist

was "talking calculator" per his IEP, and Evan may have interpreted this as the standalone calculator available in his math class instead of the one on his electronic notetaker.

Advocacy. Although Evan did not demonstrate changes in the accommodations that he used before and after learning the SAP, he did engage in more advocacy regarding his accommodations. While advocacy did not occur frequently enough to describe a trend, it was observed multiple times after strategy instruction but never before. One example of advocacy occurred during his Week 1 STEM observation. Evan's math teacher recommended that he take notes on his electronic notetaker; however, he preferred to take notes on his mechanical braillewriter. Evan justified this preference by explaining that the notetaker was not compatible with Nemeth (i.e., the braille code for science and mathematics), but the braillewriter would allow him to effectively use Nemeth and spatially format practice problems if those would be incorporated in his notes. This justification persuaded his teacher to let him use the braillewriter.

Engagement. Teacher surveys were used to inquire about Evan's accommodation practices in STEM and humanities as well as his resulting engagement and learning. Evan's STEM and humanities teachers reported improvements in his willingness to seek assistance and to meet challenges himself when struggling in class. These correspond to advocacy and provision of accommodations, respectively. The STEM teacher expressed that Evan sought assistance from others *a little bit more than peers* at Baseline but improved to *often* by the end of the study. She also claimed that he attempted to meet challenges himself *often* at Baseline and then *almost always* during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. Similarly, Evan's humanities teacher reported gains from *a little bit less than peers* to *a little bit more than peers* for seeking assistance and

from *a little bit less than peers* to *often* for attempting to meet challenges himself. The two teachers also reported on the outcomes of Evan's changes in accommodation practices in the domains of learning, achievement, and participation. Surprisingly, Evan's STEM teacher noted slight declines in learning (*very well* to *a little above average*) and participation (*almost always* to *often*) and stability in achieving (*very well*); although, all of her ratings were positive. In humanities, Evan improved in learning from *a little bit above average* at Baseline to *among the best* and in achieving from *a little bit above average* to *very well*. He remained consistent in participation with a teacher rating of *almost always*. Overall, Evan's teachers reported that he engaged well in their classes whether or not improvement was noted.

Influencing Factors

Several within-student and environmental factors impacted Evan's strategy learning and performance and his accommodation practices. In general, these factors facilitated strategy learning but impeded strategy application.

Within-student factors. Evan demonstrates above average verbal, working memory, and reasoning skills according to a review of his cumulative folder. These domains are all beneficial for comprehension and performance of the SAP. Evan also earned A's in STEM and humanities during the semester prior to the study, which indicated that he was adept in these subjects and did not need a substantial change in accommodations practices.

Evan also exhibited a strong sense of independence, which aligns with the purpose of the SAP. On the interviews, Evan was clear that decisions regarding accommodations are his to make. For example, at Week 4, he was asked what he would

do in a hypothetical situation in which his teacher said that he would not need a particular accommodation that day but then engaged in an activity for which he needed it. Evan responded,

I am the one who decides whether or not I need my accommodation. I do not need my teacher telling me what I do not need and what I do need...I can make the

decision to bring my accommodations and use or not use them. In addition to independently making decisions regarding his accommodations, Evan prioritized independent use of accommodations. He noted several times on the interview how he took the initiative for implementing several accommodations in his classes. Additionally, on the hypothetical scenarios, Evan's first choice out of multiple accommodation options was the one that he could implement himself.

According to Evan's humanities teacher, he experienced a substantial loss of vision during the school year prior to the study, which resulted in more emotional challenges than he previously demonstrated. His STEM teacher further explained that these emotional difficulties could be a stumbling block in class. Evan exhibited some emotional variability during strategy instruction, but in these instances, he was able to pull himself together if given a little time. For example, Evan arrived to one of our instructional sessions extremely agitated and angry at himself for accidentally deleting a personal document on his electronic notetaker. I offered him some time to collect himself, and after a few minutes, he calmed down and indicated that he was ready to start working. Thus, these emotional challenges did not influence strategy learning or understanding, but they impeded classroom performance and accommodations practices on occasion. This was particularly noticeable during the Week 2 STEM observation,

when Evan arrived to math class clearly upset and agitated. During this period, the teacher encouraged Evan to take a few breaks to calm himself, which meant that Evan was not advocating for his own accommodation needs and that he was not participating in class consistently. Additionally, Evan was more argumentative with his teacher and more resistant to work than had previously been observed.

Environmental factors. Observation data revealed moderate to high rates of *no signals*, meaning no indication of a need before the accommodation was put into effect. Figure 6 presents the number of *no signals* compared to the number of accommodation needs per observation in each setting. *No signals* accounted for 38.6% of all signal opportunities in STEM and 69.8% in humanities. This trend indicates familiarity or routine use of accommodations, which is reasonable at a school for students with visual impairments where accommodations use is supported and expected. It also supports Evan's assertion that he did not often use SAP explicitly but accommodations are a more intuitive practice in his classes.



Figure 6. No signals and accommodation needs, Evan



An additional factor that likely influenced Evan's strategy performance was the frequency of teacher-provided accommodations. Figure 7 shows how many accommodations were provided by a teacher in relation to the number of accommodations needed in each of the observed classes. Evan's STEM teacher provided most of his accommodations, several of which could have been student-provided such as the teacher retrieving Evan's braille textbook. Because these happened before class started, they may have hindered opportunities for Evan to use SAP and to advocate for his accommodations. In contrast, the teacher-provided accommodations in humanities occurred less frequently and tended to be out of necessity during class time. An example of this type of accommodation was opportunities for experiential learning. Teacher provision in humanities could have deterred Evan from using the SAP, but based on timing and necessity, it may have also created opportunities for advocacy.



Figure 7. Teacher provision and accommodation needs, Evan



Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning

Overall, data on metacognition and SRL did not demonstrate changes for Evan after strategy instruction, but they did reveal areas of strength and weakness. Table 6 shows his responses to the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* (Sperling et al., 2002). The inventory revealed consistent responses before and after strategy instruction in the domains of procedural knowledge, declarative knowledge, planning, and information management and variable changes in conditional knowledge, monitoring, and evaluation. Ratings on the teacher surveys also showed consistence or variable changes on items addressing declarative knowledge (i.e., awareness of expectations) and procedural knowledge (i.e., proficiency in a range of skills).

Domain	Item	Pre- Response	Post- Response
Declarative Knowledge	1	Often	Often
	4	Often	Sometimes
	12	Always	Always
Procedural	3	Always	Always
Knowledge	16	Often	Always
Conditional Knowledge	2	Sometimes	Often
	5	Often	Sometimes
	13	Always	Always
	14	Often	Sometimes
Planning	9	Sometimes	Sometimes
	18	Always	Always
Information	6	Seldom	Sometimes
Management	11	Always	Always
Monitoring	8	Often	Never
	10	Often	Often
	15	Often	Always
Evaluation	7	Sometimes	Seldom
	17	Seldom	Often

 Table 6. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, Evan

Evan's self-assessment on the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* demonstrated a strength in procedural knowledge. His teachers agreed by rating him highly in the area of proficiency in a range of skills (STEM: *almost always*; humanities: *often* to *almost always*). They also gave him high marks in knowing expectations, with ratings of *almost always* to *often* in STEM and *often* to *almost always* in humanities. Additionally, the preferred accommodations list and interviews revealed that Evan had strong conditional knowledge regarding his accommodations by indicating that context influences accommodation practices. During interviews, he made general comments
demonstrating conditional knowledge such as "when certain situations call for [accommodations]" (Week 3) as well as specific comments related to actual usage (e.g., "In math I am always using the brailler and given extra time to possibly think things through"; Week 2) and to the hypothetical scenarios (e.g., "I decide whether or not [to use that accommodation] by what kind of activity it was"; Week 1).

The *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* also indicated evaluation as an area of weakness for Evan. This was supported by early interviews. Initially, Evan asserted that a teacher would be the appropriate person to determine if a given accommodation was effective (Pretest), and then, even when he assumed the responsibility for evaluating effectiveness, he was vague as to the criteria for making that evaluation (Weeks 1 and 2). His responses to the interviews for Weeks 3 and 4, however, described criteria linked to the task that the given accommodation was intended to help accomplish, which demonstrated some improvement in this domain.

Strategy Effectiveness

On the social satisfaction survey, Evan acknowledged that the SAP would be *very helpful* for students receiving special education services. He also reported that the strategy would *significantly* change how well he used accommodations in his classes. Similarly, on the interviews, Evan expressed that that SAP was *usually helpful* (Pretest) or *very helpful* (Weeks 1-4) in enabling him to take responsibility for his own accommodations. This shift likely occurred as Evan gained familiarity with the strategy and its benefits. When asked on the interviews why students should use SAP, Evan provided several reasons: to better understand accommodations (Pretest, Week 3); to level the playing field with students without disabilities (Pretest); to promote

independence (Weeks 1 and 4); because it will be useful in college (Weeks 1, 2, and 4); to facilitate explicit thinking about accommodations (Weeks 2 and 4); and because it accounts for the influence of context on accommodations. Overall, these responses demonstrate that Evan perceived the strategy to be beneficial on several dimensions, not only for himself but also for other students with disabilities.

Although Evan gave many reasons for using SAP, his justification related to college is particularly interesting. This point seems to explain the discrepancy between strategy learning and strategy application for him. It was evident from the interviews that Evan could perform the strategy fairly well, but observations and self-reports indicated that he was not using it in classes nor was it changing his accommodation practices. The hypothetical scenarios in the interviews (on which Evan demonstrated solid strategy learning) were intended to be set in high school, but Evan always interpreted them as being in a collegiate context. In addition to explicitly mentioning college, he would refer to professors, TAs, and scribes. Evan indicated that he did not perceive a need to use the strategy in his current classes or at his current school, which is not surprising and is supported by the intuitive provision and use of accommodations and the consistency with which accommodations were being used. However, Evan recognized changes that he will likely experience when he transitions to college: he will need to be more intentional about which accommodations are used, there exists the potential to utilize different accommodations, and it will be his responsibility to advocate for the accommodations that he needs. Evan also realized that the SAP will help him accomplish these things.

Summary

Throughout the study, Evan became more knowledgeable about accommodations in general and about his own accommodations. He successfully learned the SAP, as evidenced by recall, comprehension, and performance on the interviews. However, Evan did not intentionally apply the strategy in his classes, nor did his accommodation practices change. This can primarily be attributed to success in and familiarity with his current classes and the value Evan saw in the SAP for future educational opportunities instead of his current context. Evan did not experience a change in metacognitive or SRL skills after strategy instruction, but he did demonstrate metacognitive knowledge (i.e., declarative, procedural, conditional) throughout the study. Collectively, these findings demonstrate that Evan learned to be strategic in selecting and utilizing his accommodations, but he chose not to be strategic in this educational setting.

Graham

Accommodations Knowledge

Graham excelled on accommodations knowledge. He learned this information very quickly and retained most of it throughout the study. At Baseline, Graham did not have a working definition of accommodations, but he *accurately* defined accommodations on all interviews after strategy instruction, based on the definition that he learned during pre-teaching. Even on the Baseline interview, Graham demonstrated an *adequate* understanding of the purpose of accommodations. When asked why students get accommodations, Graham responded, "Students get accommodations because some of them cannot sit through the whole test, the whole time, and some of them need serious help." This explanation was rated as *adequate* because Graham addressed education-

related needs, but he did not make an explicit connection between needs and disabilities. At Week 3, he also provided an *adequate* response, but on all of the other interviews, his answers were *accurate*. Graham started the study with the knowledge that students with disabilities can receive accommodations, and he continued to provide this answer on all of the interviews when asked who is eligible to receive accommodations. Conversely, Graham could only name one of his eighteen IEP accommodations on the Baseline interview. He named the most (14) at Pretest, likely due to proximity of instruction, but the amount steadily declined until Week 4 when he could only name seven.

Strategy Learning and Performance

Strategy recall. Graham's ability to recall the SAP steps varied. He correctly named all of the steps only once (Week 1). He missed one or two steps on each of the other interviews, but the omitted steps were inconsistent. At Pretest, he did not say step 2 (pick the best accommodation); on the Week 2 interview, he forgot steps 3 and 4 (state how to get the accommodation and get and use the accommodation); during the Week 3 interview, he did not list steps 1 (determine if an accommodation is needed) and 3; and at Week 4, he skipped step 2. In addition to omitting steps, Graham would sometimes repeat steps multiple times. On the Week 3 interview, he said step 5 (determine if the accommodation worked) three times. Similarly, at Week 4, he repeated step 4 three times.

Comprehension. Graham did not fully comprehend the purpose of the SAP, which was evident in two ways. First, he did not understand that the strategy was intended to promote independence. He would make reference to asking for permission or suggest accommodations that depended on others even when options existed that he

could have implemented himself. For example, on the Week 2 interview, Graham was told that he brought his hypothetical accommodation to school in his backpack and then asked what he should do with it upon arriving to class. He responded, "Ask the teacher if it's ok to use it." Similarly, on each interview, Graham was faced with a scenario in which a substitute teacher refused to let him use his accommodation. Each time, Graham stated that he would have the principal or case manager come to explain the accommodation to the substitute rather than explaining it himself. The second indication that Graham did not fully understand the purpose of the SAP occurred with his responses about when he could use the strategy. Sometimes he acknowledged that the strategy could be used when he needed help or to improve learning, but he also mentioned several times that it should be used specifically when he is stressed or frustrated, which was a narrow application for the strategy.

Performance. Overall, Graham demonstrated sufficient ability to perform the steps of the SAP on interviews, although his accuracy declined over time. However, observation data indicate that he did not apply the strategy in his classes. When given a general prompt to apply the SAP to each hypothetical scenario presented on the interviews, Graham's use of the strategy was *accurate* at Pretest and Week 1 for addressing all of the strategy steps, but his scores declined to *adequate* for Weeks 2 through 4 because he omitted some steps with each response. Graham's ability to determine if an accommodation was needed (step 1) varied. At Pretest and Week 1, his determinations did not relate to the purpose of the hypothetical accommodation, which received a rating of *inaccurate*. His answers were *accurate* in Weeks 2 and 3 because his reasoning aligned with the purpose of the accommodations. And, on the Week 4

interview, his response was *adequate* for connecting to the purpose of the accommodation but missing nuance with that purpose. On this interview, Graham's hypothetical accommodation was to use headphones to listen to the descriptive audio on films shown in class. When told by his teacher that they would be watching an old movie, Graham focused on the movie to conclude that he would need his headphones without considering the fact that an old movie might not have descriptive audio. Graham's performance with considering accommodation options (step 2) and troubleshooting (step 5) was fairly strong, but he sometimes struggled to evaluate the effectiveness of his accommodation (step 5). On the interviews and during strategy instruction, Graham knew that it was his responsibility to determine if an accommodation was working, but he often did not know how to make that assessment. Graham reported on the interviews that he could perform the SAP *fairly well* at Pretest, Week 1, and Week 4 but that he *could not perform it at all* at Weeks 2 and 3. On the social satisfaction survey, he acknowledged that the strategy was *not easy but not hard* to learn and that he *kind of* learned it.

While Graham's interview responses demonstrated that he was capable of performing the strategy, observation data indicated that he was not using it in his classes, which was confirmed by self-reports. Trace evidence of classroom application is presented in Figure 8 including Graham's number of accommodation needs, the number of times that he signaled an accommodation need, the number of active student signals, the number of accommodations that he provided, and the number of accommodations that he used appropriately.



Figure 8. Trace evidence of classroom application, Graham



Regarding student signals of accommodation needs, Graham's rates of signals relative to the number of accommodation needs in STEM during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support were outside of the range for Baseline each week, with Weeks 1 and 4 higher than Baseline and Weeks 2 and 3 lower. In humanities, his rates after

strategy instruction fell within the range of Baseline, but Week 1 was much lower because all of the signals were *no signals*. Active signals, those in which Graham explicitly requested an accommodation, increased in STEM during the Weeks 3 and 4 observations; however, Week 3 was the only STEM observation in which active signals were more common than passive signals. Interestingly, Graham actively signaled for accommodations more often than he passively signaled during all of the Baseline observations for humanities, but during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, passive signals outnumbered active signals for all observations except Week 1, which had no student signals. Overall, Graham's ability or willingness to explicitly request accommodations declined after strategy instruction, indicating not only that he was not using the SAP in his classes but some additional factor was impeding his engagement more so than before strategy instruction. The number of accommodations that Graham provided compared to the number of accommodations that he needed increased slightly in STEM from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support; however, his rate of provision remained low throughout the study. In humanities, Graham experienced a peak in provision in Week 1, but provision steadily declined through Week 4. Although he demonstrated higher rates of accommodation provision in humanities than in STEM. Week 1 was that only humanities observation in which Graham provided more than half of his accommodations. Learning the SAP did not appear to increase Graham's responsibility or independence for providing his own accommodations. Graham used most of his accommodations appropriately, but he demonstrated less appropriate use during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support than Baseline for STEM. Appropriate use remained relatively consistent in humanities with the exception of the

third Baseline observation, when Graham used only 40% of his accommodations appropriately. The social satisfaction survey and self-reports on interviews support observed trace evidence that Graham did not use the SAP in his classes. On the social satisfaction survey, Graham reported using the strategy in his classes *about half of the time*, but on the interviews that rate was much lower. At Week 1, Graham made a vague reference to using the strategy when prompted to recount an example of using the SAP recently in one of his classes. He said, "When I needed a break, and I was frustrated. I can't remember really." On the interviews for Weeks 2 through 4, Graham reported that he had not used the SAP in his classes and explained the lack of use due to emotionalbehavioral challenges. For example, in response to the same prompt at Week 3, Graham answered, "I can't because I haven't had a chance to because I've been so upset."

Accommodation Practices

Graham's accommodation practices changed somewhat, but not substantially, after strategy instruction. Changes included an increase in the number of accommodations needed per task in STEM and an increase or decrease in some categories of accommodations.

Rate of need. Graham experienced an increase in the number of accommodations needed per task in STEM during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. The number of accommodation needs compared to the number of tasks encountered in each of the observed classes is presented in Figure 9. The ratio for accommodation needs per task was equal or higher for each STEM observation during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support than for the Baseline observations. The average for Baseline was 2.14 accommodations per task, and the average after strategy instruction was 5.27. For

humanities, the number of accommodations per task during each Classroom Application and Ongoing Support observation was within the range of the Baseline observations. The average before strategy instruction was 2.50 accommodations per task, and the average after was 3.10.







Type of accommodations. Across all of the observations, Graham most commonly used access accommodations (19.4%) and accommodations for anxiety

(15.2%). This differed somewhat from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. Access accommodations were most prevalent during Baseline with accommodations for behavioral challenges the second most common. During Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, however, accommodations for anxiety were used most often while access accommodations were second. Other categories of accommodations increased or decreased in frequency after strategy instruction also. Accommodations to support social skills decreased for Graham while accommodations for sensory needs, environmental awareness, and problem solving increased.

Graham's preferred accommodations list documented accommodations in many of these categories, further supporting their importance for engagement and learning. In STEM, Graham's preferred accommodations included his electronic notetaker (an access accommodation), problem solving help, and cueing back to task (an accommodation for behavior). For humanities, Graham expressed preferences for accommodations related to behavior and anxiety as well as access. The behavior and anxiety accommodations that he specified included breaks, cueing back to task, a distraction-free learning environment, and small group instruction. His electronic notetaker, electronic documents, auditory output, and braille materials constituted access accommodations.

Engagement. Teacher surveys document a discrepancy in Graham's engagement and learning between STEM and humanities. Graham's STEM teacher reported that when he faced a challenge in class, he would *often* seek assistance from others and he improved in his willingness to meet the challenges himself from *seldom* before strategy instruction to *about the same as peers* after. However, the STEM teacher rated Graham as decreasing in learning (*a little bit below average* to *not very well*), achievement (*about*

average to a little bit below average), and participation (a little bit more than peers to about the same as peers). The humanities teacher reported that Graham decreased his willingness to seek assistance from others when facing a challenge (often to about the same as peers) but improved in attempting to meet the challenge himself (a little bit less than peers to a little bit more than peers). She also expressed that Graham improved in learning and participation after strategy instruction. Her ratings for learning improved from a little above average to among the best and from often to almost always for participation. She also gave Graham a consistently high rating in achievement, which was among the best.

Influencing Factors

Graham's strategy learning and performance and accommodations practices were heavily influenced by factors beyond strategy instruction. These were primarily withinstudent factors rather than environmental factors.

Within-student factors. Graham's cumulative folder indicates that he has lowaverage verbal abilities, which may have impacted comprehension of the SAP. He working memory is average and short-term memory is excellent. This likely explains why Graham recalled the strategy steps and received high scores for his responses on interviews conducted closer to strategy instruction. Low-average reasoning skills probably contributed to variability in performing each step. Graham earned an A in history and a B- in budgeting—the two classes in which he was observed—for the semester prior to the study. Based on his progress in these classes, Graham may not have perceived a need to use the SAP or change his accommodation practices.

Graham's cumulative folder review also revealed that in addition to a visual impairment, he has diagnosed disabilities related to emotional and behavioral dysregulation including attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, anxiety, and depression. His STEM and humanities teachers also reported concerns with generalized maladaptive behaviors. Graham's performance during strategy instruction, observations, and interviews was directly related to his ability to regulate his emotions and behaviors that day. For example, one of the strategy instruction sessions was unproductive because Graham was perseverating on an issue from his dorm. Observations demonstrated that emotional-behavioral dysregulation substantially hindered his ability to engage in his classes, much less attempt to apply the strategy in those classes. Graham was aware of his challenges with regulating his emotions and behaviors and the extent to which that impacted his ability to engage with activities. There was an interesting juxtaposition on Graham's interviews of Graham claiming that times of emotional-behavioral dysregulation were when he should use the SAP but then using emotional-behavioral dysregulation to explain why he was not using the SAP in his classes. Essentially, this pair of ideas makes the point that the times Graham was most in need of support for regulation, he was least capable of using a support for regulation.

Additionally, Graham demonstrated an overreliance on others, which was discussed previously as related to limited understanding of the purpose of the SAP. This dependence on others manifested during the interviews. Graham's responses to the hypothetical scenarios addressed asking permission to use an accommodation, seeking accommodations from others (some that legitimately needed to be provided by someone else but some that could have been self-provided), and expecting someone else to

explain, justify, or advocate for his accommodations. For example, on the Week 4 interview, when posed with a situation where a substitute would not allow him to use one of his accommodations, Graham initially said that he would ask an administrator to justify his accommodations to the substitute, and his follow-up option was "I would have them call my mom or e-mail my mom..." even though he was 19 years old and his own legal guardian.

Environmental factors. Another manifestation of dependence on others was evident during Graham's observation, specifically the high rates of teacher provision of accommodations. Figure 10 presents the number of teacher-provided accommodations relative to the number of accommodation needs for each observation in STEM and humanities. At least 60% of Graham's accommodations in STEM were provided by the teacher across all observations, and at least 50% of accommodations were teacherprovided in humanities. Many of the accommodations that teachers provided were related to behavior and anxiety, particularly in STEM. Because Graham was the only student in that class, his teacher could address emotional-behavioral dysregulation without detracting from other students. Other kinds of accommodations provided by his teachers included environmental awareness (e.g., reorienting Graham to a room when he became disoriented), electronic documents, braille materials, and verbal descriptions of visual elements of videos.



Figure 10. Teacher provision and accommodation needs, Graham



Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning

Data sources addressing metacognition and SRL indicate that Graham did not experience changes in these areas after strategy instruction, but they did demonstrate areas of strength and weakness. On the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* (Sperling et al., 2002), Graham's self-reported skills were consistent in procedural knowledge, conditional knowledge, and evaluation before and after strategy instruction. His scores are presented in Table 7. Ratings for planning increased while information management and monitoring decreased. Declarative knowledge showed variable changes.

Domain	Item	Pre- Response	Post- Response
Declarative Knowledge	1	Often	Always
	4	Always	Often
Knowledge	12	Always	Always
Procedural	3	Sometimes	Often
Knowledge	16	Often	Sometimes
Conditional Knowledge	2	Often	Often
	5	Always	Always
	13	Often	Often
	14	Always	Often
Dlannin a	9	Sometimes	Sometimes
Planning	18	Sometimes	Always
Information	6	Never	Seldom
Management	11	Always	Often
Monitoring	8	Often	Often
	10	Often	Never
	15	Always	Often
Explustion	7	Always Sometimes Often Always Often Always Often Always Sometimes Sometimes Sometimes Often Always Often Always Often Always Often Always Often Always Often Always Seldom Often	Seldom
Evaluation	17	Often	Often

 Table 7. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, Graham

Graham demonstrated two strengths on the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory*: declarative knowledge and conditional knowledge. The strength in declarative knowledge was supported by Graham's humanities teacher on the teacher surveys. She gave him high marks for knowing expectations (*often* to *almost always*). Conditional knowledge was also demonstrated on Graham's interviews and preferred accommodations list when he indicated that accommodations are appropriate for particular tasks and contexts, not universally appropriate. Graham also demonstrated procedural knowledge on his preferred accommodations list by describing how he implemented each accommodation. His humanities teacher also rated him highly on procedural knowledge (i.e., proficiency with a range of skills) with ratings of *a little bit more than peers* before strategy instruction and *almost always* after strategy instruction.

Conversely, Graham's STEM teacher rated his metacognitive abilities lower for his class. He gave Graham ratings of *seldom* to *a little bit less than peers* for knowing expectations with a consistent rating of *a little bit less than peers* for proficiency in a range of skills. Graham also demonstrated lower abilities with evaluation on the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory*, on the interviews, and during strategy instruction. Evaluation is related to step 5 of the SAP, when students determine if the accommodation that they selected is working effectively. Graham expressed during strategy instruction that he did not know how to make this determination, and his responses to the interviews for Weeks 1 through 3 indicated the same. When he was asked to specify what he would think about to know if he should use the selected accommodation on a similar task in the future, Graham's answers tended to be vague. On the Week 1 interview, he said, "How well it worked for you." Even after a prompt to be more specific, Graham responded, "Did it do a good job or not for you."

Strategy Effectiveness

Graham recognized benefits to the SAP in general, but he did not perceive value in the strategy for himself. On the social satisfaction survey, he expressed that the SAP would be *very helpful* for students in special education. When asked on the interviews why students should use the SAP, he responded that it would help with problem-solving (Pretest), it could be beneficial if students are experiencing stress or frustration (Pretest and Week 1), it will improve class participation (Week 2), and it could help students work and learn more effectively (Week 3). When asked about the benefits of the SAP

specific to him, Graham perceived fewer benefits. He reported on the social satisfaction survey that the strategy would *somewhat* change how well he used accommodations. On the interviews, his reports of how helpful the SAP was in fostering his responsibility for his accommodations declined over time. At Pretest, he reported that it was *very helpful*. On Weeks 1, 2, and 4, he claimed that it was *usually helpful*. During the Week 3 interview, he said that it was *not very helpful*. The disconnect between general benefits and specific benefits seemed to be related to his realization that he was not actually using the strategy in his classes. On the Week 4 interview, he stated, "If I use it, it will work most of the time."

Summary

Graham demonstrated solid knowledge of accommodations throughout the study. He learned the SAP steps and how to perform them, but his ability to do so varied more as time passed after strategy instruction. Even though Graham demonstrated that he could perform the strategy on the interviews, observed trace evidence and self-reports indicated that he did not use the SAP in his classes. This trend was primarily due to his challenges with emotional and behavioral regulation. Graham did not improve metacognitive knowledge nor self-regulated learning skills with strategy instruction, but he did demonstrate metacognitive knowledge on multiple data sources. Furthermore, data sources agreed that evaluation was an area of weakness for Graham. Graham recognized value in the SAP overall, but he did not experience benefits himself because he did not use the strategy in his classes. Broadly speaking, Graham did not become strategic in selecting and utilizing his instructional accommodations.

James

Accommodations Knowledge

James remained relatively consistent in his general accommodations knowledge. but he improved considerably in knowledge of his own accommodations. His definition of accommodations was fairly consistent across the intervention phase, scoring *adequate* on all interviews except for Pretest. At Baseline, James indicated that accommodations are something that helps students learn better. On the interviews after strategy instruction, James included teachers and teaching in his definition, but he missed that an accommodation is a small change. He included this component in his definition at Pretest, which earned a score of *accurate*. James was consistently *accurate* regarding the purpose of accommodations except for on the Week 3 interview, on which he did not link accommodations to disability-based needs. He developed a more specific understanding of who can receive accommodations with strategy instruction. On the Baseline interview, he included students with disabilities and English Language Learners (*adequate*), but for the interviews after strategy instruction, he only noted that individuals with disabilities could receive them, which was *accurate*. James substantially improved in awareness of his own accommodations. Of the twenty-one accommodations on his IEP, he could name four of them at Baseline, twelve to thirteen from Pretest to Week 3, and fifteen on the Week 4 interview.

Strategy Learning and Performance

James demonstrated exceptional strategy learning and performance. He learned the steps and how to perform them quickly during strategy instruction, and recall and

strategy use did not diminish over time. Additionally, trace evidence from observations indicated that James applied the strategy in his classes.

Strategy recall. James's recall of the strategy steps was perfect. He stated, sometimes paraphrasing and explaining, all of the steps in each of the interviews from Pretest through Week 4.

Comprehension. James demonstrated a strong understanding of the purpose of the SAP as guiding students to think explicitly about whether an accommodation is needed, and if so, which one is most appropriate for that context. He articulated this nicely on the Week 1 interview:

[The SAP] helps to kind of think critically about whether you need an accommodation and it helps you better decide what accommodation you might need instead of just picking one randomly and hoping that it will work because then it is more likely to work if you think about it first.

Performance. James performed the SAP well even when given a broad prompt to apply the strategy to the hypothetical scenarios. His response at Pretest was *adequate* because he omitted step 2 (pick the best accommodation); however, he responded completely and *accurately* to the prompt on Weeks 1 through 4. James *accurately* determined if an accommodation was needed (step 1) on each of the interviews, and the justifications for his answers connected to the hypothetical task and purpose of the given accommodation. For example, the hypothetical accommodation provided on the Week 3 interview was a place marker to be used for copying assignments. Faced with the situation where the teacher says that students will need their textbooks that day, James asserted, "I would ask if we are going to need to write anything down from the book that

day, and if we are, then I would know that I would need the place marker." James demonstrated strong performance in considering accommodation options (step 2) and troubleshooting (step 5). Additionally, he excelled in considering the effectiveness of the accommodation he selected (step 5); he was explicit about the criteria he would use to make that determination, which were linked to the given task. James consistently reported on the interviews that he could perform the strategy *fairly well*, and on the social satisfaction survey, he expressed that the strategy was *a little hard to learn* but that he learned it *fully*.

James reported on the social satisfaction survey that he used the SAP in his classes *about half of the time*, and this frequency aligned with self-reports on the interviews and his SAP use write-ups. On approximately half of the interviews (Pretest, Week 3, Week 4) and write-ups, James noted that frequent absences prevented him from using the strategy in his classes. However, the other interviews and write-ups documented strategy application. On the Week 2 interview, James recounted an instance of using the SAP in his history class:

We were reading from the textbook in history and I think, I cannot remember exactly, but I think I was having trouble keeping up with everyone else, so I thought about whether it would be appropriate for me to listen instead of reading it and then I kind of figured that 'yep, it probably would be' so then I thought about how I would get that so I asked the teacher if I could just listen and she said

'yes' and then I thought about whether it was working or not, and it was. Similarly, James's first write-up worked through the strategy steps. However, his later write-ups (those that did not report frequent absences) focused more on independence and

using accommodations without teacher prompting than on explicit application of the SAP steps.

Observed trace evidence—and one instance of overt evidence—support James's assertions and accounts of using the SAP in his classes. Figure 11 displays trace evidence of classroom strategy use: number of accommodation needs, number of times that James signaled an accommodation need, number of active student signals, number of student-provided accommodations, and the number of accommodations that he used appropriately.







In STEM, James exhibited a steady decline in the rate of student signals relative to the number of accommodation needs during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support; however, all of the rates were within the range of Baseline observations. Student signaling was much lower in humanities than in STEM, but the rates after strategy instruction were still within the range of those before strategy instruction. James did not engage in any active signaling during Baseline for STEM, so the active signals observed during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support were an improvement even though they were not frequent. The rates of active signals relative to the number of student signals varied in humanities. Three observations (Baseline 2, Week 1, Week 2) did not have any active signals; although, in the other weeks, at least half, and up to 80% of James's signals were active. Overall, there were limited changes to signaling after strategy instruction, but the increase in active signaling in STEM indicates strategy use in that class. James demonstrated a steady and substantial increase in provision of his own accommodations in STEM during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, which

further indicates strategy use. In humanities, however, the rates of student provision of accommodations compared to the number of needs remained in the range of Baseline, which varied between 21% and 75% student provision. James used almost all of his accommodations appropriately throughout the study in both STEM and humanities. Variability in appropriate use can primarily be attributed to uncertainty on the part of the observer. For example, James regularly received language support accommodations that were presented to his entire class. If James did not respond to the support, appropriateness could not be determined. The appropriate use of accommodations during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support may have been related to the SAP, but because his rates of appropriate use were high during Baseline observations, this is difficult to determine.

James had one anomalous observation in which his humanities teacher was absent. The students in James's class were sent to different locations in the school to complete an assignment that the teacher had sent them electronically. Because James and the observer were the only ones in a particular room, James engaged in think-alouds as he used the SAP to consider accommodations for his assignment. Thus, he provided an overt observation of strategy application in one of his classes. For example, he said, "I am going to start a new [electronic] document for this essay instead of using the assignment page. It will be easier to e-mail back and to spellcheck without the assignment prompt getting in the way."

Accommodation Practices

Data on accommodations practices indicate that James did not experience changes in the frequency or type of accommodations used after learning the SAP. However, he did improve in engagement, independence, and advocacy.

Rate of need. James's rate of accommodation needs per task in STEM peaked immediately after strategy instruction but then returned to Baseline levels. On average, he needed 3.13 accommodations per task during Baseline and 3.82 during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. There was no obvious pattern to changes in the number of accommodations that James needed compared to the number of tasks in humanities. He needed an average of 2.33 accommodations per task before strategy instruction and 3.13 after. Figure 12 shows the number of accommodation needs James exhibited compared to the number of tasks for each observation.

Figure 12. Tasks and accommodation needs, James





Type of accommodations. Most of the types of accommodations that James used remained consistent from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. The most commonly-observed accommodations were access accommodations (38.9% of all accommodations) and content support (21.5% of all accommodations). This was the case overall and for each stage of observation. Furthermore, the most often-used accommodations aligned across observations, accommodation checklists, SAP use write-ups, and James's preferred accommodations list. According to accommodations checklists, James's most commonly-reported accommodation was auditory lessons and materials, which constituted an access accommodation. James also referenced auditory lessons and materials in the form of read-alouds on his SAP use write-ups and on his preferred accommodation list for English, history, and Algebra I. The next most common accommodations by self-report were an electronic notetaker and braille materials, which also fell in the category of access accommodations. These were mentioned on the write-ups and preferred accommodations list as well.

One exception to the consistency with which James used his accommodations before and after strategy instruction was environmental awareness accommodations. They were rarely observed during Baseline but observed regularly during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. Furthermore, James listed some accommodations as preferred accommodations that were observed or reported on the accommodations checklist infrequently. These included his iPhone, clarifying directions, outlines for writing, calculator, breaks, tactile graphics, and modeling/cuing.

Advocacy. Although the types of accommodations that James used remained consistent from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support, one noticeable change that occurred regarding his accommodations practices was an improvement in advocacy after strategy instruction. Instances of advocacy were observed, but they were also documented on the SAP use write-ups and commented on by James's humanities teacher. On the write-ups, James detailed occurrences of advocacy when he needed accommodations that he could not provide himself, specifically requesting and justifying read-alouds in humanities and requesting directions to a braillewriter during a STEM class. Additionally, James's humanities teacher noted that James was taking more initiative in requesting extra time on assignments when legitimately needed.

Engagement. In addition to demonstrating improvements in advocacy, James made improvements in engagement after strategy instruction. His SAP use write-ups documented that he gained independence in initiating accommodations use; he needed less prompting from his teachers. James's humanities teacher also reported that he made improvements in completing assignments on time. Additionally, the teacher surveys primarily evidenced improvements in engagement. When struggling in class, James

advanced in seeking assistance from *seldom* to *about the same as peers* in STEM and from *a little bit less than peers* to *often* in humanities. The STEM teacher consistently reported that James sought to meet challenges himself *about the same as peers*, but his humanities teacher noted improvement from *a little bit less than peers* to *almost always*. Regarding some of the outcomes of engagement, James remained consistent in learning *(about average)*, declined slightly in achievement *(a little bit above average* to *about average)*, and increased in participation *(a little bit less than peers* to *a little bit more than peers)* in STEM from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. According to James's humanities teacher, he improved in all of these domains in humanities. Her ratings for James on learning improved from *a little below average* to *very well*, achievement advanced from *about average* to *very well*, and participation increased from *a little bit less than peers*.

Influencing Factors

Several within-student and environmental factors influenced James's performance of the SAP and his accommodation practices. These factors had a largely positive impact.

Within-student factors. According to James's cumulative folder review, he demonstrates high-average verbal abilities and extremely high auditory working memory, both of which were beneficial for recall and comprehension of the SAP. James's auditory working memory also supports his preference for auditory materials and read-alouds. Conversely, James struggled with mathematical reasoning and decoding. Challenges with mathematical reasoning aligned with high rates of content support during STEM observations. Additionally, weak decoding skills, as observed and mentioned by James in

the SAP use write-ups, prompted James to apply the SAP primarily in humanities, and it implicated James's preferred accommodations of read-alouds and extra time.

Another within-student factor that fostered strategy performance was James's willingness to advocate. For the other participants, advocacy was an outcome of strategy instruction, but for James the willingness to advocate improved his ability to perform the SAP. This willingness to advocate was apparent on many data sources including the preferred accommodations list, interviews, write-ups, and teacher comments. It promoted SAP performance in that James was willing to consider a greater range of accommodation options (step 2) other than just those he could provide himself (step 3). For example, on one of the write-ups, James submitted the following description of using the SAP:

I used the strategy in history class on Tuesday. We were reading a section from the textbook, and I was having trouble keeping up. I asked the teacher if I could just listen instead of reading, and she said that would be fine...

Environmental factors. James used accommodations with fairly high rates of *no signals* (i.e., no precipitating indication from the student or teacher that an accommodation would be needed) during STEM and humanities observations. The number of *no signals* that James experienced in each observation compared to the number of accommodation needs is presented in Figure 13. On the whole, approximately 50% of his accommodation needs in STEM and 70% in humanities were not precipitated by a signal. High rates of *no signals* seem to indicate a familiarity and routine with accommodations use, which is supported by the consistency of accommodations use before and after strategy instruction.



Figure 13. No signals and accommodation needs, James

In addition to high rates of *no signals*, many of James's accommodations, in both STEM and humanities, were provided by a teacher. Figure 14 shows the number of teacher-provided accommodations compared to the number of accommodation needs for each observation in STEM and humanities. Although the rate of teacher provision relative to accommodation needs steadily declined in STEM after strategy instruction, all observations except Week 4 had at least 60% teacher-provided accommodations.

Typically, accommodations were teacher-provided out of necessity, such as content support, language support, electronic documents, and environmental awareness. While teacher provision likely hindered student provision of accommodations, it may have provided opportunities for advocacy.

Figure 14. Teacher provision and accommodation needs, James





Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning

James demonstrated metacognitive knowledge and SRL skills on several data sources. While he exhibited strengths in multiple domains, data do not indicate that he improved in metacognition or SRL after strategy instruction. The only indication of weakness for James came from the teacher surveys completed by his STEM teacher, but they do not align with other data sources.

James's pre-/post- responses to the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* (Sperling et al., 2002) do not exhibit a noticeable pattern of change after strategy instruction. Table 8 shows his scores. His self-ratings in the domains of procedural knowledge, declarative knowledge, monitoring, and evaluation remained consistent. Conditional knowledge showed variable changes (i.e., response to item 2 increased, item 5 remained the same, and items 13 and 14 decreased). Ratings for planning and information management decreased slightly from pre- to post- administrations of the survey.

Domain	Item	Pre- Response	Post- Response
Declarative Knowledge	1	Often	Always
	4	Often	Often
	12	Always	Always
Procedural	3	Always	Always
Knowledge	16	Often	Often
	2	Often	Always
Conditional	5	Always	Always
Knowledge	13	Often	Sometimes
	14	Always	Often
Planning	9	Sometimes	Sometimes
	18	Always	Often
Information	6	Never	Sometimes
Management	11	Always	Often
Monitoring	8	Often	Often
	10	Often	Sometimes
	15	Often	Often
Evaluation	7	Sometimes	Sometimes
Evaluation	17	Often	Often

Table 8. Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory Scores, James

The Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory indicated strengths for James in procedural knowledge and declarative knowledge, which was supported by other data sources. James's humanities teacher reported that James was capable in these domains before strategy instruction but improved after strategy instruction. Regarding knowing expectations (i.e., declarative knowledge), she rated James's awareness as *a little bit more than peers* at Baseline and *almost always* during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. For proficiency in a range of skills (i.e., procedural knowledge), James advanced from *about the same as peers* to *almost always*. James also demonstrated procedural knowledge on one of his SAP use write-ups in knowing how to asking for a listening accommodation when reading was expected and declarative knowledge during

an observation when he explained that starting a new electronic document would allow for easier return to the teacher and utilizing spellcheck.

James demonstrated other areas of metacognitive knowledge and SRL skills as well. He utilized conditional knowledge on the interviews in indicating that accommodations were context-dependent. For example, at Pretest, James was presented with a hypothetical accommodation of using headphones to listen to descriptive audio on videos. James understood that not all videos have descriptive audio and that his need for the accommodation was contingent upon this feature, not simply the use of a video. On the SAP use write-ups, James used conditional knowledge when he explained that his braillewriter was an appropriate accommodation for math due to the spatial arrangement of problems. Also, he indicated on the write-ups that when he was able to keep up with reading in history, the appropriate accommodation was his electronic notetaker, but when he could not keep up with reading, then the appropriate accommodation was listening to a read-aloud. Furthermore, James demonstrated monitoring and evaluation-both SRL skills—on the write-ups. Monitoring was used when he realized that he was not keeping up with in-class reading, and he showed evaluation in explaining "I then thought about whether [listening] was working, and I decided that it was because I was able to comprehend what was being read." James also excelled in evaluation on the interviews, which corresponded to step 5 of the SAP.

The only indication of limited capabilities in metacognitive knowledge for James was his STEM teacher's ratings of knowing expectations and proficiency in a range of skills, both of which decreased from *about the same as peers* to *a little bit less than peers* after strategy instruction. This report does not align with other data on metacognition and

may be specifically associated with the STEM context as James's cumulative folder indicates a particular challenge with mathematics.

Strategy Effectiveness

James found the SAP beneficial. He expressed that it would be *often helpful* for students receiving special education services on the social satisfaction survey. Additionally, he rated the SAP as *usually helpful* on all interviews in fostering responsibility for accommodations. When asked to give reasons why students should use the strategy, James consistently responded that the SAP helps him to recognize when he does not need an accommodation and that the strategy guides him to critically, systematically, and explicitly think about his accommodations so that he does not waste time on "random" accommodations.

Summary

James demonstrated sufficient general knowledge of accommodations and considerably increased his awareness of his own accommodations. He learned and performed the SAP very well, including performance on the interviews and application of the strategy in his classes. Several factors such as verbal skills, working auditory memory, and a willingness to advocate for his accommodations fostered his strategy learning and use, and he viewed the strategy favorably. After strategy instruction, the accommodations that James used remained relatively consistent, but he improved in the areas of engagement, independence, and advocacy. James demonstrated declarative, procedural, and conditional metacognitive knowledge as well as the SRL skills of monitoring and evaluation. Ultimately, James learned to be strategic in selecting and

utilizing his own accommodations, which improved his engagement and learning in core content classes.

Cross-Case Analysis

The individual cases were compared for trends to reveal key findings regarding the SAP, strategy instruction, and student performance. The goal of this comparison was not to develop a collective case but to discern differences among and similarities across the participants that indicated key findings (Khan & VanWynsberghe, 2008). In line with this goal, a typology approach was used to group participants by similar patterns of learning and performance; the groupings varied across the phenomena being considered. This section begins with a brief overview of each participant, and then key findings are presented by research question.

Participant Overview

Emily. Emily is best described as inconsistent, and this characteristic extended to her learning of and practice with both accommodations and the SAP. She improved her understanding of the purpose of accommodations and familiarity with her own accommodations, but she never learned the definition of accommodations. She performed some components of the strategy very well, such as troubleshooting, but was challenged by other aspects, such as evaluation. And, she demonstrated some metacognitive knowledge, but did not improve in this area, nor in self-regulated learning. Over time, Emily increasingly capitalized on the skills and knowledge that she did have when applying the SAP in her classes, but she did not use the strategy in its entirety. Relative to the other participants, Emily's SAP learning and performance on the interviews was on the lower end of the spectrum. It was sufficient but not comprehensive. While her in-class
strategy application also tended to be incomplete, she nonetheless used the SAP more often in her classes than Evan or Graham.

Evan. Evan improved his understanding of accommodations in general and his recall of his IEP accommodations. He learned the SAP well, as demonstrated on the interviews, but he did not apply the strategy in his classes. Evan's lack of in-class use was partially volitional, largely due to his familiarity with class routines and high achievement in each class; however, he anticipated that the strategy would be beneficial when he transitions to college, which seems to explain the disconnect between strong strategy performance on interviews and limited application in his classes. Metacognition and SRL did not change after strategy instruction for Evan, although, he evidenced metacognitive knowledge on multiple data sources. In comparison to the other participants, Evan's ability to recall, comprehend, and perform the SAP on the interviews was very good, second only to James. However, his high learning and performance in isolation contrasts with his non-use in the classroom, which was less in-class application than James and Emily but equivalent to Graham's.

Graham. Graham evidenced knowledge of accommodations throughout the study. He learned the SAP steps and how to perform them; although, he rarely recalled or performed all of the steps on a single interview. The steps that Graham forgot or did not perform accurately varied across interviews, meaning that at some point, he knew and performed each of the strategy steps. In his classes, however, Graham did not apply the SAP, primarily due to emotional-behavioral challenges. While he did not improve metacognitive knowledge, nor self-regulated learning skills with strategy instruction, he did demonstrate metacognitive knowledge on multiple data sources. Like Emily,

Graham's strategy learning and performance on the interviews was rarely complete, but at some point, he could recall and perform each of the steps. His application of the SAP was comparable to Evan's in that neither demonstrated trace evidence nor self-reported in-class use.

James. James somewhat improved his general understanding of accommodations and substantially increased his ability to name his own accommodations. He demonstrated strong recall, comprehension, and performance of the SAP on all of the interviews. He also regularly applied the strategy in his classes. James demonstrated metacognitive knowledge and SRL skills throughout the study, the latter of which was not evident with the other participants. Also, when compared to the others, his SAP learning, performance, and application was the strongest.

Accommodations Knowledge

Generally, the participants increased or maintained an initially strong knowledge of accommodations, including the definition and purpose of accommodations, eligibility for accommodations, and, namely, awareness of their individual accommodations. All of these elements were taught to the participants in the first phase of strategy instruction. Learning these characteristics of accommodation was required for each participant to move to the next phase of instruction, and these topics were reviewed throughout strategy instruction. This indicates that explicit instruction and frequent review of accommodations knowledge improved participants' understanding of accommodations and familiarity with their own accommodations.

Strategy Learning and Performance

Most of the findings pertaining to SAP learning and performance are variable across the participants, but the variability indicates relationship among recall, comprehension, and performance when the cases are compared. The participants varied in their recall of the strategy steps; however, they all demonstrated an ability to recall the full strategy on at least one interview. While Evan and James were very consistent in their ability to name—or paraphrase—the strategy steps, Emily and Graham were less consistent. Similarly, the participants varied in their comprehension of the purpose of the SAP. In general, James and Evan understood the purpose of the strategy more comprehensively than did Emily or Graham, who maintained more narrow understandings of its purpose. Additionally, Evan and James demonstrated stronger performance of the strategy on interviews than Graham and Emily. These trends indicate that consistent and complete recall of the SAP steps and comprehensive understanding of the strategy purpose are associated with better performance of the strategy.

While a relationship is evident among the three dimensions of learning, learning did not correlate with in-class strategy use. Data indicate that half of the participants employed the SAP in their classes while the other half did not, but the pairings differ from similarities in learning. Trace evidence from observations, self-reports from interviews, and SAP use write-ups (which were only submitted by Emily and James) agreed that James completely and Emily partially used the strategy in their classes; whereas, Evan and Graham did not implement it in their classes at all.

Overall, the participants learned and performed the SAP; although, their levels of accuracy and classroom use varied. This speaks to the accessibility of the SAP. Before

the current study, the SAP was modified in an attempt to improve accessibility based on implications from previous research (Scanlon et al., in review). The language used in each step was simplified, and the number of steps was condensed from seven to five. Even with variability, the participants learned and performed the SAP sufficiently to indicate that it is accessible in its current form.

Accommodation Practices

In contrast to strategy learning and performance, findings regarding accommodation practices were fairly consistent across the four participants. The most commonly-used type of accommodation was access accommodations, which did not change from Baseline to Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. The category of access accommodations included specific accommodations such as electronic notetakers, laptops, braille materials, and large print. Accommodations for content support were the second most often used. Like access accommodations, this was the case before and after strategy instruction. Content support included prompting, strategies, and resources. Data sources (i.e., observations, preferred accommodation lists, accommodations. The consistency of use and agreement among data sources regarding the most common accommodations indicates the value of these accommodations in the participants' education.

In addition to the trend of most-common accommodations, similarities were noted among the participants regarding advocacy. The teachers indicated that the participants improved or maintained high performance in seeking assistance when facing a challenge, which corresponds to advocacy for accommodations. Three of the four participants also

demonstrated advocacy during observations after strategy instruction; the exception was Graham. The key distinction between advocacy and active signaling was that the former included a rationale or justification for a particular accommodation option. Advocacy was not frequent enough to identify it as a trend, but there were noticeable instances of advocacy during Classroom Application and Ongoing Support that were not observed during Baseline. This indicates a connection between strategy instruction and advocacy, but because advocacy was not an explicit component of strategy instruction nor frequently observed, it is difficult to determine the precise relationship.

Influencing Factors

While each of the participants had unique factors that influenced their strategy learning and performance, three factors had a substantial impact on all of the participants: verbal and reasoning skills, achievement, and emotions/behaviors. The effect of each factor on the participants varied, however. For some, the factor fostered strategy learning and performance, but for others, it impeded it.

First, verbal and reasoning skills impacted strategy learning and performance. Evan and James had higher verbal and reasoning abilities, as documented in their cumulative folders, which corresponded to stronger strategy learning and performance. On the other hand, Emily and Graham demonstrated lower verbal and reasoning skills. Their ability to recall the strategy steps was less consistent, and they struggled to perform more of the steps than did Evan and James.

Additionally, the participants' achievement in the observed classes influenced their strategy use. If participants did well in a class, they were less likely to use the SAP, presumably because they did not perceive a need to improve their engagement and

learning. Specifically, Evan and Graham demonstrated relatively high achievement, and they neither reported nor were observed to use the strategy in STEM or humanities. If participants struggled in a class, then they were more prone to apply the strategy, most likely because they viewed the strategy as a tool for improving achievement. This was the case for Emily and James, who demonstrated notably lower levels of achievement. It was previously asserted that in-class use did not correlate to strategy learning. Rather, data indicate that strategy use in STEM and humanities is associated with student achievement in those courses.

The final factor that substantially influenced strategy performance was emotionalbehavioral (dys)regulation. The one participant most capable of regulating his emotions and behaviors (James) exhibited the best strategy performance, and he most often applied the strategy in his classes. However, the other three participants had teacher reports, demonstrations, and/or diagnoses indicating emotional variability, anxiety, depression, and maladaptive behaviors. Examples of corresponding emotions and behaviors were reported in the individual cases. Instances of emotional-behavioral dysregulation impacted strategy instruction to some extent, but more so, they affected the participants' engagement in their classes, which then precluded strategy use. Furthermore, when facing an emotional-behavioral challenge, the three participants were less likely to actively signal for an accommodation, provide their own accommodations, and use those accommodations appropriately. Emotional and behavioral (dys)regulation had the most noticeable—and probably most profound—influence on strategy performance and use indicating that participants who struggled to regulate their emotions and behaviors had difficulty using a strategy to regulate their learning.

Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning

The participants did not demonstrate obvious patterns of change in metacognition or SRL based on a comparison of their pre-/post- responses to the *Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory* (Sperling et al., 2002). However, the participants exhibited abilities and relative strengths on multiple data sources, typically in domains of metacognitive knowledge and rarely in domains of SRL. Collectively, the participants excelled in the domain of conditional knowledge, which is one element of metacognition. This means that they understood in which contexts to use certain accommodations and why those accommodations were appropriate for those contexts. Conversely, three of the participants (excluding James) had a weakness in the SRL domain of evaluation. Thus, they experienced difficulty with assessing the effectiveness of a chosen tool or strategy, which corresponded to step 5 of the SAP.

Although the participants did not demonstrate growth in metacognition or SRL after strategy instruction, metacognition and SRL nonetheless related to strategy performance. The participants' metacognitive knowledge allowed them to perform the early steps of the SAP fairly well. Declarative knowledge assisted with step 1, knowing *that* an accommodation is or is not needed. Conditional knowledge helped the participants know *when* or *why* an accommodation was appropriate (step 2). Procedural knowledge supported steps 3 and 4 of considering *how* to obtain and then actually using an accommodation. However, a lack of or limited SRL skills seemed to hinder strategy initiation. Specifically, challenges in the SRL domains of planning and information management might not have allowed participants to recognize opportunities to use the SAP. Also, weakness with evaluation interfered with performance of step 5, which

directed them to assess the effectiveness of a selected accommodation. It is worth noting that the one participant who demonstrated some self-regulated learning (James) also exhibited the best strategy performance and was most likely to use (initiate) it in his classes. Overall, the participants were more likely to think about their accommodations from a metacognitive perspective than a self-regulated learning perspective, which impacted strategy performance and limited in-class use.

Strategy Effectiveness

All of the participants agreed that the SAP is a beneficial tool. They believe that it would be *very* or *often* beneficial for students in special education in addition to recognizing that it prompted them to take more responsibility for their accommodations and improved how well they used their accommodations. While previous research indicated that student perceptions of the strategy impacted strategy learning and performance (Scanlon et al., in review), the converse seems to be true for these participants. Specifically, Graham's opinions declined (although still largely on the positive side) over time as he realized that he was not using the strategy in his classes. On the other hand, Emily and Evan's opinions on the SAP improved over time as they gained familiarity with the strategy. Thus, strategy use influenced their perceptions on the value of the strategy.

Chapter 5: Discussion

This chapter further discusses important trends in findings as they relate to existing literature on accommodations and the education of students with visual impairments. Topics include accommodations, self-determination, and regulation. Next, implications for research and practice are presented. Then the relevance of this study for the field of visual impairments is addressed. The chapter ends with limitations of the study and concluding thoughts.

Accommodations

The accommodations most commonly used by the participants in this study were accommodations that provided access to instruction, materials, and assignments and those that supported the participants as they engaged with the content of each of their classes. Examples of access accommodations are electronic notetakers, laptops, electronic materials, braille, and large print. Content support accommodations included prompting, strategies, and resources. These two categories of accommodations align most directly with the purpose of accommodations according to Lee et al. (2010), they allow students to access and advance in the general education curriculum.

The emphasis on access accommodations also supports Yarbrough, Trotter, and Lewis's (2019) finding that teachers of students with visual impairments (TVIs)—in their role as related service providers—tend to prioritize their instruction on tools, materials, and skills that most directly relate to accessing the general curriculum. Not only do TVIs focus on compensatory access and assistive technology (many of the access accommodations used in this study are assistive technology devices), these are also among the areas for which they report providing the most effective instruction. Attention to access and especially assistive technology is heavily influenced by the amount of time

that TVIs have available to work with students as well as their caseload size (Johnstone et al., 2009; Yarbrough et al., 2019). The participants involved in this study, because they attend a specialized school for students with visual impairments, received instruction in and practice with their access accommodations in isolated contexts (e.g., braille or technology classes) and in core content classes over several years. Additionally, the teacher-to-student ratio (the correlate to caseload size for TVIs working in public schools) is small. Both of these factors increase the amount of support students receive in learning to use their accommodations, which likely contributed to a greater variety of access accommodations used by each participant and adeptness with them beyond what is expected of students with visual impairments in inclusive settings based on limited time with their TVIs and large caseload sizes.

Like access accommodations, accommodations for content support align closely with the purpose of accommodation in that they allow students to advance in the curriculum (Lee et al., 2010). Additionally, the prevalence of content support connects to trends apparent in literature regarding schools for students with visual impairments. One trend is that most students enrolled in these schools have concomitant disabilities (Mahon, 2014). More specifically as it applies to this study, students who participate in academic programs at specialized schools tend to exhibit learning challenges that precluded them from making sufficient progress in the general curriculum in their local schools. Consequently, content support is one reason for enrolling them in a school for students with visual impairments. The other trend is that classroom teachers at specialized schools are uniquely situated to provide content support accommodations because they are trained both in working with students with visual impairments and in the

academic subjects that they teach (Allman & Lewis, 2017). Not only do the teachers know how vision-specific accommodations can and should be used in the content learning context, they understand how to make content-based accommodations accessible to students with visual impairments.

Student awareness of their accommodations is another trend in the present study that relates to existing research. Erin et al. (2006) and Lusk (2012) assert that students with visual impairments need support in making data-based decisions regarding their accommodations. However, a notable trend in this study indicates that students may need more foundational support upon which data-driven practices can then build. The four participants in this study could not identify many of their accommodations before strategy instruction, even though they were nearing the end of their high school education, but when their accommodations were listed for them, they were familiar with almost all of them. This may indicate that some students with visual impairments know the tools that they use, but particularly in naturally-accommodating environments, however, they may not recognize the exceptionality of those tools as accommodations. With limited awareness of their accommodations, students cannot accurately anticipate how they would function in novel settings (e.g., work, college) nor can they advocate effectively for the accommodations that they need.

Self-Determination

As noted in the introductory chapter, this intervention's intention of increasing student involvement in the accommodations process relates to self-determination, the practice of making decisions for oneself and/or acting on one's own behalf (Argan et al., 2007). Elements of pre-teaching used in this study and the SAP itself parallel Sapp and

Hatlen's (2010) criteria for fostering self-determination for students with visual impairments. The participants understood their abilities and disabilities through the activities list completed during pre-teaching: for each activity commonly encountered in a core content class, the participants discussed with the researcher their strengths and weaknesses. They knew the choices available to them by learning their individual IEP accommodations. The ability to advocate for or take advantage of their choices and the freedom to make their own choices corresponded to elements of the strategy.

Even with the alignment of the strategy and strategy instruction to the components of self-determination, however, the intervention was not entirely effective in promoting self-determination. This supports Robinson and Liebermann's (2004) evidence that students with visual impairments not only engage in self-determination infrequently but that their engagement does not increase in adolescence. Their findings also indicate that these limitations may be related to high levels of involvement from teachers, which corresponds to the moderate to high rates of teacher provision of accommodations in this study. Another explanation that Robinson and Liebermann offered is that students with visual impairments may be hindered by a lack of instruction or skill in self-determination. However, the participants in this study were explicitly instructed in self-determination knowledge and skills, but especially Graham and Emily remained overly-reliant on others to make decisions or take action on their behalf. This may indicate that habit or learned helplessness can impede self-determination even after instruction.

Self-determination is often associated with independence even though the two are not synonymous. The distinction between these concepts was important to consider in the present study because of the necessity of teachers providing some of the participants'

accommodations. James and Evan provided indications, through interviews and observations, of what self-determination looks like when involving others is necessary. The first indicator is that they took responsibility for deciding if and which accommodation was needed. They also knew that the selected accommodations were permissible because they were listed on their respective IEPs. It is worth noting that James and Evan did ask permission to use some of their accommodations; however, this occurred as an act of respect for the teacher or as a means of initiating the accommodations, not because they thought they needed teacher permission. In contrast, Emily and Graham sought permission for their accommodations because they did not believe that the decision was theirs to make, which indicates that they did not recognize the freedom to make their own choices. James and Evan initiated their accommodations by implementing ones to which they had access or by requesting others that needed to be teacher-provided. Finally, they knew that they had the right to respectfully redirect accommodations provided by a teacher if they did not meet their needs. Essentially, selfdetermination meant that they retained control of their accommodations even when they could not provide them themselves.

Regulation

Forms of self-regulation were confirmed as relevant to learning and performing the SAP. One of the most apparent trends in this research is the impact that emotionalbehavioral challenges had on strategy learning and performance and accommodation practices. To some extent, dysregulation of emotions and behaviors slowed strategy instruction in that, occasionally, participants were unable to focus on the SAP or related pre-teaching. More so, however, it hindered their engagement in their classes and

prevented them from using the SAP in those settings. Specifically, during instances of dysregulation, the participants were less proactive in requesting accommodations, less capable of providing their own accommodations, and less likely to use those accommodations effectively. The influence of emotional-behavioral dysregulation was further supported by the fact that the one participant without emotional-behavioral challenges (James) demonstrated the strongest SAP performance and most frequent application of the strategy in his classes. This trend is worth considering further because of the higher than average prevalence of emotional-behavioral disorders within the population of individuals with visual impairments (Demir et al., 2014).

Emotional and behavioral regulation is one component of self-regulation. As described in Chapter 2, self-regulation is the process of managing one's thoughts, behaviors, and emotions to attain a goal (Legault & Inzlicht, 2013). While self-regulation can be used in any context and to attain any goal, self-regulated learning distinguishes itself by utilizing select thought processes (i.e., planning, monitoring, evaluating) in academic environments for the goal of learning (Dinsmore et al., 2008). Given the educational setting and application of the SAP to learning tasks, this study aligned with self-regulated learning rather than self-regulation. Furthermore, previous research on the Student Self-Accommodation Strategy indicated that for the cognitive strategy to be learned and used well, instruction needed to incorporate principles and practices of selfregulated learning (Scanlon et al., in review). Despite the greater relevance of selfregulated learning, issues of self-regulation nonetheless hindered the intervention.

Furthermore, the current study's finding regarding emotional-behavioral dysregulation speaks to Lee et al.'s (2010) assertion that accommodations can reduce

challenging behaviors. There may be some element of contradiction in that accommodations responding to emotional and behavioral challenges were less likely to be used effectively in this study than other types of accommodations. However, the two findings together more so seem to indicate a "catch-22": accommodations decrease challenging behaviors, but challenging behaviors hinder accommodations use. Directly addressing self-regulation in the intervention may help break this cycle.

Implications

Findings from the present study have practical implications for the education of students with visual impairments in addition to implications for future research on the SAP. The first implication for practice is that TVIs should be intentional to not only teach students how to use accommodations but also to draw attention to the fact that they are accommodations. This may be more important for students who attend a school for students with visual impairments because of the naturally accommodating nature of these schools and because of the normalizing that occurs with accommodations in that setting. Student awareness of their accommodations is an essential component of preparing to advocate for those accommodations outside of primary and secondary school contexts (Sapp & Hatlen, 2010).

Another implication that relates to preparing students to advocate for their needs is that instruction in self-determination should begin when students are younger. Often the focus on self-determination intensifies (or begins) in adolescence. This may be due to an intentional focus on transition (e.g., the IDEA regulations for when IEP teams must consider transition planning) or the realization that typically-developing peers are wellversed in self-determination at that point. Waiting until the high school years, however,

may diminish the effectiveness of instruction in self-determination. By then, students may have habituated non-self-determined practices that they are resistant to change. Beginning instruction when students are younger, in developmentally appropriate ways, may help normalize self-determination so that students are more receptive to it as they mature.

Thinking specifically about SAP research, the present findings yield several implications for future studies. One is that the SAP itself is more accessible in its current form. Changes to the strategy from the previous study to the present one included simplifying the language involved in each step and streamlining the steps from seven down to five. The four participants sufficiently learned the steps and how to perform them indicating that this version of the SAP is appropriate to use in future research without warranting further revision.

Additionally, more time for instruction and practice would be beneficial for students with lower verbal and reasoning skills. This characteristic was associated with weaker learning and performance for the participants in the present study. Evidence did not indicate that they were incapable of learning and performing the strategy, simply that those with lower verbal and reasoning skills did not develop the same level of proficiency as participants with higher skills. More learning opportunities over a longer time would allow them to develop proficiency through increased practice and targeted instruction in the steps on which they struggle.

Another practice that might prove beneficial during strategy instruction in future studies is the use of in-class strategy coaching. Conceivably, this may serve three purposes related to strategy performance. First, it is anticipated to shift students from

intuitive, routinized accommodation practices to explicit, strategic accommodation use. Second, in-class coaching may encourage teachers to limit accommodation provision to necessities only, thereby increasing opportunities for SAP use. Finally, this practice would allow the teacher to prompt strategy use during emotional-behavioral dysregulation. Data on this function of in-class coaching would also contribute to an understanding on whether emotional and behavioral challenges impact students' abilities to perform the strategy or simply to initiate it. In-class strategy coaching could be implemented for a specified amount of time or it could fade based on student performance.

Continuing with implications for emotional-behavioral dysregulation, future research should attempt to anticipate participants' needs regarding self-regulation. As appropriate, the topic of self-regulation could be addressed in pre-teaching, and then incorporated in strategy practice. This includes providing several opportunities for students to practice the SAP related to instances of emotional and behavioral challenges and discussing with them what might prompt them to use the strategy when they are feeling overwhelmed/anxious/sad/angry/upset/frustrated. While these implications could be incorporated into a larger study, SAP research would benefit from a study specifically focused on the usefulness of the strategy for students with emotional-behavioral dysregulation. Not only has the impact of dysregulation on strategy learning and performance emerged as a hard finding in this study, it has been a soft finding in previous strategy research, especially for students with ADHD (Scanlon, Paisner-Roffman, & Nannemann, 2016).

An additional implication of the findings of the current study is a need for more time and focused instruction on self-regulated learning. The participants began the study with some metacognitive knowledge and continued to demonstrate it throughout the intervention. They did not begin the study with much awareness of regulating their own learning, however, and it was slow to develop if it developed at all. This indicates that more time and focused instruction are needed for students to develop skills in planning a course of action, in monitoring their own performance, in trouble-shooting if things are not working, and in evaluating the effectiveness of a chosen tool or strategy.

Finally, future SAP research should implement and investigate the strategy with students with visual impairments in public high schools. This implication is not based on findings but rather a logical next step for studying the SAP with students with visual impairments. Several factors differ between schools for students with visual impairments and public high schools that warrant this shift in research setting. First, public high schools are less accommodating for students with visual impairments, meaning that they will need more individualized accommodations to function in that environment. Second, students spend less time with their TVIs, which corresponds to less time for instruction and support in using their accommodations. Third, general education teachers are not knowledgeable about accommodations for students with visual impairments, placing greater responsibility on the students to advocate for and implement their accommodations. Thus, knowledge about the effectiveness of the SAP for students with VI in general would be discovered.

Relevance

In addition to the implications of the present study on educating students with visual impairments, this research is relevant to the field of visual impairments more broadly. It considers metacognition and self-regulated learning, which are almost non-existent in the literature. The study also relates to accommodations for individuals with visual impairments on a larger scale than education.

Metacognition and Self-Regulated Learning

In the existing literature, only one article currently addresses metacognition for students with visual impairments (i.e., Garb, 2000), with none on SRL. However, there are benefits to metacognition and SRL that correspond to challenges in the field of visual impairments. They improve achievement (Bishara, 2016; Dent & Koenka, 2016; Tanner, 2012), which can be a struggle for students with visual impairments, particularly those enrolled in specialized schools (Mahon, 2014). Even students in inclusive settings face lower expectations for achievement from the classroom teachers (Ajuwon et al., 2015; Bardin & Lewis, 2008). Metacognitive knowledge and SRL skills can counter inappropriate instructional practices commonly utilized in general education classrooms (Paris & Winograd, 1990). Not only are instructional practices a barrier to accessing the curriculum, instructional accommodations for students with visual impairments are not often implemented in inclusive classrooms (Abramo & Pierce, 2013; Jones et al., 2006; Rule et al., 2011; Wild et al., 2013). Additionally, an intentional focus on metacognition and self-regulated learning draws students' attention to an important similarity between themselves and typically-developing peers: all students have challenges to overcome in learning, experience confusion sometimes, and struggle with self-doubt (Paris &

Winograd, 1990). This would be a beneficial realization for students with visual impairments because many feel so stigmatized by the educational supports that they receive that they refuse their accommodations and/or to ask for help when needed (Rule et al., 2011). Furthermore, instruction in metacognition and SRL places more responsibility on students for their own learning while giving them the knowledge and skills that they need to do so effectively (Paris & Winograd, 1990; Pui, 2017; Tanner, 2012). This corresponds to several challenges facing students with visual impairments. Teachers report that these students exhibit lower levels of effort, motivation, initiative, and engagement that typically-developing students (Bardin & Lewis, 2008). Teachers and parents may provide too much support, leaving students without opportunities to develop skills in monitoring and directing their own learning (Robinson & Leibermann, 2004). Also, in inclusive classrooms, balancing individual and group needs can be difficult (Pui, 2017), which is further complicated by the fact that general education teachers lack experience and training in working with students with visual impairments (Ajuwon et al., 2015) while TVIs have limited availability to support students in the classroom (Herzberg & Stough, 2009; Zebehazy & Wilton, 2014a).

Although the present study does not use metacognition and SRL to address all of these challenges, it does highlight the application of metacognitive knowledge to accommodation practices and recognize the need for explicit instruction in self-regulated learning skills. Furthermore, it reintroduces the concepts of metacognition and SRL to the field of visual impairments, allowing researchers and practitioners to capitalize on the benefits experienced in other disability areas.

Accommodations

For individuals with visual impairments, accommodations are a necessity across the lifespan. Infants may need sound cues to know where a parent is in relation to them, and toddlers may benefit from having fewer toys on a shelf so that they can see each toy distinctly (Family Connect, 2019). Employers must provide "reasonable accommodations" according to the Americans with Disabilities Act to mitigate or overcome barriers in the workplace (American Foundation for the Blind, 2019). And, in retirement, seniors may benefit from adapted leisure activities such as audiobooks or braille playing cards (Vision Aware, 2019). While these illustrations represent distinct stages of life and areas of need, accommodations in one stage of life tend to be closely related to the accommodations in an adjacent stage. This study acknowledges this trend and intentionally engages with high school students to support their transition from secondary school into post-secondary education or employment regarding accommodations.

One of the defining aspects of this transition is that students shift from being recipients of accommodations to being advocates for accommodations. This draws attention to another global trend evident in the field of visual impairments, which is a lack of knowledge in the general population. Because visual impairment is a low-incidence disability, people have limited experience with individuals with visual impairments and, consequently, little understanding of their abilities and needs (Ajuwon et al., 2015; Garber & Huebner, 2017). This means that advocating for accommodations is not as simple as making a request. Individuals with visual impairments must be able to identify what they need, explain how they use it, articulate why they need it, and justify

how it relates to the expectations of a particular setting. The SAP prepares individuals to do precisely these things. Although it was taught to students for use on classroom accommodations, the process is applicable in any context where an accommodation is needed.

Limitations

This study had two notable limitations. The first regards timing. The study took place over thirteen weeks, which was a necessity of working within a school semester and around inclement weather (i.e., snow days). Increased time would have allowed for more strategy instruction and practice for participants with lower verbal and reasoning skills. Additionally, more time would have permitted a less condensed schedule for strategy instruction. Conducting strategy instruction over a two-week period allowed some of the participants to capitalize on short-term memory for demonstrating accommodations knowledge and strategy learning before progressing to the subsequent phase of strategy instruction and on the Pretest interview. However, as more time passed between strategy instruction and each of the Classroom Application and Ongoing Support interviews, it became evident that some of the participants struggled to retain what they had learned in strategy instruction. If strategy instruction had been spread out across more time, challenges with retention might have been realized and addressed before moving into Classroom Application and Ongoing Support. Finally, with more time, more data points could have been collected during Baseline and Classroom Accommodation and Ongoing Support to yield more reliable trends.

The second limitation relates to the emotional and behavioral challenges evidenced by Emily, Evan, and Graham during strategy instruction. No preparation was

done to plan responses to participants' instances of dysregulation that aligned with their behavior support plan (if they had one) or emotional/behavioral-related practices commonly used by teachers and staff. In the moment, the researcher's responses were based on observed interactions between the participants and teachers and the researcher's training and experience as a special educator. While those responses never exacerbated the participants' emotional-behavioral concerns, using practices established by the school may have been more effective in redirecting the participants back to strategy instruction.

Conclusion

The present study sought to increase the involvement of students with visual impairments in the accommodations process by using the SAP to teach them to be strategic in selecting and utilizing their accommodations. Strategy instruction began with pre-teaching focused on accommodations knowledge, the importance of preparedness, and the role of context before teaching and practicing the SAP. Because the SAP is a cognitive strategy, metacognition and self-regulated learning were incorporated into strategy instruction to foster performance of the strategy.

Cross-case analysis revealed key findings regarding strategy instruction, strategy learning and performance, and metacognition and self-regulated learning. First, explicit instruction and frequent review of accommodation knowledge can improve students' understanding of the purpose of accommodations and awareness of their individual accommodations. Second, students with visual impairments and related disabilities are capable of learning and performing the SAP. However, strategy learning, application, and performance are impacted by their verbal and reasoning skills. Furthermore, students who struggle to regulate their emotions and behaviors have difficulty using a strategy to

regulate their learning. Finally, students are more likely to think about their accommodations from a metacognitive perspective than a self-regulated learning perspective.

Considering the overarching goal of this intervention to improve the participants' strategic capabilities in selecting and utilizing their instructional accommodations, in the end, the participants reflected a spectrum of accomplishing this purpose. On one end of the spectrum is Graham, who never became a strategic thinker regarding his accommodations. Next is Emily, her strategic capabilities emerged over time but did not fully develop by the conclusion of the study. Then comes Evan. Evan learned to think strategically about his accommodations using the SAP, but he chose not to apply this capability in his current educational context. On the opposite end of the spectrum from Graham is James, who not only became strategic in selecting and utilizing his accommodation but also employed that way of thinking in his classes. Ultimately, this spectrum of outcomes indicates that strategic thinking can be taught and the SAP is a valuable tool for strategically thinking about accommodations; however, characteristics of each student and their learning environments have a considerable impact on the development of strategic thinking for accommodations.

References

- Abramo, J. M., & Pierce, A. E. (2013). An ethnographic case study of music learning at a school for the blind. *Bulletin of the Council for Research in Music Education*, 195, 9-24.
- Agran, M., Hong, S., & Blankenship, K. (2007). Promoting the self-determination of students with visual impairments: Reducing the gap between knowledge and practice. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 101(8), 453-464.
- American Foundation for the Blind. (2017). Accommodations and modifications at a glance: Educational accommodations for students who are blind or visually impaired. Retrieved from http://www.afb.org/info/programs-and-services/professional-development/experts-guide/accommodations-and-modifications-at-a-glance/1235
- American Foundation for the Blind. (2019). *Accommodations for workers with vision loss*. Retrieved from http://www.afb.org/info/for-employers/accommodations-forworkers-with-vision-loss/34
- American Printing House for the Blind. (2016). Annual report 2016: Distribution of eligible students based on the federal quota census of January 3, 2015 (fiscal year 2016). Retrieved from http://www.aph.org/federal-quota/distribution-of-students-2016/
- Ajuwon, P. M., Meeks, M. K., Griffin-Shirley, N., & Okungu, P. A. (2016). Reflections of teachers of visually impaired students on their assistive technology competencies. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 110(2), 128-134.

- Ajuwon, P. M., Sarraj, H., Griffin-Shirley, N., Lechtenberger, D., & Zhou, L. (2015). Including students who are visually impaired in the classroom: Attitudes of preservice teachers. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 109*(2), 131-137.
- Bardin, J. A., & Lewis, S. (2008). A survey of the academic engagement of students with visual impairments in general education classes. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 102(8), 472-483.
- Bishara, S. (2016). Self-regulated math instructions for pupils with learning disabilities. *Cogent Education*, 3(1). doi:10.1080/2331186X.2016.1262306
- Bolt, S. E., Decker, D. M., Lloyd, M., & Morlock, L. (2011). Students' perceptions of accommodations in high school and college. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 34*(3), 165-175. doi:10.1177/0885728811415098
- Brinck, I., & Liljenfors, R. (2013). The developmental origin of metacognition. *Infant* and Child Development, 22, 85-101. doi:10.1002/icd.1749
- Callender, A. A., Franco-Watkins, A. M., & Roberts, A. S. (2016). Improving metacognition in the classroom through instruction, training, and feedback. *Metacognition Learning*, 11, 215-235. doi:10.1007/s11409-015-9142-6
- Cooper, H. L., & Nichols, S. K. (2007). Technology and early braille literacy: Using the Mountbatten Pro Brailler in primary-grade classrooms. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 101*(1), 22-31.
- Corn, A. L., & Lusk, K. E. (2010). Perspectives on low vision. In A. L. Corn & J. N. Erin (Eds.) Foundations of low vision: Clinical and functional perspectives (2nd ed., pp. 3-34). New York, NY: AFB Press.

- Creswell, J., & Plano Clark, V. (2007). *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M. L., & Hanson, W. E. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. In A.Tashakkori & C.Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 209–240). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Dahm, S. D. (2002). New territory?: Rehabilitation teaching at a state school for the blind. *RE:view*, *34*(2), 77-85.
- D'Andrea, F. M. (2012). Preferences and practices among students who read braille and use assistive technology. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 106(10), 585-596.
- Demir, T., Bolat, N., Yavus, M., Karaçetin, G., Doğangün, B., & Kayaalp, L. (2014). Attachment characteristics and behavioral problems in children and adolescents with congenital blindness. *Noro Psikiyatri Arsivi*, 51(2), 116-121.
- Dent, A. L., & Koenka, A. C. (2016). The relation between self-regulated learning and academic achievement across childhood and adolescence: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review, 28*, 425-474. doi:10.1007/s/10648-015-9320-8
- Deshler, D.D., & Schumaker, J.B. (1988). An instructional model for teaching students how to learn. In J.L. Graden, J.E. Zins, & M.L. Curtis (Eds.), *Alternative education delivery systems: Enhancing instructional options for all students* (pp. 391-411). Washington, DC: National Association of School Psychologists.

- Dinsmore, D., Alexander, P., & Loughlin, S. (2008). Focusing the conceptual lens on metacognition, self-regulation, and self-regulated learning. *Educational Psychology Review*, 20, 391-409.
- Ellis, E. S., Deshler, D. D., Lenz, B. K., Schumaker, J. B., & Clark, F. L. (1991). An instructional model for teaching learning strategies. *Focus on Exceptional Children, 23*(6), 1-24.
- Erin, J. N., Hong, S., Schoch, C., & Kuo, Y. (2006). Relationships among testing medium, test performance, and testing time of high school students who are visually impaired. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 100(9), 523-532.
- Family Connect. (2019). Babies and toddlers who are blind or visually impaired. Retrieved from https://www.familyconnect.org/info/browse-by-age/infants-and-toddlers/12
- Farnsworth, C. R., & Luckner, J. L. (2008). The impact of assistive technology on curriculum accommodation for a braille-reading student. *RE:view*, 39(4), 171-187.
- Flavell, J. H. (1979). Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: A new area of cognitivedevelopmental inquiry. *American Psychologist*, 34(10), 906-911.
- Fletcher, T. V., Bos, C. S., & Johnson, L. M. (1999). Accommodating English language learners with language and learning disabilities in bilingual education classrooms. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 14(2), 80-91.
- Garb, E. (2000). Maximizing the potential of young adults with visual impairments: The metacognitive element. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 94(9), 574-583.

- Garber, M., & Huebner, K. M. (2017). Visual impairment: Terminology, demographics, society. In M. C. Holbrook, T. McCarthy, & C. Kamei-Hannon (Eds.) *Foundations of education: History and theory of teaching children and youths with visual impairments* (3rd ed., Vol. I, pp. 50-72). New York, New York: AFB Press.
- Graham, S. & Harris, K. R. (1993). Self-regulated strategy development: Helping students with learning problems develop as writers. *The Elementary School Journal*, 94(2), 169-181.
- Hanson, W. E., Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Petska, K. S., & Creswell, J. D. (2008). Mixed methods research designs in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 224-235.
- Herzberg, T. (2010). Error analysis of brailled instructional materials produced by public school personnel in Texas. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 104(12), 765-774.
- Herzberg, T. S., & Rosenblum, L. P. (2014). Print to braille: Preparation and accuracy of mathematics materials in k-12 education. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 108(5), 355-367.
- Herzberg, T. S., & Stough, L. M. (2007). The production of brailled instructional materials in Texas public schools. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 101(8), 465-478.
- Hill, E. W., Rosen, S., Correa, V. I., & Langley, M. B. (1984). Preschool orientation and mobility: An expanded definition. *Education of the Visually Handicapped*, 16, 58-72.

- Horner, R. H., Carr, E. G., Halle, J., McGee, G., Odom, S., & Wolery, M. (2005). The use of single-subject research to identify evidence-based practice in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 71(2), 165-179.
- Huebner, K. M., Merk-Adam, B., Stryker, D., & Wolffe, K. (2004). *The national agenda* for the education of children and youths with visual impairments, including those with multiple disabilities: Revised. New York: AFB Press.
- Hudesman, J., Crosby, S., Flugman, B., Isaac, S., Everson, H., & Clay, D. B. (2013).
 Using formative assessment and metacognition to improve student achievement. *Journal of Developmental Education*, *37*(1), 2-13.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEA) 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq. (2004).
- Johnstone, C., Thurlow, M., Altman, J., Timmons, J., & Kato, K. (2009). Assistive technology approaches for large-scale assessment: Perceptions of teachers of students with visual impairments. *Exceptionality*, 17, 66-75.
- Jones, M. G., Minogue, J., Oppewal, T., Cook, M. P., & Broadwell, B. (2006). Visualizing without vision at the microscale: Students with visual impairments explore cells with touch. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 15(5), 345-351.
- Kamei-Hannan, C. (2008). Examining the accessibility of a computerized adapted test using assistive technology. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 102(5), 261-271.
- Kamei-Hannan, C., Howe, J., Herrera, R. R., & Erin, J. N. (2012). Perceptions of teachers of students with visual impairments regarding assistive technology: A follow-up

to a university course. Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 106(10), 666-678.

- Kaplan, A. (2008). Clarifying metacognition, self-regulation, and self-regulated learning: What's the purpose? *Educational Psychology Review*, 20, 477-484. doi:10.1007/s10648-008-9087-2
- Kelly. S. M. (2009). Use of assistive technology by students with visual impairments: Findings from a national survey. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 103(8), 470-480.
- Kelly, S. M. (2011). The use of assistive technology by high school students with visual impairments: A second look at the current problem. *Journal of Visual Impairment* & Blindness, 105(4), 235-239.
- Khan, S., & VanWynsberghe, R. (2008). Cultivating the under-mined: Cross-case analysis as knowledge mobilization. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 9(1).
- Kozik, P. L., Cooney, B., Vinciguerra, S., Gradel, K., & Black, J. (2009). Promoting inclusion in secondary schools through appreciative inquiry. *American Secondary Education*, 38(1), 77-91.
- Laprairie, K., Johnson, D. D., Rice, M., Adams, P., & Higgins, B. (2010). The top ten things new high school teachers need to know about servicing students with special needs. *American Secondary Education*, 38(2), 23-31.
- Lee, S., Wehmeyer, M. L., Soukup, J. H., & Palmer, S. B. (2010). Impact of curriculum modifications on access to the general education curriculum for students with disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 76(2), 213-233.

- Legault, L., & Inzlicht, M. (2013). Self-determination, self-regulation, and the brain: Autonomy improves performance by enhancing neuroaffective responsiveness to self-regulation failure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 105(1), 123-138.
- Levine, P., & Wagner, M. (2005). The household circumstances and emerging independence of out-of-school youth with disabilities. In M. Wagner, L. Newman, R. Cameto, N. Garza, & P. Levine (Eds.), *After high school: A first look at the postschool experiences of youth with disabilities. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2).* Menlo Park, CA: SRI International, Available from

http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2005_04/nlts2_report_2005_04_ch6.pdf

- Lewis, S., & Allman, C. B. (2017). Educational programming. In M. C. Holbrook, T. McCarthy, & C. Kamei-Hannan (Eds.). *Foundations of education: History and theory of teaching children and youths with visual impairments* (3rd ed., Vol. I, pp. 280-321). New York, New York: AFB Press.
- Lichtinger, E., & Kaplan, A. (2015). Employing a case study approach to capture motivation and self-regulation of young students with learning disabilities in authentic educational contexts. *Metacognition and Learning*, *10*(1), 119-149.
- Lienemann, T. O., & Ried, R. (2006). Self-regulated strategy development for students with learning disabilities. *Teacher Education and Special Education, 29*(1), 3-11.
- Lusk, K. E. (2012). The effects of various mounting systems of near magnification on reading performance and preference in school-age students with low vision. *The British Journal of Visual Impairment*, 30(3), 168-181.

- McDonnall, M. C., & Crudden, A. (2009). Factors affecting the successful employment of transition-age youths with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 103(6), 329-341.
- McMahon, E. (2014). The role of specialized schools for students with visual impairments in the continuum of placement options: The right help, at the right time, in the right place. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 108*(6), 449-459.
- National Institute of Health. (2018a, April 11). Norrie disease. Retrieved from https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition/norrie-disease.
- National Institute of Health. (2018b, April 17). *Bardet-Beidl syndrome*. Retrieved from https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition/bardet-biedl-syndrome
- Nelson, K. A., & Dimitrova, E. (1993) Severe visual impairment in the United States and in each state, 1990. *Journal of Visual Impairment and Blindness*, 87, 80-85.
- Paris, S. G., Lipson, M. Y., & Wixson, K. K. (1983). Becoming a strategic reader. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 8, 293-316.
- Paris, S. G., & Winograd, P. (1990). Promoting metacognition and motivation of exceptional children. *Remedial and special education*, 11(8), 7-15.
- Patton, M. Q. (2001). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage Publications.
- Pintrich, P. (2002). The role of metacognitive knowledge in learning, teaching, and assessing. *Theory Into Practice*, *41*, 219-226.

Polloway, E. A., Epstein, M. H., & Bursuck, W. D. (2003). Testing adaptations in the general education classroom: Challenges and directions. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 19(2), 189-192. doi:10.1080/10573560308220

Prater, M. A., Redman, A. S., Anderson, D., & Gibb, G. S. (2014). Teaching adolescent students with learning disabilities to self-advocate for accommodations. *Intervention in School and Clinic, 49*(5), 298-305. doi:10.1177/1053451213513958

- Pui, W. S. W. (2017). Differentiated curriculum design: Responding to the individual and group needs of students with learning difficulties with self-regulated learning strategies. *Support for Learning*, 31(4), 329-346.
- Richie, G. (2005). Two interventions that enhance the metacognition of students with disabilities. *Kairaranga*, 6(2), 25-32.
- Robinson, B. L., & Liebermann, L. J. (2004). Effects of visual impairment, gender, and age on self-determination. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 98(6), 350-366.
- Rozalski, M., Miller, J., & Stewart, A. (2011). Least restrictive environment. In J. M. Kauffman & D. P. Hallahan (Eds.), *Handbook of special education*, New York, NY: Routledge.
- Rule, A. C., Stefanich, G. P., Boody, R. M., & Peiffer, B. (2011). Impact of adaptive materials on teachers and their students with visual impairments in secondary science and mathematics classes. *International Journal of Science Education*, 33(6), 865-887. doi:10.1080/09500693.2010.506619

- Sacks, S., & Silberman, R. (1998). *Educating students who have visual impairments with other disabilities*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Sapp, W., & Hatlen, P. (2010). The expanded core curriculum: Where we have been, where we are going, and how we can get there. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 104(6), 338-348.
- Scanlon, D., & Baker, D. (2012). An accommodations model for the secondary inclusive classroom. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 35(4), 212-224. doi:10.1177/-731948712451261
- Scanlon, D., Paisner-Roffman, H., & Nannemann, A. (2016, March 11). The role of metacognition in learning from explicit strategy instruction. Paper presentation at the 31st Annual Learning Differences Conference, Cambridge, MA.
- Schumm, J. S., & Vaughn, S. (1991). Making adaptations for mainstreamed students: General education teachers' perspectives. *Remedial and Special Education*, 12(4), 18-27.
- Scott, B. M., & Berman, A. F. (2013). Examining the domain-specificity of metacognition using academic domains and task-specific individual differences. *Australian Journal of Educational & Developmental Psychology*, 13, 28-43.
- Schwartz, T. L. (2010). Causes of visual impairment: Pathology and its implications. In A. L. Corn & J. N. Erin (Eds.) *Foundations of low vision: Clinical and functional perspectives* (2nd ed., pp. 137-191). New York, NY: AFB Press.
- Silberman, R. K., Bruce, S. M., & Nelson, C. (2004). Children with sensory impairments. In F. P. Orelove, D. Sobsey, & Silberman, R. K. (Eds.), *Educating children with*

multiple disabilities: A collaborative approach (4th ed., pp. 425-528). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks Publishing Co.

- Smith, D. W., & Smothers, S. M. (2012). The role and characteristics of tactile graphics in secondary mathematics and science textbooks in braille. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 106*(9), 543-554.
- Sperling, R. A., Howard, B. C., Miller, L. A., & Murphy, C. (2002). Measures of children's knowledge and regulation of cognition. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 27(1), 51-79.
- Spungin, S. J. (Ed.). (2002). *When you have a visually impaired student in your classroom: A guide for teachers.* New York: AFB Press.
- Spungin, S. J., & Ferrell, K. A. (2007). The role and function of the teacher of students with visual impairments: A position paper of the Division on Visual Impairments, Council of Exceptional Children.
- Strauss, A. L., & Corbin, J. M. (1990). Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Tanner, K. D. (2012). Promoting student metacognition. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, 11, 113-120.
- Test, D. W., Fowler, C. H., Wood, W. M., Brewer, D. M., & Eddy, S. (2005). A conceptual framework of self-advocacy for students with disabilities. *Remedial* and Special Education, 26(1), 43-54.
- Thurlow, M. L., & Bolt, S. (2001). Empirical support for accommodations most often allowed in state policy (Synthesis Report No. 41). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- U. S. Department of Education. (2016). Thirty-eighth annual report to congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office.
- Vision Aware. (2019). *Retirement living and vision loss*. Retrieved from https://www.visionaware.org/info/for-seniors/retirement-living/12
- Walet, J. (2011). Differentiating for struggling readers and writers: Improving motivation and metacognition through multisensory methods & explicit strategy instruction. *Journal of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals*, 83-91.
- Wall, R. S., & Corn, A. L. (2004). Students with visual impairments in Texas:
 Description and extrapolation of data. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 98, 352-356.
- Ward, M. E. (2010). Anatomy and physiology of the eye. In A. L. Corn & J. N. Erin (Eds.) *Foundations of low vision: Clinical and functional perspectives* (2nd ed., pp. 111-136). New York, NY: AFB Press.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., & Palmer, S. B. (2003). Adult outcomes for students with cognitive disabilities three years after high school: The impact of self-determination. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, 38, 131-144.
- Wild, T. A., Hilson, M. P., & Farrand, K. M. (2013). Conceptual understanding of geological concepts by students with visual impairments. *Journal of Geoscience Education*, 61(2), 222-230.
- Winnie, P.H. (2010). Improving measurements of self-regulated learning. *Educational Psychologists*, 45(4), 267-276.

- Yarbrough, S., Trotter, N., & Lewis, S. (2019, January 31). Relationships among barriers and facilitators in the delivery of expanded core curriculum instruction for students with visual impairments. Panel presentation at the annual meeting of the Council for Exceptional Children, Indianapolis, IN.
- Yin, R. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishing.
- Zebehazy, K. T., & Wilton, A. P. (2014a). Quality, importance, and instruction: The perspectives of teachers of students with visual impairments on graphics use by students. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 108(1), 5-16.
- Zebehazy, K. T., & Wilton, A. P. (2014b). Straight from the source: Perceptions of students with visual impairments about graphic use. *Journal of Visual Impairment* & Blindness, 108(4), 275-286.
- Zebehazy, K. T., & Wilton, A. P. (2014c). Straight from the source: Perceptions of students with visual impairments about graphic use. *Journal of Visual Impairment* & Blindness, 108(4), 275-286.
- Zhou, L., Ajuwon, P. M., Smith, D. W., Griffin-Shirley, N., Parker, A. T., & Okungu, P. (2012). Assistive technology competencies for teachers of students with visual impairments: A national study. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 106(10), 656-665.
- Zhou, L., Smith, D. W., Parker, A. T., & Griffin-Shirley, N. (2011). Assistive technology competencies of teachers of students with visual impairments: A comparison of perceptions. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 105(9), 533-547.

- Zimmerman, B. J. (1986). Becoming a self-regulated learner: Which are the key subprocesses? *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *11*, 307-313.
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Bandura, A. (1994). Impact of self-regulatory influences on writing course attainment. *American Educational Research Journal*, *31*(4), 845-862.

Appendices

Appendix A

Student Consent Form

Dear Student.

This is a project that Mrs. Nannemann is doing with high school students to learn more about how students participate in their classes. You can help with this project if you want to, but you do not have to participate.

In this project, Mrs. Nannemann will teach you a strategy for participating in your classes by using your accommodations. Every school day during the study, you will be asked to complete a check list of the accommodations you used that day, and once a week, you will be asked to write a few sentences about how you used the strategy in one of your classes during the week. Every other week, you will complete an interview about how you are using the strategy and you will be observed in two classes. At the end of the study, you will complete a survey of your opinions about the strategy. You will not be asked to do any extra work other than learning the strategy, completing the daily checklist of accommodations, and writing a few sentences ab out using the strategy once a week. This study will last for about 15 weeks.

Your name will not be used in any papers written about this project. Your name will also not be put on the audio recordings of the interviews, and these recordings will be erased when the study is finished.

If you decide to help with this study but then change your mind, you can stop participating at any time. Helping with this project might help you understand how to learn better, but it might be uncomfortable to talk about your learning with me. Participating in this project will not cost you anything.

If you do not understand what Mrs. Nannemann would like you to do, please ask her questions.

If you want to help with this study, please sign your name below.

Student's Name

Student's Signature

Check here if it is okay for Mrs. Nannemann to audio record your interviews

Check here if you do not want to have your interviews audio recorded

Witness in lieu of signature: In my judgement, the student understands the information in this consent form and agrees to be in the study.

Witness Signature Date

Appendix B

Parent Consent Form

Informed Consent for Your Child's Participation in

A Self-Accommodation Strategy for Students with Visual Impairments

Investigator: Allison Nannemann, M. Ed.

Dear Parent or Guardian,

I am asking your permission for your son/daughter to be in a research study. Your child was selected as a possible participant because he/she has a visual impairment and is enrolled in inclusive classes. Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to have your child participate in the study.

Purpose of the Study:

The purpose of this study is to understand how students learn and use a cognitive strategy for taking an active role in using their accommodations in inclusive classes.

Description of Study Procedures:

If you agree for your child to participate in this study, you will allow the Investigator to collect the following data from/about your child:

- interviews on accommodations knowledge and strategy performance (30 minutes approximately every other week);
- classroom observations (45 minutes approximately every other week);
- checklists of used accommodations (5 minutes daily);
- descriptions of strategy use during an inclusive class (5 minutes weekly);
- a social satisfaction survey (10 minutes, end of study); and
- demographic information, including age, gender, race/ethnicity, grade, description of visual impairment (eye condition, acuity, field restrictions), and special education status. Participating teachers will be asked to complete surveys on student accommodation practices at

Participating teachers will be asked to complete surveys on student accommodation practices at the beginning and end of the study. This study will take approximately 15 weeks to complete.

The Investigator, an experienced teacher of students with visual impairments, will teach the experimental Student Self-Accommodation Strategy to participating students, conduct interviews, and complete observations. Only the observations will take place during academic classes. Strategy instruction and interviews will occur during the school day during a non-academic class. Checklists of used accommodations and descriptions of strategy use will be completed by students on their own time through electronic surveys. Every week day, the link to that day's survey will be texted or e-mailed to your child at 6:00pm. You will have the opportunity at the end of this form to indicate your preferred method of sharing the link, the best cell phone number or email address to use, and the time you would like the link to be sent if other than 6:00pm.

Risks to Being in the Study:

The risk associated with this study is that your child might experience discomfort when being observed or sharing his/her ideas with the Investigator on surveys or interviews. The investigator will stress that the goal is to learn from him/her about how to better teach students. Your child's responses to questions will in no way impact his/her grades in school. This study may include risks that are unknown at this time.

Benefits to Being in the Study:

The data collected during this study will help determine the effectiveness of the Student Self-Accommodation Strategy to support student success in inclusive classes. Your child may benefit educationally from effective accommodations usage through the Student Self-Accommodation Strategy. Another benefit of participating include that your child will indirectly help other students and teachers make effective use of accommodations in the classroom.

Cost/Payment:

There is no cost or financial reimbursement for participation in this study. A \$15 Simon Giftcard will be given to each participating student as a gesture of appreciation regardless of whether or not they finish the study. An additional dollar (\$1) will be added to the giftcard for each of the electronic surveys (checklist of used accommodations and description of strategy usage) completed, with a \$10 bonus if all of these surveys are completed.

Confidentiality:

Only the Investigator and her dissertation committee will have access to records from this study. Your child's name will be changed to a pseudonym to protect his/her identity. The original records will be stored in a locked file (paper documents) or on a secure electronic server (electronic files) until their destruction five years after the completion of the project. These records will be kept private. In any report that is published from this study, it will not include any information that will make it possible for your child or school to be identified. Please note that regulatory agencies, the Boston College Office for Research Protections, and internal auditors may review the research records.

Voluntary Participation/Withdrawal:

Your child's participation is voluntary. If you choose not to have him/her participate, it will not affect current or future relations with Boston College or your child's school. You are free to withdraw your child at any time for any reason. Your child is also free to withdraw. There is no penalty or loss of benefits for not taking part or for stopping participation. If your child appears uncomfortable, the Investigator may ask if he/she would like to withdraw from the study.

Contacts and Questions:

The Investigator conducting this study is Allison Nannemann, M. Ed. This research project is being supervised by Dr. David Scanlon. For questions or more information about this project, please contact Allison Nannemann at 615.483.3083 or <u>allison.nannemann@bc.edu</u>. If you have additional concerns, please contact Dr. David Scanlon at 617.552.1949. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Director of the Office for Research Protections at Boston College at 617.552.4778 or <u>irb@bc.edu</u>.

Copy of Consent Form:

You are being given a copy of this form to keep for your records and future reference.

Statement of Consent:

I have read (or had read to me) the contents of this consent form and have been encouraged to ask questions. I have received answers to my questions. I give consent for my child to participate in this study. I have received a copy of this form.

Study Participant (Print Child's Name):		
Parent/Guardian (Print Name):		
Parent/Guardian (Signature):	Date:	
***Please complete the following information for sharing the link to the electronic surveys. Failure to complete this section will result in the link being shared via text to the number provided by the student participant at 6:00pm each week night.		
Check One:		
Please text the link to the following cell phone	number:	
Please e-mail the link to the following e-mail address:		
Check One:		
The link may be sent at 6:00pm		
Please send the link at the following time:		

Appendix C

Teacher Consent Form

Teacher Informed Consent for Participation in

A Self-Accommodation Strategy for Students with Visual Impairments

Investigator: Allison Nannemann, M. Ed.

Dear Educator,

You are being asked to participate in a research study examining how students learn and use the Student Self-Accommodation Strategy. You were selected as a possible participant in this study because you teach students with visual impairments enrolled in academic inclusive classes; the school district has provided permission for this study. Please read the form and ask any questions that you may have before agreeing to participate.

Purpose of the Study:

The purpose of this study is to understand how students learn and use a cognitive strategy for taking an active role in using their accommodations in inclusive classes.

Description of Study Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will participate in the following forms of data collection:

- teacher demographics form,
- observations of your class(es) in which participating student(s) are enrolled (1-3 times per week approximately every other week), and
- survey on student accommodation practices for each participating student you teach (beginning and end of study).
- The following data from/about the participating student will also be collected:
- interviews on accommodations knowledge and strategy performance (30 minutes approximately every other week),
- checklists of used accommodations (5 minutes daily),
- descriptions of strategy use during an inclusive class (5 minutes weekly), and
- a social satisfaction survey (10 minutes, end of study).

The study is anticipated to take 15 weeks to complete.

The Investigator, an experienced teacher of students with visual impairments, will teach the experimental Student Self-Accommodation Strategy to participating students, conduct interviews, and complete observations. Only the observations will take place during academic classes. Strategy instruction and interviews will occur during the school day during a non-academic class. Checklists of used accommodations and descriptions of strategy use will be completed by students on their own time through electronic surveys.

Risks to Being in the Study:

The risk associated with this study is that you might experience discomfort when being observed. This study may include risks that are unknown at this time.

Benefits to Being in the Study:

The benefits of participation are that you will have the opportunity to reflect on and improve your own instructional practices as well as help other teachers in improving their instruction and students to improve their learning.

Cost/Payment:

There is no cost or financial reimbursement for participation in this study. You will receive a \$50 Visa giftcard for participating in the study. If you decide to withdraw from the study for any reason, your payment will be prorated.

Confidentiality:

The records of this study will be used for both research and educational purposes. Only the Investigator and her dissertation committee will have access to the records. All records will have pseudonyms for the teachers and students to protect their identity. Original records will be stored in a locked file (paper records) or on a secure server (electronic records) until their destruction five years after the completion of this project. Any report published from this study will not include information that will make it possible to identify a participant. Please note that regulatory agencies, Boston College's Institutional Review Board, and internal auditors may review the research records.

Voluntary Participation/Withdrawal:

Your participation is voluntary. If you choose not to participate, it will not affect current or future relations with Boston College or your school. You are free to withdraw at any time for any reason. There is no penalty for not taking part or for stopping participation, and as mention ed above, your compensation will be prorated. If you appear uncomfortable, the Investigator may ask if you would like to withdraw from the study.

Contacts and Questions:

The Investigator conducting this study is Allison Nannemann, M. Ed. This research project is being supervised by Dr. David Scanlon. For questions or more information about this project, please contact Allison Nannemann at 615.483.3083 or <u>allison.nannemann@bc.edu</u>. If you have additional concerns, please contact Dr. David Scanlon at 617.552.1949. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Director of the Office for Research Protections at Boston College at 617.552.4778 or <u>irb@bc.edu</u>.

Copy of Consent Form:

You are being given a copy of this form to keep for your records and future reference.

Statement of Consent:

I have read (or had read to me) the contents of this consent form and have been encouraged to ask questions. I have received answers to my questions. I give consent to participate in this study. I have received a copy of this form.

Study Participant (Print Name): ______

Participant or Legal Representative Signature: ______

Date: _____

Appendix D

Cumulative Folder Review Form

Today's Date:	 	
Student Name:	 	
Gender:	 	
Race/Ethnicity:	 	
Age:	 	
Current Grade:	 	

Grades:

Semester:	
Subject	Grade

IQ:
Diagnosed Disabilities:
Date of Eye Report:
Eye Condition:
Visual Acuity:
Peripheral Field Restriction:
IEP Reporting Categories:
Allowable Accommodations:

Appendix E

Observation Protocol

Student				
On Time?	Yes		No	
Check Environ?	Yes	No	?	N/A
Has Tools?	Yes	No	?	N/A
Tools Prep?	Yes	No	?	N/A

Task	
Materials	
Student Role(s):	Li Re Wr No V (
Reason	
Who signaled?	Student GT ST PP N/A
How signaled?	
Who provided?	Student GT ST PP N/A
# got acc	1 a few class
Stu use approp?	YN?
Monitored? Y N	
Outcome	
New need? Y N	

Task	
Materials	
Student Role(s):	Li Re Wr No V (
)
Reason	
Who signaled?	Student GT ST PP
_	N/A
Howsignaled?	
Who provided?	Student GT ST PP
	N/A
# got acc	1 a few class
Stu use approp?	Y N ?
Monitored? Y N	
Outcome	
New need? Y N	

Task	
Materials	
Student Role(s):	Li Re Wr No V (
)
Reason	
Who signaled?	Student GT ST PP
	N/A
How signaled?	
Who provided?	Student GT ST PP
	N/A
# got acc	1 a few class
Stu use approp?	Y N ?
Monitored? Y N	
Outcome	
New need? Y N	

Individual/small group instruction
Predictable environment
Distraction-free environment
Appropriate timing

Student				
On Time?	Yes		No	
Check Environ?	Yes	No	?	N/A
Has Tools?	Yes	No	?	N/A
Tools Prep?	Yes	No	?	N/A

Task	
Materials	
Student Role(s):	Li Re Wr No V (
Reason	
Who signaled?	Student GT ST PP N/A
How signaled?	
Who provided?	Student GT ST PP N/A
# got acc	1 a few class
Stu use approp?	YN?
Monitored? Y N	
Outcome	
New need? Y N	
Task	
Materials	
Student Role(s):	Li Re Wr No V (
Reason	
Who signaled?	Student GT ST PP N/A
How signaled?	
Who provided?	Student GT ST PP N/A
# got acc	1 a few class
Stu use approp?	Y N ?
Monitored? Y N	
Outcomo	
Outcome	
New need? Y N	
New need? Y N Task	
New need? Y N Task Materials	

i i at ci i ai b	
Student Role(s):	Li Re Wr No V (
)
Reason	
Who signaled?	Student GT ST PP N/A
Howsignaled?	
Who provided?	Student GT ST PP
	N/A
# got acc	1 a few class
Stu use approp?	YN?
Monitored? Y N	
Outcome	
New need? Y N	

Date	
Class and Period	
T eacher(s)	
Number of students	

Appendix F

Baseline Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview

Name: ______

Date:_____

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Survey

<u>Directions</u>: Answer all questions from memory or with your opinion –do not look up any answers.

1. What is an accommodation?

Please write a <u>definition</u>, don't just give an example.

2. Why do students get accommodations?

3. What students can get an accommodation?

4A. Please list:

Accommodations I am supposed to receive.

In which classes?

4B. Please list:

Any other accommodations I sometimes receive. In which classes?

Appendix G

Pretest and Week 4 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview

Name:	Date:

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Interview

<u>Directions</u>: Answer all questions from memory or with your opinion -do not look up any answers.

1. What is an accommodation?

Please write a <u>definition</u>, don't just give an example.

2. Why do students get accommodations?

3. What students can get an accommodation?

4A. Please list:

Accommodations I am supposed to receive.

In which classes?

4B. Please list:

Any other accommodations I sometimes receive. In which classes?

5. Why do you get your accommodations?

(This question is about just you.)

6. Explain how you feel about having accommodations in your classes.

Hint: Do you like having them? Do they help you? What's it like to get them?

7. How often do you get accommodations in...

...your English & History classes:

...your Math & Science classes:

Check only one:	Check only one:	
 regularly, almost every day 	 regularly, almost every day 	
 often, maybe once or twice a week 	 often, maybe once or twice a week 	
o sometimes, once a week or less	o sometimes, once a week or less	
 rarely, I get them sometimes, but 	 rarely, I get them sometimes, but 	
most days I don't	most days I don't	
o never	o never	

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Usage Survey

I'm going to ask you some questions about our self-accommodation strategy and accommodations. You might remember being asked these questions before. We just want to find out how you think about using the SSA in your classes. You are being very helpful to us learning about whether or not the strategy will be useful for students.

Please answer for your English, Math, Science, and Social Studies/History classes."

- 8. What is the name of our strategy for remembering to use accommodations?
- 9. What does it mean to be strategic in using your accommodations?
- 10. Describe each step in the student self-accommodation strategy.
- 14. When can you use the student self-accommodation strategy?
- 15. Why should students use the self-accommodation strategy?

Metacognitive Think-Aloud

Speak the following to the student:

(probe: how would you do that?, or tell me more? as needed)

Let's say an accommodation you are supposed to get is to use wireless headphones when a video is shown during class so that you can more clearly hear the video's descriptive audio if it has that feature.

16. Explain to me how you would use the student self-accommodation strategy for that accommodation.

17. How could you figure out when you get to class whether you will need your headphones today?

18. Let's say you brought your headphones in your book bag in case you are going to need them at some point in class, what should you do with them when you arrive to class?

19. If all the teacher says at the start of class is "after attendance we are going to watch an old movie," how could you determine if you need to use your headphones or not? Remember: you need the headphones if the video has descriptive audio.

20. OK, for any assignment you are doing in class, how would you decide whether you need to use your headphones for the assignment? Remember: you need the headphones if the video has descriptive audio.

21A. What if you forget to bring your headphones and the teacher says everyone has to take notes on the video?

(prompt: if student says something like "the teacher could have us work in groups instead" say, "good idea, but tell me how you would do the SSA in this situation")

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

22A. What if your teacher says you don't need your accommodation today but then she decides to show a video to demonstrate something that came up in class?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

23A. What if you have a sub who says "everyone will watch the video, no one can listen to headphones."

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

24A. What if you are using your headphones but they stop working in the middle of the movie?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

25. What will you think about at the end of class regarding whether you need to use your headphones on future assignments in this class?

Tell me how you have used the self-accommodation strategy recently for one of your classes.

What is hard about using the SSA?

What is easy about using the SSA?

Directions: Circle your answer.

... in Math & Science classes?

11. How responsible are you for using your accommodations...

Ι I Ι Sometimes Never Often Always am responsible take take am responsibility responsibility responsible for using it

... in English & History class?

I	Ι	I	I
Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
take	take	am	am responsible
responsibility	responsibility	responsible	for using it

12. How helpful is our strategy for you taking responsibility for your accommodations?

Ι	I	I	
Not	А	Usually	Very
at all	little	helpful	helpful
helpful	helpful		

13. How well can you perform our strategy today?

	I		I
Can't	Can	Can	Can
perform	perform	perform	perform
at all	but poorly	fairly well	extremely well

Appendix H

Week 1 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview

Name:	Date:	

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Interview

<u>Directions</u>: Answer all questions from memory or with your opinion -do not look up any answers.

1. What is an accommodation?

Please write a <u>definition</u>, don't just give an example.

2. Why do students get accommodations?

3. What students can get an accommodation?

4A. Please list:

Accommodations I am supposed to receive.

In which classes?

4B. Please list:

Any other accommodations I sometimes receive. In which classes?

5. Why do you get your accommodations?

(This question is about just you.)

6. Explain how you feel about having accommodations in your classes.

Hint: Do you like having them? Do they help you? What's it like to get them?

7. How often do you get accommodations in...

...your English & History classes:

...your Math & Science classes:

Check only one:	Check only one:	
 regularly, almost every day 	 regularly, almost every day 	
o often, maybe once or twice a week	 often, maybe once or twice a week 	
o sometimes, once a week or less	 sometimes, once a week or less 	
 rarely, I get them sometimes, but 	 rarely, I get them sometimes, but 	
most days I don't	most days I don't	
o never	o never	

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Usage Survey

I'm going to ask you some questions about our self-accommodation strategy and accommodations. You might remember being asked these questions before. We just want to find out how you think about using the SSA in your classes. You are being very helpful to us learning about whether or not the strategy will be useful for students.

Please answer for your English, Math, Science, and Social Studies/History classes."

- 8. What is the name of our strategy for remembering to use accommodations?
- 9. What does it mean to be strategic in using your accommodations?
- 10. Describe each step in the student self-accommodation strategy.
- 14. When can you use the student self-accommodation strategy?
- 15. Why should students use the self-accommodation strategy?

Metacognitive Think-Aloud

Speak the following to the student:

(probe: how would you do that?, or tell me more? as needed)

Let's say an accommodation you are supposed to get is to use a tablet to record lectures or discussions because it is difficult to keep accurate and complete notes when listening for more than 10 minutes and you are in a class where those sometimes last as long as 15 – 20 minutes.

16. Explain to me how you would use the student self-accommodation strategy for that accommodation.

17. How could you figure out when you get to class whether you will need your tablet today?

18. Let's say you brought your tablet in your book bag in case you are going to need it at some point in class, what should you do with it when you arrive to class?

19. If all the teacher says at the start of class is "after attendance we are going to talk about what we discussed yesterday," how could you determine if you need to use your tablet or not? Remember: you can take notes for up to 10 minutes but need your tablet for longer periods of times.

20. OK, for any activity you are doing in class, how would you decide whether you need to use your tablet? Remember: you can take notes for up to 10 minutes but need your tablet for longer periods of times.

21A. What if you forget to bring your tablet and the teacher says most of the period will be lecture-based?

(prompt: if student says something like "the teacher could have us work in groups instead" say, "good idea, but tell me how you would do the SSA in this situation") (prompt: if the student says "then I would have to use my tablet because that is longer than 10 minutes" say "OK, but explain to me what you would do after the teacher says that")

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

22A. What if your teacher says you don't need your accommodation today but then she talks about an important topic for longer than 10 minutes?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

23A. What if you have a sub who says "your teacher recorded a lecture for you, and everyone is required to take notes for the entire period."

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

24A. What if you are using your tablet but it stops recording after 1 minute?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

25. What will you think about at the end of class regarding whether you need to use your tablet in this class in the future?

Tell me how you have used the self-accommodation strategy recently for one of your classes.

What is hard about using the SSA?

What is easy about using the SSA?

Directions: Circle your answer.

... in Math & Science classes?

11. How responsible are you for using your accommodations...

Ι I Ι Sometimes Never Often Always am responsible take take am responsibility responsibility responsible for using it

... in English & History class?

I	Ι	I	I
Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
take	take	am	am responsible
responsibility	responsibility	responsible	for using it

12. How helpful is our strategy for you taking responsibility for your accommodations?

Ι	I	I	
Not	А	Usually	Very
at all	little	helpful	helpful
helpful	helpful		

13. How well can you perform our strategy today?

	l		I
Can't	Can	Can	Can
perform	perform	perform	perform
at all	but poorly	fairly well	extremely well

Appendix I

Week 2 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview

Name: _____ Date: _____

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Interview

Directions: Answer all questions from memory or with your opinion -do not look up any answers.

1. What is an accommodation?

Please write a <u>definition</u>, don't just give an example.

2. Why do students get accommodations?

3. What students can get an accommodation?

4A. Please list:

Accommodations I am supposed to receive.

In which classes?

4B. Please list:

Any other accommodations I sometimes receive. In which classes?

5. Why do you get your accommodations?

(This question is about just you.)

6. Explain how you feel about having accommodations in your classes.

Hint: Do you like having them? Do they help you? What's it like to get them?

7. How often do you get accommodations in...

...your English & History classes:

...your Math & Science classes:

Check only one:	Check only one:	
 regularly, almost every day 	 regularly, almost every day 	
o often, maybe once or twice a week	 often, maybe once or twice a week 	
o sometimes, once a week or less	 sometimes, once a week or less 	
\circ rarely, I get them sometimes, but	 rarely, I get them sometimes, but 	
most days I don't	most days I don't	
o never	o never	

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Usage Survey

I'm going to ask you some questions about our self-accommodation strategy and accommodations. You might remember being asked these questions before. We just want to find out how you think about using the SSA in your classes. You are being very helpful to us learning about whether or not the strategy will be useful for students.

Please answer for your English, Math, Science, and Social Studies/History classes."

- 8. What is the name of our strategy for remembering to use accommodations?
- 9. What does it mean to be strategic in using your accommodations?
- 10. Describe each step in the student self-accommodation strategy.
- 14. When can you use the student self-accommodation strategy?
- 15. Why should students use the self-accommodation strategy?

Metacognitive Think-Aloud

Speak the following to the student:

(probe: how would you do that?, or tell me more? as needed)

Let's say an accommodation you are supposed to get is to use a camera to take pictures of notes or work on the whiteboard so that they can be magnified or typed for you later.

16. Explain to me how you would use the student self-accommodation strategy for that accommodation.

17. How could you figure out when you get to class whether you will need your camera today?

18. Let's say you brought your camera in your book bag in case you are going to need it at some point in class, what should you do with it when you arrive to class?

19. If all the teacher says at the start of class is "after attendance we are going to learn some new vocabulary," how could you determine if you need to use your camera or not?

20. OK, for any activity you are doing in class, how would you decide whether you need to use your camera?

21A. What if you forget to bring your camera and the teacher says she will be working practice problems on the board?

(prompt: if student says something like "the teacher could have us work in groups instead" say, "good idea, but tell me how you would do the SSA in this situation") (Note: if the student has been assuming she/he has a camera not on a smartphone and answers "I would take out my smartphone and use that camera" consider that as using this accommodation)

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

22A. What if your teacher says you don't need your accommodation today but then draws diagrams on the whiteboard?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

23A. What if you have a sub who says "you have to copy the information on the board; you can't use your camera"?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

24A. What if you are using your camera but after the first picture, it gives you a warning that the storage is full (it can't save any more pictures)?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

25. What will you think about at the end of class regarding whether you need to use your camera in this class in the future?

Tell me how you have used the self-accommodation strategy recently for one of your classes.

What is hard about using the SSA?

What is easy about using the SSA?

Directions: Circle your answer.

11. How responsible are you for using your accommodations...

...in Math & Science classes?

I	I	I	I
Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
take	take	am	am responsible
responsibility	responsibility	responsible	for using it

... in English & History class?

1	I		<u> </u>
Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
take	take	am	am responsible
responsibility	responsibility	responsible	for using it
12. How helpful is our strategy for you taking responsibility for your accommodations?

Ι	I	I	
Not	А	Usually	Very
at all	little	helpful	helpful
helpful	helpful		

13. How well can you perform our strategy today?

	l		I
Can't	Can	Can	Can
perform	perform	perform	perform
at all	but poorly	fairly well	extremely well

Appendix J

Week 3 Accommodations Knowledge and Skills Interview

Name: _____ Date: _____

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Interview

Directions: Answer all questions from memory or with your opinion -do not look up any answers.

1. What is an accommodation?

Please write a <u>definition</u>, don't just give an example.

2. Why do students get accommodations?

3. What students can get an accommodation?

4A. Please list:

Accommodations I am supposed to receive.

In which classes?

4B. Please list:

Any other accommodations I sometimes receive. In which classes?

5. Why do you get your accommodations?

(This question is about just you.)

6. Explain how you feel about having accommodations in your classes.

Hint: Do you like having them? Do they help you? What's it like to get them?

7. How often do you get accommodations in...

...your English & History classes:

...your Math & Science classes:

Check only one:	Check only one:
 regularly, almost every day 	\circ regularly, almost every day
 often, maybe once or twice a week 	 often, maybe once or twice a week
o sometimes, once a week or less	 sometimes, once a week or less
 rarely, I get them sometimes, but 	 rarely, I get them sometimes, but
most days I don't	most days I don't
o never	o never

Accommodations Knowledge and Skill Usage Survey

I'm going to ask you some questions about our self-accommodation strategy and accommodations. You might remember being asked these questions before. We just want to find out how you think about using the SSA in your classes. You are being very helpful to us learning about whether or not the strategy will be useful for students.

Please answer for your English, Math, Science, and Social Studies/History class es."

- 8. What is the name of our strategy for remembering to use accommodations?
- 9. What does it mean to be strategic in using your accommodations?
- 10. Describe each step in the student self-accommodation strategy.
- 14. When can you use the student self-accommodation strategy?
- 15. Why should students use the self-accommodation strategy?

Metacognitive Think-Aloud

Speak the following to the student:

(probe: how would you do that?, or tell me more? as needed)

Let's say an accommodation you are supposed to get is to use a place marker when copying from a book to make copying more efficient.

16. Explain to me how you would use the student self-accommodation strategy for that accommodation.

17. How could you figure out when you get to class whether you will need your place marker today?

18. Let's say you brought your place marker in your book bag in case you are going to need it at some point in class, what should you do with it when you arrive to class?

19. If all the teacher says at the start of class is "after attendance you're going to need your textbook," how could you determine if you need to use your place marker or not? Remember: you use the place marker when copying

20. OK, for any assignment you are doing in class, how would you decide whether you need to use your place marker? Remember: you use the place marker for copying

21A. What if you forget to bring your place marker and the teacher says you will be copying definitions out of your book?

(prompt: if student says something like "the teacher could have us work in groups instead" say, "good idea, but tell me how you would do the SSA in this situation")

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

22A. What if your teacher says you don't need your accommodation today but then assigns an essay that required quotes from the book you are reading?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

23A. What if you have a sub who says "you can't use that place marker in your textbook because the book belongs to the school"?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

24A. What if you are using your place marker but it keeps sliding around on the page, making you lose your place?

B. after reply: OK, what's one other thing you could do?

25. What will you think about at the end of class regarding whether you need to use your place marker in this class in the future?

Tell me how you have used the self-accommodation strategy recently for one of your classes.

What is hard about using the SSA?

What is easy about using the SSA?

Directions: Circle your answer.

11. How responsible are you for using your accommodations...



... in Math & Science classes?

... in English & History class?

	I	I		
Never	Sometimes	Often	Always	
take	take	am	am responsible	
responsibility	responsibility	responsible	for using it	

12. How helpful is our strategy for you taking responsibility for your accommodations?

I	l	I	I
Not	А	Usually	Very
at all	little	helpful	helpful
helpful	helpful		

13. How well can you perform our strategy today?

I	I	I	I
Can't	Can	Can	Can
perform	perform	perform	perform
at all	but poorly	fairly well	extremely well

Appendix K

Junior Metacognitive Awareness Inventory

 Name:
 Grade level:

We are interested in how students learn in their classes. Please read the following sentences and circle the answer that relates to you and the way you are when you are doing school work or home work. Please answer as honestly as possible.

<u>Never(1)</u> <u>Seldom(2)</u> <u>Sometimes(3)</u> <u>Often(4)</u> <u>Always(5)</u>

1.	I know when I understand something.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	I can make myself learn when I need to.	1	2	3	4	5
3.	I try to use ways of studying that have worked for me before.	1	2	3	4	5
4.	I know what the teacher expects me to learn.	1	2	3	4	5
5.	I learn best when I already know something about the topic.	1	2	3	4	5
6.	I draw pictures or diagrams to help me understand while learning.	1	2	3	4	5
7.	When I am done with my schoolwork, I ask myself if I learned what	1	2	3	4	5
-	I wanted to learn.					
8.	I think of several ways to solve a problem and then choose the best	1	2	3	4	5
	one.					
9.	I think about what I need to learn before I start working.	1	2	3	4	5
10.	I ask myself how well I am doing while I am learning something	1	2	3	4	5
	new.					
11.	I really pay attention to important information.	1	2	3	4	5
12.	I learn more when I am interested in the topic.	1	2	3	4	5
13.	I use my learning strengths to make up for my weaknesses.	1	2	3	4	5
14.	I use different learning strategies depending on the task.	1	2	3	4	5
15.	I occasionally check to make sure I'll get my work done on time.	1	2	3	4	5
16.	I sometimes use learning strategies without thinking.	1	2	3	4	5
17.	I ask myself if there was an easier way to do things after I finish a	1	2	3	4	5
	task.					
18.	I decide what I need to get done before I start a task.	1	2	3	4	5

Appendix L

Accommodations Checklist Example

- 1. Check all of the accommodations you used today.
 - □ Braille
 - □ Braille notetaker
 - □ Screen reading software
 - □ Tactile graphics
 - □ Extra time
 - □ Talking calculator
 - □ Previewing
 - □ None
 - Other (please specify):

Appendix M

Accommodations Checklist with SSA Use Write-Up Example

- 1. Check all of the accommodations you used today.
 - □ Braille
 - □ Braille notetaker
 - □ Screen reading software
 - □ Tactile graphics
 - □ Extra time
 - □ Talking calculator
 - □ Previewing
 - □ None
 - □ Other (please specify):
- 2. Briefly describe one instance of using the SSA in a class this week.

Appendix N

Social Validity Survey

1. How easy was it to learn the self-accommodation strategy?

Ι	I	Ι	Ι	Ι	Ι	I
Very hard	Fairly hard	A little hard	Not easy, but not bard	A little easy	Fairly easy	Very easy

2. How helpful would the SSA be for students in special education?

Ι	I	I	I	I	I	Ι
Notat all	Not very	Just a little	Somewhat	Sometimes	Often	Very
helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful

3. How helpful would the SSA be for your classmates not in special education?

I		I	I	I		I
Notat all	Not very	Just a little	Somewhat	Sometimes	Often	Very
helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful	helpful

4. How often did you use the SSA in your classes?

Ι		l		I	I	I
Never	Rarely	Sometimes, but not very often	About ½ of the time	Fairly often	Most of the time	All of the time

Ι	Ι	I	I	Ι	Ι	Ι
Not at all	Very poorly	Fairly poorly	Kind of learned it	Fairly well	Very well	I fully learned it

5. How well did you learn the SSA?

6. How important is it for you to receive accommodations in your classes?

Ι	I	I	Ι	Ι	I	Ι
Never	Very	Fairly	Somewhat	Fairly	Very	Always
important	unimportant	unimportant	important	important	important	important

7. How much would using the SSA change how well you use accommodations in your classes?

I	I	I	I	Ι	l	Ι
Not at all	Hardly at all	Not very much	A little bit	Somewhat	Significantly	Radically

8. One suggestion I have to improve the student self-accommodation strategy:

Appendix O

Teacher Demographic Information Form

Name	:										
Age:	21-25	26-30	31-35	36-40	41-45	46-50	51-55				
Race/	Race/Ethnicity: Gender:										
Highe	Highest Degree Held in Education:										
Highe	st Degree H	eld Other Tl	nan Educatio	n (please inc	licate the are	ea):					
Areas	of Teaching	Licensure:									
Numb	Number of Years Teaching:										
Numb	Number of Years Teaching at Perkins School for the Blind:										

Please complete the following table for each course you teach in the current school year:

Course Taught	Total # of Blocks You Teach	# of Blocks You Co- Teach	Name of Co- Teacher(s)
e.g., American Lit	3	2	Edwards, Jones

Refere teaching	a at Darkins	didy	ou work	with	individuals	with	1/12	Voc	No
before teaching	g at Perkins	, uiu y	jou work	WILLI	muiviuuais	WILLI	VI	res	

If yes, in what	capacity?
-----------------	-----------

Number of Years Working in This Capacity:

Appendix P

Teacher Survey on Student Accommodation Practices

Dear_____,

Please answer the following questions regarding ______, a student in your _____ period class. Answer giving your overall impression of the student (i.e., don't focus on a single lesson).

Compared to other students in the same grade and class, **She/He**...

1. is learning

I		l	Ι		l	I	I	I
among	very		a little	about		a little	not very	among
the t	best	well	above a	vg.	average weakes	e bo st	elow avg.	well

2. is achieving (e.g., grades)

I		I	I		I	I	I	
among	very		a little	about	i	a little	not very	among
the b	best	well	above av	/g.	average weakes	e be t	elow avg.	well

3. actively participates

I	I	I	I	I	I	I
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

4. arrives at class prepared to participate and learn

I	I	I	I	I	I	I
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

5. knows what is expected of her/him in most class activities (e.g., how to participate, how to learn, what to produce)

I	I	I	I	I	I	Ι
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

6. is proficient in the range of skills required to participate in most class activities

I	l	Ι	I	I	I	I
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

7. struggles or is challenged by tasks/expectations

I	I	I				
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

8. when struggles or is challenged more than others, is aware of that

I	I	I	I	I	I	Ι
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

I	Ι	I	I	I	I	I
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

9. when struggles or is challenged more than others seeks assistance

10. when struggles or is challenged more than others attempts to meet the struggle/challenge her/himself

I	I	I	I	I	I	I
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never

11. enjoys the class

Ι	Ι	I	I	I	I	I
almost	often	a little	about	a little	seldom	almost
always		bit more	the same	bit less		never